
Cabinet  
 
Dear Member, 
 
You are invited to attend the meeting of the Cabinet to be held as follows for the 
transaction of the business indicated. 
David Wilcock 
Monitoring Officer  

 
The council is currently holding virtual meetings. This plays a part in helping us to 
maintain the safety of the public, staff and councillors. 
 
The City Mayor has asked that, as far as possible, there is still public involvement and 
input into the decision-making process. 
 
Therefore, should you wish to raise a question or comment on any of the items listed, 
which will be presented at the meeting on your behalf, you can do so in writing, by 
sending an email to the address at the bottom of this agenda. 
 
Please do this by 4.30pm on the day before the meeting is due to take place. 
 
Further information on the coronavirus and what it means for Salford can be found on 
the council website - https://www.salford.gov.uk/coronavirus 

 
DATE: Tuesday, 13 April 2021 
 
TIME:  10.00 am 
 
VENUE: Online Live Meeting (Microsoft Teams - audio only) via the link 
below 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

 ONLINE LIVE MEETING (MICROSOFT TEAMS - AUDIO ONLY) 
VIA THE LINK BELOW. 
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-
join/19%3ameeting_MGExZTM3NDQtYzI4NS00ZTU4LTg5MjQtMzhk
M2IzYmQyZThh%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%226
8c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-
3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22d7e0a353-9a97-4a8e-
952c-
f6451ae2de66%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&bty
pe=a&role=a 
 

 

1   Apologies for absence  
 

 

2   Declarations of interest  
 

 

3   Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 1 - 4) 

Public Document Pack

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MGExZTM3NDQtYzI4NS00ZTU4LTg5MjQtMzhkM2IzYmQyZThh%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22d7e0a353-9a97-4a8e-952c-f6451ae2de66%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MGExZTM3NDQtYzI4NS00ZTU4LTg5MjQtMzhkM2IzYmQyZThh%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22d7e0a353-9a97-4a8e-952c-f6451ae2de66%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MGExZTM3NDQtYzI4NS00ZTU4LTg5MjQtMzhkM2IzYmQyZThh%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22d7e0a353-9a97-4a8e-952c-f6451ae2de66%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MGExZTM3NDQtYzI4NS00ZTU4LTg5MjQtMzhkM2IzYmQyZThh%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22d7e0a353-9a97-4a8e-952c-f6451ae2de66%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MGExZTM3NDQtYzI4NS00ZTU4LTg5MjQtMzhkM2IzYmQyZThh%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22d7e0a353-9a97-4a8e-952c-f6451ae2de66%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MGExZTM3NDQtYzI4NS00ZTU4LTg5MjQtMzhkM2IzYmQyZThh%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22d7e0a353-9a97-4a8e-952c-f6451ae2de66%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MGExZTM3NDQtYzI4NS00ZTU4LTg5MjQtMzhkM2IzYmQyZThh%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22d7e0a353-9a97-4a8e-952c-f6451ae2de66%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MGExZTM3NDQtYzI4NS00ZTU4LTg5MjQtMzhkM2IzYmQyZThh%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%2268c00060-d80e-40a5-b83f-3b8a5bc570b5%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22d7e0a353-9a97-4a8e-952c-f6451ae2de66%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d&btype=a&role=a


 

 
Minutes of the meeting held on the 23rd March 2021. 
 

4   Review of the private rented sector specifically 3 and 4-person 
small houses in multiple occupation in Salford  
 
Report of the Lead Member for Housing 
 

(Pages 5 - 154) 

5   Any other urgent business  
 

 

 
Contact Officer: Liz wright, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel No: 0161 793 2811 
E-Mail: decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk 

mailto:decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk


1                                                                                                                                                     Cabinet minutes 23.03.21 
 

Cabinet  

Held on Tuesday 23rd March 2021 
(A Live Microsoft Teams meeting – audio only)   

Present 
Paul Dennett   City Mayor (in the Chair) 
Tracy Kelly    Statutory City Mayor 
John Merry CBE  Deputy City Mayor 

Lead Members: 

Paula Boshell Anti-Poverty, Neighbourhoods, Financial Inclusion and 
Equalities 

Bill Hinds                            Lead Member for Finance and Support Services 
David Lancaster, MBE       Environment and Community Safety 
Gina Reynolds                   Adult Services, Health and Wellbeing 

Executive Support Members (at the invitation of the City Mayor): 

Sharmina August                Equalities, Communities and Social Impact 
Barbara Bentham               Workforce and Industrial Relations 
Jim Cammell   Social Care and Mental Health 
Stephen Coen   Executive Support Member for Culture, Leisure and Sport 
Mike McCusker                   Planning, Housing and Sustainable Development 
John Walsh                         Education and Learning 

Officers: 

Dr Muna Abdel Aziz           Director of Public Health 
Sam Betts            Assistant Director Human Resources & OD 
Debbie Brown                    Strategic Director (Service Reform) 
Julie Craik   Principal Housing Officer  
Ben Dolan                      Strategic Director (Place) 
Joanne Hardman   Chief Finance Officer 
Andrew Leigh  Head of Housing and Strategy 
Shoaib Mohammad   Assistant Director Technical Services 
Paula Newall   School Organisation and Pupil Planning 
Peter Openshaw   Assistant Director Environment  and Community Safety 
Rob Owen   Head of Highways and Network Management 
Jacquie Russell   Assistant Director Strategy & Change 
James Shuttleworth   Head of Planning 
Tom Stannard                    Chief Executive 
Cathy Starbuck                  Assistant Director Education Work and Skill 
David Wilcock           Interim City Solicitor 
Liz Wright                          Democratic Service Officer 

1. Apologies for absence 
Apologies were received from Councillor Roger Jones, Charlotte Ramsden and 

Andrew Leigh. 

2. Declarations of interest 
Councillor Tracy Kelly and Councillor John Merry declared their positions on the  

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



2                                                                                                                                                     Cabinet minutes 23.03.21 
 

board of Derive Limited. 

3. Minutes of proceedings 
 Approval of the minutes was moved by Councillor Bill Hinds and seconded by 

Councillor John Walsh. 

Resolved: That, the minutes of the meeting held on 09.03.21 were approved as a 

correct record. 

4. New Housing Action Plan 
The Lead Member (LM) for Housing (Councillor Tracy Kelly) introduced the report 

and highlighted the following. 

 The new Housing Strategy was approved by the City Mayor in consultation with 
Cabinet in January 2020.  The plan was a working document and defined the 
main priorities and objectives for 2021/22. 

 Many milestones had already been achieved such as setting u the Derive 
housing company, which was providing affordable housing and supporting 
residents with ACM (Aluminium Composite Material) cladding and working 
closely with partners to provide housing solutions for the people of Salford. 

  

The Principal Housing Officer (Julie Craik) outlined the contents of the report and 

highlighted the following. 

 The plan was the annual strategy delivery plan so that strategy would be 
implemented effectively and so that outcomes and outputs could be monitored. 

 The plan was drafted in collaboration with key stakeholders following a review of 
last year’s plan. 

 The priorities in this year’s plan were highlighted from the Table in section 2.1 of 
the report.   

 

The City Mayor (CM) invited comments and questions from the members. 

 The LM for Finance and Support Services commented that they fully supported 
the plan and recognised the substantial amount of work that had gone into it.  
They were concerned about the number of people on the housing waiting lists 
and added that this could only be reduced by building homes and that everything 
was being den with the powers available to address this. 

 The LM for Children’s and Young people’s Services commented that it was 
important to see in the plan in light of the local context and that the plan 
addressed the CM’s priority to provide affordable housing and they supported the 
CM and Deputy CM’s aim to provide decent and affordable housing for in all of 
Salford. 

 The CM commented that some of the Government’s national arrangements 
following the Grenfell tragedy (including loan for remedial works and some works 
not being covered) did not go far enough to meet the needs of residents and 
commented that significantly more needed to be done and the local authority’s 
housing strategy would continue to prioritise fire safety work and building 
regulations and this would be in partnership with the GMCA work in this area.  
GM would be launching its Good Landlord Scheme in a few weeks and asked 
that the work being done in the city was fully integrated with that scheme. The 

Page 2



3                                                                                                                                                     Cabinet minutes 23.03.21 
 

CM highlighted the priority for building more affordable homes and the 
importance of the Housing Strategy and plan linking to the development of jobs 
and skills, to the city’s climate change priorities (net zero carbon homes from 
2028)and the building of an inclusive economy. 

 The CM thanked all the staff for all their work and commended the report and the 
plan as it delivered on implementing the strategy and the priorities for the city. 

 The LM for Housing paid tribute to all the staff for all their work and thanked the 
city’s housing partners for working with the city council to ensure all Salford 
residents had access to decent affordable homes.   
 

 The CM read out the recommendations of the report and the CM and Cabinet 
members voted to approve the recommendations. 
 

Resolved:   That, the City Mayor, in consultation with Cabinet: 
1. Approved the updated housing strategy action plan for 2021/22 
2. Noted progress made against the 2020/21 housing strategy action plan – 

Appendix A. 

5. Proposed expansion of Springwood Primary School 
The LM for Children’s and Young People’s Services (Councillor John Merry) 

introduced the report and highlighted the following. 

 Parents, carers and residents of Salford would welcome this expansion of the 
school as more places were being provided for children with complex health 
needs. 

 The school expansion would provide 60 extra, permanent school places. 

 The extra places were required due to increased demand for places and because 
of better diagnosis of children’s needs.   

 Places at the school would be determined by the individual children’s Education 
Health Care Plans (EHCP) and a EHCP would be required for a place at the 
school.  

 The funding for the expansion of the school had already been agreed by the 
Department of Education (DfE) and would be funded via the High Needs Block 
(HNB) of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  

 The LM for Children’s and Young People’s Services commended the report to the 
members. 

 

The CM invited questions and comments from the members.  There were no 

comments or questions at this time. 

The CM read out the recommendations from the report as follows: 

 The purpose of this report was to present to the City Mayor, in consultation 
with Cabinet, as the decision maker for school organisation, the 
implementation for the, publication, of the Statutory Notice for the proposed 
permanent expansion of Springwood Primary School, as of 1 September 
2021. 

 
Resolved:   That, the City Mayor, in consultation with Cabinet as the decision maker 

for school organisation, approved the implementation for the, publication, of the 

Page 3



4                                                                                                                                                     Cabinet minutes 23.03.21 
 

Statutory Notice for the proposed permanent expansion of Springwood Primary 

School, as of 1 September 2021.  

6. Any other business. 
There were no items of any other business raised. 

Page 4



 1 

Part 1: Open to the Public – Item No. 4 

 

 REPORT OF THE LEAD MEMBER FOR HOUSING 

 

                                       TO CABINET 

                                       13 April 2021 

 

TITLE: Additional licensing scheme for 3 and 4 person Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) across the city of Salford. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That the City Mayor in consultation with Cabinet 
1. Authorises the designation of an additional licensing scheme for 3 and 4 person 

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs), under Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004 
in Salford having regard to the evidence base contained within Annex 1, the 
consultation responses contained within Annex 2, the legislative requirements 
and non-statutory guidance. 
 

2. Authorises the proposed fee structure for the additional licensing scheme for 3 
and 4 person Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) as detailed in section 5 of 
this report;  

 
3. Authorises the proposed Licence Conditions for the additional licensing scheme 

for 3 and 4 person Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) as detailed in Annex 
3 attached to this report;  
 

4. Authorises officers to carry out all necessary actions to publicise the designation 
for additional licensing scheme for 3 and 4 person Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs) to comply with the requirements of the Housing Act 2004. 
 

5. Acknowledges that the scheme is self-funding and staffing resources to deliver 
the scheme will be approved under delegated powers by the Strategic Director. 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

This report seeks approval to designate an additional licensing scheme for 3 and 4 
person Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) in Salford. 
 
The main provisions of the Housing Act 2004 came into effect in April 2006, giving local 
authorities the power to introduce three different types of licensing, namely mandatory 
HMO licensing of larger HMOs, additional HMO licensing of smaller HMOs and 
selective licensing of all privately rented housing in specific areas. Local authorities 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



 2 

have the discretion to introduce additional HMO and selective licensing but only if they 
can satisfy certain qualifying criteria. 
 
Salford is now proposing the designation of an additional licensing scheme for 3 and 4 
person Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) across the City of Salford. An additional 
licensing scheme would operate together with the current mandatory scheme, which 
only licenses larger 5 or more person HMOs across the City and the current selective 
licence designations. 
 
In order to designate an additional licensing scheme, the Council must be satisfied that 
a significant proportion of 3 and 4 person HMOs across the City are being managed 
sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or to be likely to give rise, to one or more 
particular problems either for those occupying the HMOs or for members of the public. 
If it is satisfied, the Council must additionally be satisfied that (amongst other matters) 
no other effective course of action is available to it to tackle the problem.  
 
The evidence contained within this report highlights the particular problems that were 
found during inspections of 3 and 4 person HMOs and includes the failure of those 
landlords to understand or take relevant safety measures to protect tenants in the event 
of a fire.  A third of 3 and 4 person HMOs inspected failed to provide an adequate 
means of escape in event of fire endangering those tenants living within the HMO. 
 
There was little evidence of appropriate property maintenance programmes within 
these HMOs resulting in damp and cold homes with inadequate energy efficiency 
measures. There were poor arrangements for storing and disposing of domestic waste. 
Areas with high concentrations of HMOs show a relationship with domestic waste 
complaints and requests for street sweeping. 
 
As evidenced further in this report, Salford City Council is satisfied that a significant 
proportion of 3 and 4 person HMOs across the city are being managed sufficiently 
ineffectively as to give rise, or to be likely to give rise, to one or more particular 
problems either for those occupying the HMOs or for members of the public.  
 
A formal consultation has been completed as required by section 56 of the Housing 
Act 2004. This provided significant support for the implementation of an additional 
licensing scheme for 3 and 4 person Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) across 
the City of Salford. (Annex 2)  
 
This report seeks approval to commence the additional licensing scheme for 3 and 4 
person Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) in Salford under general consent 
powers given in the Housing Act 2004. 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

CITY MAYOR - BRIEFING NOTE – July 2019 - Citywide Additional Licensing of 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO)  
Housing Act 2004 
October 2020 - Review of the private rented sector specifically 3 and 4-person small 
Houses in Multiple Occupation in Salford. 
 

Page 6



 3 

 

KEY DECISION: YES  

 

DETAILS: 

 
1.0 Background 
 
1.1     The main provisions of the Housing Act 2004 came into effect in April 2006, 

giving local authorities the power to introduce three different types of licensing, 
namely mandatory HMO licensing of larger HMOs, additional HMO licensing of 
smaller HMOs and selective licensing of all privately rented housing in specific 
areas.    Local authorities have the discretion to introduce additional HMO and 
selective licensing but only if they can satisfy certain qualifying criteria. 

 
1.2  Salford City Council welcomed this legislation and commenced with citywide 

mandatory HMO licensing in April 2006.  HMOs which need to have a licence 
are those where there are five or more tenants, forming two or more households, 
which use shared facilities such as toilets, bathrooms, kitchens and so on. 

 
1.3  In February 2007, Salford became the first local authority to obtain approval 

from the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) to 
introduce a Selective Licensing Scheme in the Seedley and Langworthy 
Regeneration Area.  The scheme commenced on 25th May 2007 and lasted for 
five years.   

 
1.4 Following its success, the authority has declared a further six schemes in areas 

where it would be most beneficial and includes parts of Broughton, Eccles & 
Barton, and Irwell Riverside & Kersal. 

 
1.5 There are currently two designated selective licensing areas in parts of:  

Charlestown and Lower Kersal and Langworthy, Weaste and Seedley. 
 
1.6 With an ever-growing private rented sector, it’s important to ensure that this 

sector provides flexible, affordable and well managed homes. Salford’s housing 
data 2018, indicates that 72.4% of the housing stock is in the private sector.  

 
1.7 In 2019, the number of privately rented property was estimated at 27,231 

dwellings. Privately rented properties in Salford have grown from 11.2% of the 
total private sector stock in 2008 to 23% in 2019 and continues to grow1. 

 
1.8 The impact of this growth is exacerbated by the growth of smaller HMOS, 

particularly in areas of the city that have historically not seen properties used for 
multiple lets.  

 

                                            
1 Salford tenure - Dwelling Housing Stock 2008-19 

Page 7



 4 

1.9 In the previous selective licensing scheme in Langworthy, Weaste and Seedley, 
over a 5-year period we have seen a 410% increase in properties converted into 
HMOs and this appears to be continuing to grow. 

 
1.10 Similarly, in the Eccles selective licensing scheme since 2015, there has been 

a 460% increase in HMO’s, as well as 196% increase since 2016 in the 
Broughton Selective Licensing area.  

 
1.11 The Housing Act 2004 provides the Council with the power to introduce an 

Additional Licensing Scheme in its area. The power was intended to address 
the impact of poor-quality HMOs that fall outside of the mandatory licensing 
HMO definition and management issues and poor property conditions.  
 

1.12 A designation may apply to certain descriptions of HMOs or to all HMOs (other 
than those subject to mandatory licensing) in the designated area.  
 

1.13 Through the work of the private sector housing team, there is clear evidence 
that a significant number of these smaller HMO’s seriously fall short of the fire 
safety requirements, are overcrowded and lack suitable management 
arrangements.  

 
1.14 Smaller HMOs also give rise to problems to local communities, who will regularly 

complain about environmental issues, overcrowding and poor property 
condition. 

 
1.15 Over the last 12 months, 90% of the 3 & 4 bed HMOs that have been inspected 

have fallen below the required standard.  21 landlords have been issued with 
Civil Penalties for breaches of HMO management regulations.  This is despite, 
the authority providing clear and concise information about acceptable 
standards for HMO’s and offering an HMO advice service, however, an 
increasing number of landlords fail to have regard to these standards. 

 
1.16 Cabinet approved the decision to commence a formal consultation on proposals 

for an additional HMO licensing scheme for three and four person small HMO’s. 
The formal consultation ran for 12 weeks from 13th October 2020 and ended on 
the 5th January 2021. Details regarding the consultation are included in section 
4 of this report. 

 
 
1.16 The introduction of a citywide additional licensing scheme, will set out a clear 

set of conditions and expectations and it is believed would bring about 
consistency in the way HMO’s are managed and would directly tackle the 
problems such as  poor property management, poor property condition and 
overcrowding.  Further benefits would include a reduction in complaints and 
problems associated with HMO’s, protection of the health, safety and welfare of 
tenants, reduction in negative impacts from HMOs for the wider community and 
improved management and property condition within shared accommodation. 

 
1.17 Following the issue of a General Consent in April 2015 by the Secretary of State, 

Local Authorities in England do not have to seek approval for the introduction of 

Page 8



 5 

an Additional Licensing scheme provided all necessary conditions are complied 
with. 

 
2.0 Details  
 
2.1 A report was submitted to Cabinet in October 2020 that outlined details for the 

proposals to formally consult on Additional Licensing scheme for 3 and 4 person 
Houses in Multiple Occupation in Salford. The report was approved, and a 
formal consultation has been completed. 

 
3.0 Summary of evidence  
 
3.1 Section 56 of the Housing Act 2004 places requirements on Local Authorities 

when considering a designation for Additional Licensing of HMOs in that the 
Council must: 

 Consider that a significant proportion of the HMOs of that description in 
the area are being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or 
likely to give rise, to one or more problems whether for those occupying 
the HMOs or for members of the public; 

 Take reasonable steps to consult with persons who are likely to be 
affected and consider any representations made in accordance with the 
consultation; and 

 Have regard to any information regarding the extent to which any codes 
of practice approved under Section 233 have been complied with by 
persons managing HMOs in the area (these codes relate to University 
managed accommodation). 

 
3.2 Under section 57, the Act states:  
 

 The authority must ensure that any exercise of the power is consistent with the 
Council’s overall housing strategy; 
 

 The authority must also seek to adopt a co-ordinated approach in connection 
with dealing with homelessness, empty properties and antisocial behaviour 
affecting the private rented sector, both – as regards combining licensing under 
this Part with other courses of action available to them, and as regards 
combining such licensing with measures taken by other persons.  
 

 The authority must not make a particular designation under section 56 of the 
Act unless – they have considered whether there are any other courses of action 
available to them (whatever the nature) that might provide an effective method 
of dealing with the problem or problems in question, and they consider that 
making the designation will significantly assist them to deal with the problem or 
problems (whether or not they take any other course of action as well). 

 
3.3 Annex 1 of this report is the Consultation document and contains the evidence 

base in support of the proposals. The evidence has been reviewed against the 
requirements of the Housing Act and identifies the particular problems that are 
common in 3 and 4 person HMOs and that these are a result of the properties 
being ineffectively managed.  

Page 9



 6 

 
 
3.4 To summarise the evidence within the consultation document, the key findings 

include: 

 The data collected identifies that 72% of the 3- or 4-bedroom HMO 
inspected were a bedsit style, the highest risk style of let and 28% a shared 
house HMO.  

 

 100% of the 3- and 4 person HMOs contained one or more hazards, rated 
under the housing health and safety rating system, for tenants residing in 
the HMO. 

 

 The most prevalent hazard, found in 92% of the 3 and 4 person HMOs, 
related to inadequate safety measures within the property in the event of 
a fire.   

 

 All the properties that were found to be lacking in adequate safety measure 
relating to fire, were found to have further issues.  

 

 The data indicates an overall lack of maintenance and a failure of landlords 
to comply with HMO fire safety standards. It also indicates a lack of any 
regular inspection programme being undertaken by the landlords. 

 

 The second largest hazard found during analysis relates to ‘Damp and 
Mould Growth’. This hazard was found in over a third, 36%, of the 3- and 
4-bedroom HMOs inspected. This hazard category covers threats to health 
associated with dust mites and mould or fungal growth resulting from 
exposure to dampness and/or high humidity. 

 

 The third largest hazard found was ‘Excess Cold’. This hazard category 
relates to any defect causing a threat to health from sub-optimal indoor 
temperatures. Almost a third of all small HMOs inspected contained a 
defect in this category.  The largest proportion of defects came from 
properties suffering from either no whole-house heating whatsoever, or a 
lack of heating provided in shared facilities such as kitchens and 
bathrooms.  

 

 In the domestic hygiene, pests and refuse hazard category, the most 
prevalent issue found in the small HMOs was damage and general 
disrepair in shared kitchens at 70%. This included damage to kitchen tiling, 
poor sealant around kitchen sinks, and loose and worn worktops. 

 

 The data analysis also shows that of the small HMOs inspected, nearly a 
quarter were found to be overcrowded.  

 
 
3.5 Remedial Action taken includes: 

 Of the HMOs inspected, 8% required the local authority to take immediate 
action for the safety of the tenants.  This resulted in the occupants being 
removed for their own safety until the remedial works were completed.  

Page 10



 7 

 

 The Housing Act 2004 provides local authorities with a discretionary power 
to take action where category 2 hazards are found. In line with the 
Council’s Enforcement Policy, this option is taken when informal action has 
been unsuccessful, or where a landlord fails to engage or refuses to 
remove hazards. 

 

 Of the HMOs inspected, 84% were non-compliant and benefited from 
improvements and removal of hazards, without the need for formal 
enforcement action. Officers were able to successfully engage with 
landlords and managing agents informally to encourage remedial work to 
take place.  

 
3.6 Action taken against breaches of management regulations includes 

 Of the small HMOs inspected during this period, 24% were found to have 
serious failings in management standards. Tenants were living in unsafe 
conditions, which could have placed them in harm.  
 

 Civil penalties to the value of £120,000 were issued in the most serious of 
cases, as the result of the 36 inspections undertaken on 3 and 4 person 
HMOs.     

 
Examples of poor management practices within these properties, include:   

 
- A property manager failed to notice during his routine inspection of 

the property, that the stairs, which provide the fire escape route were 
damaged in various places and that sections of the carpet were loose 
and moved when walked upon.   

- A property manager failed to notice during his routine inspection that 
the self-closing devices to fire doors were not connected, 
furthermore, they also missed a broken electrical circuit on the 
landing (fire escape route)  

- A property manager failed to notice during their routine inspections 
the substantial accumulation of refuse in the rear garden 

- Failure of a landlord to take any action once Electricity Northwest had 
disconnected the electricity meter due to tampering 

- Lack of management arrangements to ensure that shared kitchens 
and bathrooms were kept clean   

 
4.0 Consultation  
 
4.1 The Housing Act 2004 section 56(5) stipulates that a statutory consultation 

process is required to support any proposal for an additional licensing scheme 
and that this must run for a minimum of 10 weeks.  

 
4.2 The team made the decision to extend the consultation period beyond the 

minimum 10 weeks. The consultation was open for 12 weeks from 13th October 
2020 and ended on the 5th January 2021. 

 

Page 11



 8 

4.3 The consultation invited the views of residents, businesses, landlords, 
managing and letting agents, professional bodies, tenants and any other 
stakeholders that might be affected by the proposals for an additional HMO 
licensing scheme. Views were sought on the proposed boundary of designation, 
licence conditions and the licence fee. 

 
4.2 The Council took steps to ensure that the consultation was widely publicised, 

using various channels of communication whilst adhering to the current COVID 
legislation and guidance. The consultation exercise involved the publication of 
a consultation document which provided a detailed explanation of the proposed 
designation and an online questionnaire. Hard copies of the documentation 
were made available on request.  The consultation questionnaire was provided 
online, however alternative methods for feedback were provided and the 
community were also able to feedback via email, telephone or post. Social 
media messages were used throughout this period to encourage interested 
parties to engage in the consultation process. 

 
4.3 The consultation process included the ability to view the consultation document 

and the evidence contained within it, to support the additional HMO licensing 
proposal. Furthermore, an online questionnaire was provided giving consultees 
the opportunity to provide individual feedback either via the survey, email or 
telephone on key areas of concern they have about small 3- and 4-bedroom 
HMO properties.  

 
4.4 During the consultation, responses to comments were provided to the 

individuals who requested them. A ‘frequently asked questions’ section was 
provided on the consultation website that was regularly updated. This 
encapsulated the queries received during the consultation process. 

 
5.0  Summary of results  
 
5.1 A total of 184 responses were received, the majority were via the online survey. 

Of those 184, 59% identified themselves as residents, 34% as either landlords 
or managing agents, 7% as ‘other’ (which includes professional bodies), and 
1% were unknown.  

 
5.2 In particular,  

 34% of landlords and managing agents who responded to the 
consultation agreed with the council’s proposal to introduce additional 
licensing scheme for 3 and 4 person Houses in Multiple Occupation 
(HMOs) and 81% of resident who responded also supported the council’s 
proposals. 

 76% agreed that there has been an increase in the number of 3 and 4-
person small HMO’s in Salford. 

 68% agreed that there is an issue with the management of houses in 
multiple occupation that are occupied by 3 or 4 persons from 2 or more 
households 

 67% of the online survey responses received agreed that the additional 
licensing scheme for 3 and 4 person HMO’s should apply to the whole of 
Salford. 

Page 12



 9 

 When asked about 3 and 4 person HMO’s; 
59% felt that the properties were poorly managed 
57% felt that the properties were in poor conditions 
61% felt that the properties are not routinely maintained 
52% felt that tenants were not vetted for the properties  
69% felt that the properties have waste management issues 

 40% of the online survey responses received felt that the base licence 
fee was too high, 31% felt it was about right, 24% felt it was too low and 
5% did not know. 
 

5.3  There were quite a few suggestions that ‘good landlords’ should be rewarded 
by a reduced fee. Our response to this is contained within our proposals for 
licence fee reduction, offering a reduced fee for landlords who are part of 
Salford’s accreditation scheme and for those landlords making early licence 
applications.  

 
5.4 There was a lot of comments regarding refuse issues and property management 

with suggestions as to how this should be managed. The team’s response to 
this is contained within the prescribed licence conditions, there has also been 
an amendment to the conditions to have the property inspected by the landlord 
or managing agent at least a minimum of once a year. 

 
 
5.5 A response was received from the National Residential Landlords Association 

NRLA, their main objections requested an extended deadline for the 
consultation following the recent government COVID 19 announcement, and 
comments relating to the proposed fee structure and financial impacts for 
landlords should the scheme be approved. 

 
With regards to the objections raised, the NRLA were advised that an extended 
consultation had been implemented due to COVID-19, the council were satisfied 
that the proposed fee structure is compliant with recent case law, which we 
cover later in this report, and that longer payment terms were being considered 
to assist landlords. 
 

 
5.4 A full summary of the results and feedback received can be found in annex 2. 
  
6.0  Proposals 
 
6.1 The proposals are to license all 3 and 4 person HMO’s across Salford. Statutory 

exemptions will apply as prescribed within the legislation, Schedule 14 of the 
Act. Furthermore, the proposals do not include the licensing of HMOs that fall 
under the definition under section 257 of the Act, a building converted in flats 
that don’t meet building regulations.  However, any such flat within the building 
that is multi occupied would require a licence under this scheme. In addition, 
any 3 or 4 person HMO, within a purpose-built flat situated in a block comprising 
three or more self-contained flats, where the person in control is signed up to a 
code of practice under section 233 are not included within the proposals.  

  

Page 13



 10 

6.2 Designation Area – views were sought during the consultation regarding the 
designation area and whether it should be citywide or not. There was significant 
support for the designation to cover the whole of Salford, with two thirds 
agreeing the scheme should be citywide. Suggestions were made that the 
favourable areas for designation should include Barton, Broughton and Eccles. 
After full consideration of the responses we do not propose making any changes 
to the scheme designation area. 

 
6.3 Licence fee & licence fee reduction 

Salford has always sought to set fees at a level that would make schemes self-
funding.  Recent case law (Hemming v Westminster) clearly states that the fee 
should only cover the cost of administrating and monitoring a Licensing 
designation. We have drawn on experience of operating a mandatory HMO 
licensing scheme and other selective licensing schemes, to propose a fee at a 
level that makes the scheme self-financing.  
 
Furthermore, in line with the recent court ruling (Gaskin) we have calculated a 
fee that is proportionate for the area to which they apply and that it is applied 
into 2 parts; Part one, application fee - covers the costs of administering the 
application process; Part two, granting the licence fee, covers the costs of 
running the HMO scheme itself and is only payable if the licence is issued. 
 
Included within the application fee, is the cost of the mandatory property 
inspection. The base fee we propose is £1,085 with the application fee being 
£890 and the granting of the licence fee being £195. 
 
We have fully considered the concerns of landlords and managing agents 
regarding the impacts of the proposed fee and we are proposing to offer 
additional flexible payment terms to minimise the financial burden on landlords.  
Their concerns included the fee being too high and the impact of this being 
passed to the tenants.  
 
Should a landlord pass the cost to a tenant, we have calculated the cost based 
on the first application, which would cost the landlord an additional £4.17 per 
week, over a 5 year period. If split between four tenants equates to 
approximately £1.04 each per week. 
 
Other concerns raised in relation to the fee, list the scheme being a ‘money 
making scheme’ for the city council were noted. The team have been clear in 
their response to this. The cost is based upon the projected cost of delivering 
the scheme for its full five-year duration. Furthermore, we are providing a 
reduction in the fee for accredited landlords and early licence applications to 
reflect the reduced cost incurred by the Council when processing these 
applications.  
 
In response to a mix of comments about the potential financial burden of the 
licence fee to landlords, new and more generous terms of 36 monthly direct 
debit payments are being considered and if approved, will remain under review 
throughout the duration of the scheme. 
 

Page 14



 11 

The proposed licence fee structure is detailed below. 
 

 Part 1 
application 
fee 

Part 2 
granting 
of the 
licence 
fee 

TOTAL 
Fee 

 
Mandatory HMO new applications (base 
fee)                                                                          

 
£890 

 
£195 

 
£1085 

 
Mandatory HMO subsequent applications                                                                      

 
£863 

 
£189 

 
£1052.45 

 
Early application made within 1st 3 
months of scheme 

 
£837 

 
£158 

 
£995 

  
Early subsequent application made 
within 1st 3 months of scheme 

 
£808 

 
£154 

 
£962 

 
Accredited landlord new application 
made within 1st 3 months of scheme 

 
£810 

 
£158 

 
£968 

 
Accredited landlord subsequent 
application made within 1st 3 months of 
scheme 

 
£785 

 
£150 

 
£935 

 
 
Proposed payment options include- 

 Pay in full up front 

 25% up front and 23 monthly direct debit payments 

 50% up front and 11 monthly direct debit payments 

 36 monthly direct debit payments 
 
6.4 Application Process 

The application process consists of a 3-part online application, with parts 1 and 
2 ensuring the licence holder and property manager pass the “fit and proper” 
test and that there are satisfactory management arrangements in place. 
 
Landlords will have to show that they and their managing agents are “fit and 
proper” persons as well as providing information on how they manage their 
properties. This includes the submission of a recent DBS.  It is worth noting that 
the Licence Holder and Property Manager can be same person.  
 
When deciding whether a landlord/managing agent is “fit and proper” we will 
look at whether they have:  
a) Committed any serious criminal offences (fraud, violence, drugs or sexual 
offences);  
b) Discriminated illegally against anyone;  
c) Breached laws that relate to renting property.  
 

Page 15



 12 

A check will also be completed to ensure that any licence holder or managing 
agent does not appear on the Rogue Landlords database.   

   
Part 3 of the application process, the property section, requires the landlord to 
provide full details regarding the property as well as the provision of safety 
certificates such as fire alarm test certificate, safety certificate, Electrical 
Installation Condition report and the fire risk assessment. This is to confirm the 
testing of appliances and installations have been completed by registered 
engineers ensuring that they are in a satisfactory condition. Other documents 
required include copies of the tenancy agreements and floor plans of the 
property.  

 
An application will only be deemed valid once all this information is provided and 
the Application fee has been received or payment arrangements agreed.  
 
Following this the grant fee will become due and the licence will be granted once 
a satisfactory inspection has been completed. 

 
7.0  Licence conditions 
 
 Once a licence is issued, licence holders are legally bound by the licence 

conditions which ensure effective property management.  
 

The Landlord Licensing Team also has the power to revoke licences in 
circumstances where landlords have breached the conditions of their licence.  
 
Ensuring compliance with the licence conditions is a key aspect in improving 
and maintaining the high standards expected within the private rented sector in 
the area. 
 
Consultation feedback regarding waste issues and anti-social behaviour being 
a problem and not being enforced is covered in our proposed conditions. 
However, we have taken on board the suggestion to include a condition 
requiring the landlord or managing agent to regularly inspect their property on a 
minimum of once a year during the licence. 
 
Colleagues across the council, such as Environmental Services have had the 
opportunity to review the conditions and offer any suggested wording for 
conditions.    
 
Salford has a comprehensive set of licence conditions following 14 years of 
running mandatory HMO licensing. These conditions are relevant and apply to 
small 3 and 4 person HMO’s. 
 
The licensing team propose to add 44 discretionary conditions which can be 
found in annex 3. 

 
  

Page 16



 13 

8.0 Conclusion 
 
8.1 The consultation has resulted in overwhelming support for the proposed 

citywide additional HMO licensing scheme for 3 and 4 person HMO’s, with 66% 
in agreement.  

 
8.2 Salford has carefully considered the consultation feedback as detailed within 

this report and to summarise, changes have been made to our proposals and 
include 
 

 Reduced fees for accredited landlords  

 Reduced fees for early licence applications 

 Longer flexible payment terms 

 Amended licence condition  
 

There were quite a few suggestions that ‘good landlords’ should be rewarded 
by a reduced fee. Our response to this is contained within our proposals for 
licence fee reduction, offering a reduced fee for landlords who are part of 
Salford’s accreditation scheme and for those landlords making early licence 
applications. 
 
We have fully considered the concerns of landlords and managing agents 
regarding the impacts of the proposed fee and we are proposing to offer 
additional flexible payment terms to minimise the financial burden on landlords.  
 
There was a lot of comments regarding refuse issues and property management 
with suggestions as to how this should be managed. The team’s response to 
this is contained within the prescribed licence conditions, there has also been 
an amendment to the conditions to have the property inspected by the landlord 
or managing agent at least a minimum of once a year. 

 
 
8.3 Having given due regard to the responses received in the formal consultation 

on the proposal to introduce an additional licensing scheme for 3 and 4 person 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and the evidence collated, officers are 
satisfied that a significant proportion of 3 and 4 person HMOs across the city 
are being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or to be likely to give 
rise, to one or more particular problems either for those occupying the HMOs or 
for members of the public.  

 
8.4 Officers have considered whether there are any other courses of action 

available to them (whatever the nature) that might provide an effective method 
of dealing with the problem or problems in question, and they are satisfied that 
making the designation will significantly assist them to deal with the problem or 
problems (whether or not they take any other course of action as well). 
Officers are also satisfied that designating an additional HMO licensing scheme 
for 3 and 4 person HMO’s will significantly assist the Council in achieving the 
objectives of the scheme as laid out in Annex 1.  

 

Page 17



 14 

8.5 Officers are satisfied that the proposed additional HMO licensing scheme is 
consistent with the Council’s overall housing strategy; and adopts a co-
ordinated approach in connection with dealing with homelessness, empty 
properties and antisocial behaviour affecting the private rented sector, both – as 
regards combining licensing under this Part with other courses of action 
available to them, and as regards combining such licensing with measures 
taken by other persons.  

 
8.6 The progress, which has already been made by the Licensing Team, has been 

recognised nationally for innovation and has been highlighted by the Audit 
Commission as an example of best practice in this field. 

 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Sustainable Community Strategy, Housing Strategy, 
Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership. 

 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: A Community Impact 
Assessment has been completed for this proposal which has been reviewed by the 
Equalities team and will be published online. ANNEX 4. 

The impact of the scheme has been fully considered and through the formal 
consultation, it found no disproportionate impact on anyone in respect of their protected 
characteristics. The scheme will have a positive impact on residents in the proposed 
area.   

All landlords’ needs are fully considered during the Landlord Licensing process. 
Landlords are provided with the opportunity to have an appointment with an officer 
from the Landlord Licensing Team to obtain assistance and advice in completing their 
licence application forms.  All landlords are provided with details of how to obtain 
licensing documentation in a language which they understand. Where appropriate, an 
Officer from the Licensing Team can attend a home/office visit. 

 

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: The risk is considered low. 

The Council believes it has made a robust case for the designation of an Additional 
HMO Licensing Scheme.  The consultation shows that there is support for the scheme 
amongst local residents; and some local landlords. 

 The majority of landlords and agents who responded to the consultation did not 
support the proposal.  

Any decision that the City Council makes with regards to this proposal could be subject 
to legal challenge. 

 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by Melinda Edwards, Principal Solicitor  

Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004 makes provision for the designation of areas subject to  
additional licensing.  
 

Page 18



 15 

In that regard, a local housing authority may designate either– 
 

(a)  the area of their district, or 
(b)  an area in their district, 

  
as subject to additional licensing in relation to a description of HMOs specified in the  
designation, if the requirements of section 56 are met. 
 
The authority must consider that a significant proportion of the HMOs of that description  
in the area are being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or to be likely to  
give rise, to one or more particular problems either for those occupying the HMOs or  
for members of the public. 
 
Before making a designation, the authority must– 
 
(a)  take reasonable steps to consult persons who are likely to be affected by the 

designation; and 
(b)  consider any representations made in accordance with the consultation and not 

withdrawn. 
 
The power to make a designation under this section may be exercised in such a way  
that this Part applies to all HMOs in the area in question. 
 
In forming an opinion as to the matter mentioned in subsection (2), the authority must 
have regard to any information regarding the extent to which any codes of practice  
approved under section 233 have been complied with by persons managing HMOs in  
the area in question. 
 
Section 57 of the Housing Act 2004 also applies in respect of additional licensing  
schemes. In that regard, the authority must ensure that any exercise of the power is 
consistent with the authority's overall housing strategy. 
 
The authority must also seek to adopt a co-ordinated approach in connection with 
dealing with homelessness, empty properties and anti-social behaviour affecting the 
private rented sector, both– 
 

(a)  as regards combining licensing under this Part with other courses of action 
available to them, and 
(b)  as regards combining such licensing with measures taken by other persons. 

 
The authority must not make a particular designation under section 56 of the Act 
unless– 
 

(a)  they have considered whether there are any other courses of action 
available to them (of whatever nature) that might provide an effective method of 
dealing with the problem or problems in question, and 
(b)  they consider that making the designation will significantly assist them to 
deal with the problem or problems (whether they take any other course of action 
as well). 

 

Page 19

https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I44E6B600E45311DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.DocLink)
https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I449317C0E45311DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.DocLink)


 16 

The report updates decision makers regarding the outcome of the recent consultation 
exercise undertaken under section 56 of the Housing Act 2004 and makes a number 
of recommendations accordingly.   
 
When exercising public functions, the Council must ensure that it complies with the 
public sector equality duty as set out in section 149 of the Equality Act 2010. In that 
regard, an impact assessment measures and records compliance with this duty.  

 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by Alison Smith, Finance Officer, tel. 925 1135 

Landlord Licensing is a self-financing scheme over its five-year life. If implemented in 
this area the costs for running the scheme will be recovered through revenue acquired 
from the licence fee chargeable to landlords.   

 

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS  

Procurement associated with the delivery of this scheme will be funded from the licence 
fee income.   

 

HR IMPLICATIONS  

The report refers to potential workforce implication if this was to be approved. The full 
staffing implications will be considered once approval for the scheme has been 
granted. 

 
The positions that would be required to operate the scheme already exist on the 
structure therefore,  approval for additional posts can be approved under delegated 
powers by the Strategic Director. 
 
The appointment to the positions would be made in line with Salford City Council’s 
recruitment policy and would be subject to formal approval through the filling of 
vacant posts process. 

 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS  

As of 1 April 2018 there is a requirement for any properties rented out in the private 
rented sector to have a minimum energy performance rating of E on an Energy 
Performance Certificate (EPC). The regulations came into force initially for new lets 
and renewals, but extended to existing tenancies on 1 April 2020. 
 
As of now it is unlawful to rent a property which breaches the requirement to have at 
least an E rating, unless there is an applicable exemption. 
 
The proposed additional licensing scheme aims to improve property conditions, which 
could include excess cold and damp. Improving conditions such as this will support 
energy efficiency. 

Page 20



 17 

 

 

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: Services consulted include: 

Neighbourhood Management, Community, Health and Social Care Directorate 

Council Tax department, Customer and Support Services 

Strategy and Enabling, Housing and Environment Directorate 

 

CONTACT OFFICER: Anne Arcus / Sarah Hughes TEL NO: 2249 / 3087 

 

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: Citywide 

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Consultation 
 

Proposal to designate a 
citywide Additional Licensing 

scheme for 3 and 4 person 
Houses in Multiple Occupation 

in Salford 
 

June 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 23



2 

 

Contents 
 

 Page 

Part 1   Executive Summary 4 
    
Part 2  HMOs and legislation  6 
    
Part 3  HMO’s in Salford  9 
    
Part 4  Criteria for an additional licensing designation 15 
    
Part 5  The proposed additional licensing scheme 17 
    
Part 6  The case/evidence for the additional licensing scheme 18 
  Housing Health and Safety Rating System 19 
  Service requests received by the Private Sector Housing 20 
   Property Condition 20 

   Analysis of HMO inspected data 21 

  - Inspections 21 
  - Style of let 22 
  - Hazards identified 22 
   Fire safety 24 
   Damp & mould growth 26 
   Excess cold 27 
   Domestic hygiene, pests & refuse 28 
   Falling on stairs 29 
   Other problems 30 
  - Remedial action 30 
  - Management regulations in respect of HMO’s 31 
  - Over crowding 31 
   Conclusion of data 32 

   Case Studies 32 

   Fuel Poverty 38 

   Community feedback – impacts of HMO’s  41 

    
Part 7  Benefits of additional HMO licensing 44 
    
Part 8  Other courses of action 49 
    
Part 9  Additional licensing and the council’s overall approach to housing 51 
    
Part 10  Proposed Licence Conditions 57 
    
Part 11  Proposed Fee’s 57 
    
Part 12  How is consultation carried out? 58 
    
    
    
    
 
 

   

    
    
    
    
   

 
 

 

    

Page 24



3 

 

Contents 
 

Graphs, Charts, Tables, maps and annexes Page 

Graphs    
Part 3 3.1 Distribution of Mandatory HMOs across the City 10 
Part 6 6.1 Percentage of private rented properties that are let in multi occupation in 

Salford by Ward 
18 

 6.2 Number of category 1 hazards found in Salford 19 
 6.7 Percentage of hazards found at inspection 23 
    
Maps    
Part 3 3.2 Location of mandatory HMO’s in Salford 10 
 3.4 All licensed HMO’s (mandatory and selective) across the City  11 
Part 6 6.15 The estimated percentage of households which are fuel poor in 2016 

showing areas of concentration 
40 

 6.16 All licensed HMO’s (mandatory and selective) in Salford showing areas of 
concentration 

40 

 6.18 Location of licensed HMO’s (mandatory and selective) and fly 
tipping/littering reports across Salford 

44 

    
Charts    
Part 6 6.4 Method of referral for inspection 21 
 6.5 Style of let in a 3- or 4-bedroom HMO 22 
 6.8 Percentage mix of category 1 and 2 hazards 24 
 6.11 Percentage and type of damp defects 27 
 6.12 Percentage and type of excess cold defects 28 
 6.13 Percentage and type of domestic hygiene defects 29 
 6.14 Percentage and type of falling on stairs defects 29 
    
Tables    
Part 3 3.3 Number of small HMO’s with a selective licence 11 
 3.5 Number of rooms available in shared houses 12 
Part 6 6.3 Number of service user requests relating to HMO’s 20 
 6.6 Percentage of hazards found at inspections 23 
 6.9 Fire safety defects and percentage of HMO’s they were found in 25 
 6.10 Type of defects to fire alarm systems 26 
 6.17 Fly tipping/dumping of rubbish numbers and percentages reported 43 
    
Annex 1  Proposed Licence Conditions  
    
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



4 

 

Part 1 Executive Summary  

 
Salford City Council is considering proposing the introduction of an additional licensing scheme 
for 3 and 4 person Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO’s) across the city of Salford. An additional 
licensing scheme would operate together with the current mandatory scheme, which only licenses 
larger 5 or more person HMOs across the City and the current selective licence designations. 
  
A house in multiple occupation is a property occupied by more than one household and more 
than two people, and may include bedsits, shared houses and some self-contained flats. The 
additional licensing scheme would licence ‘small 3 and 4 person HMO’s’ and is defined as a 
property occupied by more than one household and more than two people but less than 5 people, 
and may include bedsits, shared houses and some self-contained flats. 
 
This report provides the evidence to justify the need to implement a citywide additional licensing 
scheme for small 3 and 4 person Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs). The Council considers 
that to continue to make improvements in the HMO sector as well as maintain those already 
achieved, an Additional Licensing designation is required across Salford and that this, along with 
Mandatory and Selective Schemes will provide a consistent and robust approach to improving 
the private rented sector overall.  
 
In order to justify having an additional licensing scheme, the Council must be satisfied that a 
significant proportion of 3 and 4 person HMOs across the city are being managed sufficiently 
ineffectively as to give rise, or to be likely to give rise, to one or more particular problems either 
for those occupying the HMOs or for members of the public. In forming this opinion the Council 
must have regard to any information regarding the extent to which any codes of practice approved 
under section 233 of the Housing Act 2004 have been complied with by persons managing HMOs 
in the area in question. 
 
The Council must also ensure that any exercise of the power is consistent with the Council’s 
overall housing strategy. Further, the Council must also seek to adopt a co-ordinated approach 
in connection with dealing with homelessness, empty properties and anti-social behaviour 
affecting the private rented sector, both– 
 

(a)  as regards combining licensing under Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004 with other 
courses of action available to them, and 
(b)  as regards combining such licensing with measures taken by other persons. 
 

The Council must not make an additional licensing designation unless– 
 

(a)  they have considered whether there are any other courses of action available to them 
(of whatever nature) that might provide an effective method of dealing with the problem or 
problems in question, and 
(b)  they consider that making the designation will significantly assist them to deal with the 
problem or problems (whether or not they take any other course of action as well). 

 
Finally, before making a designation the Council must take reasonable steps to consult persons 
who are likely to be affected by the designation; and consider any representations made in 
accordance with the consultation and not withdrawn. 
 
The evidence contained within this report will show that the particular problems that are common 
in 3 and 4 person HMOs include the failure of the majority of landlords to understand or take 
relevant safety measures to protect tenants in the event of a fire.  A third of 3 and 4 person HMOs 

Page 26

https://uk.practicallaw.thomsonreuters.com/Document/I44E6B600E45311DA8D70A0E70A78ED65/View/FullText.html?originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)


5 

 

inspected failed to provide an adequate means of escape for the tenants living within the HMO. 
In addition, a significant number of landlords lacked appropriate property maintenance 
programmes resulting in damp and cold homes with inadequate energy efficiency measures and 
poor arrangements for the storing and disposal of domestic waste. Areas with high concentrations 
of 3 and 4 person HMOs show a relationship with domestic waste complaints and requests for 
street sweeping. 
 
Salford City Council is satisfied that a significant proportion of 3 and 4 person HMOs across the 
city are being managed ineffectively, as evidenced further in this report and that this is resulting 
in occupiers and members of the public experiencing problems.  
 
Private Rented Sector 
 
The private rented sector in Salford has seen considerable growth over the last decade. In 2011 
the privately rented sector was reported to be 19.5% and in 2016 23.6% (Salford Private Sector 
Housing Condition Report 2016). Furthermore it was reported in 2016 that this tenure was above 
the national average stated in the English Housing Stock figure of 19.6%. 
 
Over recent years, the city has continued to see a rapidly growing private rented sector.  Privately 
rented properties are important because they can provide people with flexible, affordable and 
good quality homes. However, the rapid growth of this sector has also created problems in the 
city relating to rising levels of anti-social behaviour, such as fly-tipping, rubbish in front gardens, 
and excessive noise. Similarly, poor housing conditions, including overcrowding, are 
disproportionally linked to privately rented accommodation.  
 
With an ever-growing private rented sector, it’s important to ensure that this sector provides 
flexible, affordable and well managed homes. Salford’s total housing stock stands at 118,528 with 
73.4% of it being private sector stock (inc.private rented sector stock)1.As of 2019 private sector 
housing in Salford has increased by 21.2% since 2008. 
 
Latest figures for the number of privately rented property is estimated in 2019 at 27,231 dwellings. 
Privately rented properties within the private sector in Salford has grown from 11.2% of the total 
private sector stock in 2008 to 23% in 2019 and continues to grow2.  
 
 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 
 
Houses in multiple occupation (HMOs) can be defined in several different ways, but broadly 
speaking they are considered to be properties occupied by unrelated individuals who share basic 
amenities such as a kitchen or bathroom. The traditional source of HMOs tends to be larger, older 
family houses. 
 
Under the Housing Act 2004, HMOs are properties occupied by more than one household and 
more than two people, and may include bedsits, shared houses and some self-contained flats. 
Certain HMOs are exempt from licensing under Schedule 14 of the Housing Act 2004,  such as 
those managed by local authorities, registered providers and educational establishments. 
Currently, all HMOs with 5 or more tenants must be licensed as well as any HMO which falls in 
an area designated for Selective Licensing.  
 

                                                 
1 Salford’s housing strategy Our home, our city 2020 to 2025 
2 Salford tenure - Dwelling Housing Stock 2008-19 

Page 27



6 

 

HMOs make an important contribution to the housing supply, generally providing low-cost private 
sector accommodation for those on low incomes, students, and those seeking temporary 
accommodation. They are normally located in areas with good access to public transport (in 
particular bus routes) and local services. These type of tenants are likely to need strong and 
effective property management arrangements in order to support them in being good tenants as 
they may have less experience in running a home and  less awareness of the impact of poor 
housing conditions and how their actions can impact on the local community. HMOs are often, 
therefore, lived in by the people who will benefit most from an effective good property 
management service provided by their landlords. The Council acknowledges that there are some 
excellent HMO landlords operating across the city who provide very good quality homes and treat 
their tenants and the communities where they own properties with respect and professionalism. 
   
However, high concentrations of HMOs can sometimes have a detrimental impact on local 
housing areas. For example, they can involve a more intense use of dwellings that may increase 
noise pollution or car parking demands, they can increase pressures on local services, and they 
can impact on social cohesion given that they often have a higher turnover of residents and 
therefore a more transient population. 
 
There is concern regarding the poor conditions in the private rented sector which persist in certain 
HMOs, with the most common hazards identified in HMOs including increased fire safety risks, 
damp homes with inadequate energy efficiency measures and the risk of falling on stairs. The 
Council believes that regulation through an additional HMO licensing scheme is required 
alongside other initiatives to deliver the improvements that are required. 
 
The introduction of a citywide additional HMO Licensing scheme will provide a consistent and 
robust approach to improving the private rented sector overall.  
 
Salford City Council is committed to achieving improved and consistent safety and management 
standards in HMOs across the city by ensuring all licensable HMO’s are inspected, meet minimum 
safety requirements and that landlords are provided with licence conditions that will provide a 
benchmark for acceptable management arrangements.  
 
 

Part 2 HMOs and the legislation  

 
There are many pieces of complex legislation that affect HMO’s and the definition of an HMO can 
vary between them.  The legislation covers many aspects such as planning permission, property 
standards amenity standards, space standards, management arrangements and fire safety.  For 
the purpose of this consultation document we have only referred to three key pieces of legislation.   
 
Housing Act 2004 – Licensing of HMOs 
 
The Housing Act 2004 (‘the 2004 Act’) introduced three different types of licensing, namely 
mandatory HMO licensing of larger HMOs, additional HMO licensing of smaller HMOs and 
selective licensing of all privately rented housing in specific areas.    Local authorities have 
discretion to introduce additional HMO and selective licensing but only if they can satisfy certain 
qualifying criteria set out in the Act.  
 
Whilst mandatory and additional HMO licensing is aimed at raising management and amenity 
standards to ensure HMOs are being kept to the required standards, selective licensing only looks 
at raising management standards. 
 

Page 28



7 

 

 Mandatory HMOs 
 
Salford City Council welcomed this legislation and commenced with citywide mandatory HMO 
licensing in April 2006.  HMOs which need to have a licence are those where there are five or 
more tenants, forming two or more households, which use shared facilities such as toilets, 
bathrooms, kitchens and so on; and the property has three or more floors (this includes cellars, 
basements and loft conversions). 
 
In October 2018 there was change in the legislation which removed the storey from the mandatory 
HMO licensing. This now means that landlords who operate HMO’s with five or more occupants 
that form two or more households must have a mandatory HMO licence.  It was estimated by 
Government that this change in legislation would make around 174,000 additional HMOs 
(including flats in multiple occupation) subject to mandatory licensing.  
 
It is an offence for landlords not to licence any HMO which is required to be licensed, and landlords 
can be prosecuted or issued with a civil penalty of up to £30K, have control of their unlicensed 
properties taken away from them, and be liable to repay any rents paid by their tenants or the 
council. The local authority must ensure that satisfactory management arrangements are in place 
and that the property meets the required minimum standards for the number of tenants housed, 
before it issues a mandatory HMO licence. 
 
As of January 2020, there were 486 mandatory licensed HMO properties within the city, compared 
with 182 in September 2010. 
 

 Selective Licensing 
 
Selective Licensing is considered a valuable tool which allows the authority to introduce licensing 
to all privately rented property in selected areas, where the area is experiencing one or more of 
the following:  

 Low housing demand (or is likely to become such an area)  

 A significant and persistent problem caused by anti-social behaviour  

 Poor property conditions  

 High levels of migration  

 High levels of deprivation  

 High levels of crime  
 

Salford declared its first selective licensing scheme in May 2007 in the Langworthy area.  
Following its success, the council has declared a further six schemes in areas where it would be 
most beneficial and includes parts of Broughton, Eccles & Barton, and Irwell Riverside & Kersal. 
 
There are currently four designated selective licensing areas in parts of Broughton, Barton and 
Eccles, Charlestown and Lower Kersal and Langworthy, Weaste and Seedley 
 
Anyone who owns or manages a property which falls within a selective licensing area must apply 
to the council for a licence. The council will issue a licence if it is satisfied (amongst other things) 
that the proposed management standards are satisfactory. 
 
As of January 2020, there were 437 3 and 4 person small HMOs identified within our selective 
licensing areas. 
 
 
 

Page 29



8 

 

Planning Legislation and HMO’s  
 
Certain properties require planning permission when converting them into an HMO.  Planning 
permission defines HMO’s as “use classes”. 
 
You can perform certain types of work without needing to apply for planning permission. These 
are called "permitted development rights". In 2010, changes to the General Permitted 
Development Order (GPDO) introduced a new Use Class, C4 (small HMO), covering the following 
HMO’s 

 Small shared dwelling houses occupied by between 3 and 6 unrelated individuals, as their 
only or main residence, who share basic amenities such as a kitchen or bathroom  

 Small bedsits  
 

These HMO’s had previously been within Use Class C3 (dwelling houses). 
 
Planning permission is not currently required to convert a Use Class C3 into a Use Class C4. If 
you wish to change the use of a property to that a Use Class C3 dwelling house to house more 
than 6 people (what’s known as a large sui-generis HMO) this will require planning permission. 
 

 Article 4 direction 
 
A local planning authority can remove some of the permitted development rights by issuing an 
‘Article 4’ direction. This direction removes the general permitted rights which allows a Use Class 
C3 HMO to be converted into a Class 4 (small HMO).  Salford City Council, in response to the 
increasing number of complaints regarding HMOs, introduced an Article 4 direction to look at 
controlling the spread of HMOs within certain areas and came into force on 25 November 2018.  
 
This direction therefore requires approval for planning permission for the change of use of 
dwelling houses (Use class C3) to small HMOs (Use class C4). This applies in all of the Central 
Salford wards (Broughton, Claremont, Irwell Riverside, Kersal, Ordsall, Langworthy, Weaste and 
Seedley), and the wards of Barton and Eccles.  
 
Importantly however, the introduction of an Article 4 Direction does not mean that all planning 
applications for a change of use from a dwelling house to a Use Class C4 HMO will be refused. 
The Direction only relates to requiring the submission of a planning application for consideration 
by the local planning authority, and any application will be determined on its merits having regard 
to the development plan and any other material considerations. Furthermore, this direction will 
not deal with any issues relating to any existing HMO’s nor the management, poor condition or 
overcrowding of such properties.  
 
Regulatory Reform Order  
 
Alongside the Housing Act 2004, the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (‘the FSO’) 
came into force on the 1 October 2006. The FSO places a duty on the responsible person in 
relation to any domestic property to take general fire precautions to ensure as far as is reasonably 
practicable, the safety of the people on the premises and in the immediate vicinity. The 
responsible person will usually be the landlord but in the case of an absentee landlords where the 
“carrying on of the business” is undertaken by a managing agent it may be the managing agent. 
 
The responsible person must carry out a fire risk assessment for the purpose of identifying the 
general fire precautions and other measures needed to comply with the FSO. This requirement 
only applies to the common parts of premises. Having identified the general fire precautions that 

Page 30



9 

 

are necessary and having implemented them, the responsible person must put in place a suitable 
system of maintenance and appoint competent persons to implement any procedures that have 
been adopted. 
 

Part 3 HMO’s in Salford 

 
Over recent years, the city has seen a rapidly growing private rented sector.  Privately rented 
properties are important because they can provide people with flexible, affordable and good 
quality homes. However, the rapid growth of this sector has also created problems in the city 
related to rising levels of anti-social behaviour, such as fly-tipping, rubbish in front gardens, and 
excessive noise. Similarly, poor housing conditions, including overcrowding, are disproportionally 
linked to privately rented accommodation.  
 
With an ever-growing private rented sector, it’s important to ensure that this sector provides 
flexible, affordable and well managed homes. This growth is also evidenced in the 
disproportionate growth of smaller HMO’s across the city.   
 
When looking at the profile of housing stock in Salford, the age of dwellings in the private rented 
sector is an important consideration.  There is a direct correlation between property age and 
property conditions - the worse conditions are generally present in older stock. In Salford nearly 
50% of the private rented sector is in the oldest stock, that being pre-1944 and over 76 years old3. 
In addition, a significant percentage of all the stock in the private rented sector takes the form of 
medium or large type terraced houses, which are the properties that are being sought for HMO 
conversions. This suggests that the growing number of small 3 and 4 bedroom HMO’s are within 
some of our oldest private sector stock. 
 
In the previous selective licensing scheme in Langworthy, Weaste and Seedley, over a 5-year 
period we have seen a 410% increase in properties converted into HMO’s in this scheme alone 
and this appears to be continuing to grow. 
 
Similarly, in the Eccles selective licensing scheme since 2015, there has been a 460% increase 
in HMO’s, as well as 196% increase since 2016 in the Broughton Selective Licensing area.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
3 Salford Private Sector Housing Condition Report 2016 

Page 31



10 

 

Graph 3.1 The distribution of mandatory HMO’s across the City. 
 

 
Source: Salford City Council Mandatory Licensing data 2019 

 
The map 3.1 below shows all the mandatory HMO’s in Salford and demonstrates that there are 
concentrations within parts of wards including Broughton (clustered around Great Cheetham 
Street West and Great Clowes Street), Langworthy (streets off Langworthy Road) and Weaste 
and Seedley (Weaste Lane). There are also smaller pockets of mandatory HMOs in parts of the 
wards of Claremont and Eccles. 
 
Map 3.2 Location of Mandatory HMO’s in Salford 

 
Source: Salford City Council Mandatory Licensing data 2019 

 
 

36

0

124

2

42

18

0

33

4

65

1 4 3 5 10
1 3

72

7
0

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
p

ro
p

er
ti

es
 

WARD

Number of Properties

Page 32



11 

 

Smaller HMO’s in selective licensing areas  
 
As of January 2020, there were 437 3 and 4 person small HMOs identified within our selective 
licensing areas. The selective licensed HMOs are in addition to the mandatory HMOs. The 
distribution of these properties is shown in the table below. 
 
Table 3.3 Number of small HMOs with selective licence 
 

Selective Licence Area Number of HMO properties 

Barton & Eccles 28 

Broughton 107 

Charlestown & Kersal 215 

Langworthy, Weaste & Seedley* 87 

TOTAL 437 
*scheme ended in March 2018; new scheme commenced in this area in November 2019                                                

Source: Salford City Council Selective Licensing data 2019 
 
The following map shows the spread of all licensed (mandatory and selective) HMO’s across the 
City. 
 
Map 3.4 All licensed HMO’s (mandatory and selective) across the city. 
 

 
Source: Salford City Council HMO data 2019 

 
 
The city council is aware that the change of use of dwellings into small HMOs in Salford is seen 
as a highly attractive investment opportunity for property developers. Property investors are telling 
the council’s licensing team that Salford is specifically being highlighted at property investment 

Page 33



12 

 

conferences as an area that is near to Manchester, which is leading to inexperienced landlords 
chasing investment/yield with little or no regard to safety standards and management 
arrangements.  
 
An analysis was undertaken on two separate dates to gain a snapshot of the number of rooms in 
shared properties that were available to rent on that particular day. The table below highlights our 
findings that were found on the most popular room rental website.  It is a clear indication of the 
spread of HMO’s across the city and that there is a demand for this type of accommodation.  By 
introducing a citywide additional HMO licensing scheme, the Council can ensure that these 
HMO’s meet the required safety and management standards expected.  
 
 
Table 3.5 Number of rooms available in shared houses 
 

Postcode Area 
6.11.19 

No of adverts found 
10.12.19 

No of adverts Found 

M27 33 27 

M28 14 15 

M30 79 62 

M6 111 103 

M7 39 41 

M5 72 75 

M44 3 3 

M3 50 65 

M38 3 4 

M50 10 8 

   

TOTAL 414 403 
Source: https://www.spareroom.co.uk/ 

 
 
A further search was carried out in several areas in Salford where no selective licensing 
designations are operating, to better understand the growth of 3 and 4 person HMOs across the 
city. Again, this was a snapshot found on one particular date and shows the properties advertised 
as available for rent. The data collated shows that on 6th November 2019 a total of 414 individual 
rooms were available to rent within shared accommodation across the city of Salford and 403 
rooms on the 10th December 2019. This snapshot of research shows that  the numbers of rooms 
available remain consistent from one month to the next. 
 
The following internet searches were completed looking at Swinton, Little Hulton and Irlams O’Th 
Height, all areas where selective licensing is not in operation and where limited information is 
known about the number of small HMOs in use.  This data shows that the growth of small HMO’s 
is spreading across the city and is no longer limited to the traditional areas around the University 
of Salford. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



13 

 

 
Swinton  
The following data obtained on 6th November 2019, shows that in a very small geographical area 
within the Swinton area, there were 22 adverts with rooms available to rent within a shared 
property/house. 
 

 
 
Just over a month later on 10th December 2019 when the same search was undertaken there 
were 45 adverts with rooms available to rent within a shared property/house. This data has been 
cross referenced with the mandatory HMO’s in Salford and the search has presented HMO’s that 
appear in different parts of Salford. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



14 

 

Little Hulton 
A further search was completed on the 6th November 2019 for the same size small geographically 
area in the Little Hulton, this resulted in 22 adverts with rooms available to rent within a shared 
property/house. 
 
When the same search was undertaken on the 10th December 2019 and adverts with rooms 
available to rent within a shared property/house remained the same at 22. 
 

 
 
 
 
Irlams O’Th Height  
 
In the Irlams O’ Th’ Height area 13 adverts with rooms to rent within a shared property/house 
were available on the 6th November 2019. 
 

 
 

Page 36



15 

 

On the 10th December 2019 when the same search was undertaken this had increased 
significantly to 35 just over a month later.  
 

 
 
The snapshot of research undertaken shows that in just 3 non-licensed areas on 6th November 
2019 there was a total of 57 adverts with rooms available to rent within a shared property/house 
and just over 1 month later on the 10th December 2019 this had increased significantly to 102.  
 
Information concerning the HMO stock in the city has historically been built up from operational 
records, however, landlords and agents are most reticent to provide the Council with data unless 
specifically required to do so. This data has been cross referenced with the mandatory HMO’s in 
Salford and the search has presented HMO’s that appear in different parts of Salford. The 
snapshot of research undertaken shows that there are a number of 3 and 4 person HMO’s 
operating within the city. It is clear from the poor conditions found in the 3 and 4 person HMOs 
that have been inspected, that there are tenants including our most vulnerable living in unsafe 
conditions and the introduction of an additional licensing scheme will address these unsafe 
conditions.  
 
 

Part 4 Criteria for an Additional Licensing designation    

 
Sections 56 and 57 of the Act provides the criteria and considerations that a local authority must 
adhere to before considering and making a proposal for an additional HMO licensing designation. 
  
A local authority may designate either an area of their district, or an area in their district as being 
subject to Additional HMO Licensing.  The local authority must determine the type of HMO that 
will be subject to additional HMO Licensing.  Salford proposal is for a citywide scheme covering 
3 and 4 person HMOs. 
 
Which HMOs will be covered by this proposal?  

An HMO (House in Multiple Occupation) is defined in Sections 254 and 257 of the Housing Act 

2004.   

 

Page 37



16 

 

An HMO can be a building or part of a building if it is:  

 Occupied by persons who form more than one household, and where those persons 

share (or lack) one or more basic amenities, such as a WC, personal washing and 

cooking facilities.  

 A converted building containing one or more units of accommodation that do not consist 

entirely of self-contained flats. (There is no requirement that the occupiers share 

 

 A converted building consisting entirely of self-contained flats, where the building work 

undertaken in connection with the conversion did not comply with the 1991 Building 

Regulations and more than one third of the flats are occupied under short tenancies.  

The HMO must be occupied by more than one household:  

 As their only or main residence;    

 As a refuge by persons escaping domestic violence; or  

 During term time by students.  

In all cases:  

 Occupation of the living accommodation must be the only use of that accommodation; 

and  

 Rents are payable or other considerations are provided.  

Under the Housing Act 2004, a household comprises:  

 A single person;   

 Co-habiting couples (whether or not of the opposite sex); or  

 A family (including foster children and children being cared for) and current domestic 

employees.  

Certain types of buildings will not be HMOs for the purpose of the Housing Act. They are:   

 Buildings, or parts of buildings, occupied by no more than two households, each of which 

comprise a single person only (for example, two person house or flat shares);  

 Buildings occupied by a resident landlord with up to two tenants;  

 Buildings managed or owned by a public sector body, such as the police, local authority, 

registered social landlords, fire and rescue authority and the NHS; 

 Buildings occupied by religious communities;  

 Student halls of residence where the education establishment has signed up to an 

leaseholders.  

  

Bed and breakfast and hostel accommodation occupied by individuals as their main and 

permanent address are also considered to be an HMO. 

All 3 and 4 person HMO’s will be subject to Additional Licensing under these proposals 

 
Under section 56 of the Act, the authority must be satisfied that the following criteria are met:  
 

 A significant proportion of the HMOs (of the description to be included in the designated 
area) are being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or to be likely to give 
rise, to one or more particular problems either for those occupying the HMO or for 
members of the public; (When forming an opinion for this criteria, the authority must have 
regard to any information regarding the extent to which any codes of practice approved 

Page 38



17 

 

under section 233 of the Act have been complied with by persons managing HMOs in the 
area); 
 

 The authority must take reasonable steps to consult persons who are likely to be affected 
by the designation and consider and any representations made in accordance with the 
consultation and not withdrawn  

 
Under section 57, the Act states:  
 

 The authority must ensure that any exercise of the power is consistent with the Council’s 
overall housing strategy; 
 

 The authority must also seek to adopt a co-ordinated approach in connection with dealing 
with homelessness, empty properties and antisocial behaviour affecting the private 
rented sector, both – as regards combining licensing under this Part with other courses of 
action available to them, and as regards combining such licensing with measures taken 
by other persons.  

 

 The authority must not make a particular designation under section 56 of the Act unless – 
they have considered whether there are any other courses of action available to them 
(whatever the nature) that might provide an effective method of dealing with the problem 
or problems in question, and they consider that making the designation will significantly 
assist them to deal with the problem or problems (whether or not they take any other 
course of action as well).  

 
 

Part 5 The Proposed Licensing Scheme 

 
The Housing Strategy Statistical Appendix (HSSA) which is statistical return from a Local 
Authority to the Government, to support the development of Council’s Housing Strategy, reports 
in 2017 – 20184 that the estimated number of HMO’s within Salford was 1500. The Council 
presently has 923 currently covered by Licensing Schemes. This data suggests the remaining   
number could be 3 and 4 person HMO’s within the City not covered by licensing. It is these 
properties that would be subject to licensing under the proposed additional licensing scheme. 

 
The proposal is to implement a 5 year citywide additional licensing scheme with the objectives to 
improve safety standards and management of HMOs for the benefit of the tenants living in these 
HMOs; but also the wider community who may experience the negative impacts (such as waste 
disposal and rubbish dumping) associated with HMOs in their area.  

The scheme would apply to 3 and 4 person HMOs that are not already licensed under a selective 
licensing scheme.  These HMO’s would be properties occupied by three or 4 people who are not 
from the same family (and form 2 or more households) and who share a kitchen, bathroom or 
toilet.  

These 3 and 4 person HMO’s will be required to be licensed. Part of the licence application 
process will include a mandatory property inspection to ensure that the property is of a suitable 
standard in regard to the health, safety and welfare of its tenants but also that it is managed 
appropriately by a ‘fit and proper’ person. Conditions will be issued alongside the licence, which 
both the licence holder and manager will be required to adhere to. 

                                                 
4 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/local-authority-housing-statistics-data-returns-for-2017-to-
2018 

Page 39



18 

 

 
Failure to licence a property would be a criminal offence and could result in prosecution and an 
unlimited fine or a civil penalty. Similarly, a breach of the licence conditions or management 
regulations could result in enforcement action such as prosecution or civil penalty. 
 
 

Part 6 The case for the additional licensing scheme 

 
The following evidence supports the proposal to introduce a Citywide Additional HMO Licensing 
scheme. 
 
The census 2011 provides data on the percentage of private rented properties that are let in multi 
occupation  across the City.  The percentage is reported as a proportion of the total private rented 
stock, which is shown in the graph below. 
 
Graph 6.1 Percentage of private rented properties that are let in multi occupation in Salford by 
Ward 
 

 
 

Source: Census 2011 Salford 

 
The data shows that despite there being a large concentration of HMO’s in and around the city 
centre, HMO’s are operating across the whole of Salford. The graph highlights that in every ward 
of Salford, there are over 10% of multi occupied households operating within the private rented 
sector.  
 
As detailed within section Part 3 of this report, there is evidence that the number of HMOs is 
growing across the City. 
 
 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

% of multi occupied 
PRS

% Multi Occupied households in PRS

Page 40



19 

 

 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System 

The Council is routinely inspecting privately rented properties. The inspections are intended to 

help improve the quality of the housing stock. In particular, their purpose is to ensure that 

standards of accommodation are satisfactory and without risks to the health and safety of the 

tenant.  

During an inspection officers determine whether any Category 1 or 2 hazards exist at the property. 

The terms Category 1 or 2 hazard refer to the severity of any hazards found at the property, 

following an assessment conducted under the Act, using the Housing Health and Safety Rating 

System (HHSRS). 

Housing Health and Safety Rating system was introduced by the Act, to assess hazards arising 
from deficiencies within dwellings. It considers the likelihood and severity of a harmful event if a 
member of the most vulnerable age group were to occupy or visit the property. 
 
The vulnerable age group is determined by the age most adversely affected by a hazard. For 
example, a child under 14 years is considered more vulnerable to the effects of damp mould 
spores, whereas a person over 65 years is more vulnerable to falls associated with steps and 
stairs. 
 
As a result of the assessment the relevant hazards are allocated a numerical score, which fall 
into one of 10 bands, from A to J. 
 
Bands ‘A to C’ are called Category 1 hazards, while bands ‘D to J’ are Category 2 hazards. The 
property is not allocated one single score, instead it is assessed in relation to 29 specified 
hazards, and each is considered separately. 
 
The Census 2011 data shown earlier in this report, shows the spread of HMOs across the City, it 
is worth noting that the private sector stock condition survey also published in 2011,  identifies 
areas across the City where Category 1 hazard can be found within the private rented sector.    
Unlike the census data this is recorded by area and not ward level but shows that the most serious 
of hazards found in rented properties, can be found across the City.  
 
Graph 6.2 Number of category 1 hazards found in Salford 
 

 
Source: Salford Stock Condition Survey 2011 

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600

Barton

Boothstown & Ellenbrook, Walkden South and Worsley

Broughton

Claremont, Weaste & Seedley

Eccles

Irlam and Cadishead

Irwell Riverside

Kersal

Langworthy

Little Hulton

Pendlebury, Swinton North and Swinton South

Walkden North

Winton

Number of Category 1 hazards

Page 41



20 

 

As previously mentioned within this report, there is a direct correlation between property age and 
property conditions with the worse conditions being generally present in older stock. In Salford 
nearly 50% of the private rented sector is in the oldest stock, that being pre-1944 and over 76 
years old5. It is within this older stock that 84% of the category 1 hazards were found.  
 
Service requests received by the Private Sector Housing Team  
The private sector housing team receive complaints and requests for service relating to HMO’s.  
These requests include issues such as overcrowding, poor property condition, anti-social 
behaviour, environmental issues and requests for inspections. The number of requests relating 
to HMO’s over the last 4 years is shown in the table below. 
 
Table 6.3 Number of service requests relating to HMO’s 
 

Date Number of service requests about HMO’s 

2015/2016 152 

2016/2017 155 

2017/2018 158 

2018/2019 265 
Source: Salford City Council Housing Standards data 2015 – 2019 

 
 
These requests are from a range of sources which include tenants, neighbours, and residents 
and are from all areas of the city. The data confirms that the number of complaints regarding 
HMO’s has increased over the last 4 years. There has been a 174% increase in the requests 
relating to HMO’s since 2015/2016 to the numbers reported in 2018/2019.  
 
In addition to the statistics already provided, there is evidence contained within this report that will 
show the particular problems that are common in 3 and 4 person HMOs, which have been 
inspected and include the failure of the majority of landlords to understand or take relevant safety 
measures to protect tenants in the event of a fire.   A total of 36 properties were inspected and a 
third of 3 and 4 person HMOs failed to provide an adequate means of escape for the tenants 
living within the HMO and a significant number of landlords lacking appropriate property 
maintenance programmes resulting in damp and cold homes with inadequate energy efficiency 
measures, and poor arrangements for storing and disposing of domestic waste. Areas with high 
concentrations of this particular type of HMO shows a relationship with domestic waste complaints 
and requests for street sweeping. 
 
The Council believes that regulation through an additional HMO licensing scheme is required 
alongside other initiatives to deliver the improvements that are required. 
 
Property Condition  
 
The Housing Standards team inspects privately rented properties including HMO’s.  Properties 
are brought to the attention of the team in one of the following ways: 

 An application for a mandatory HMO or selective licence is submitted and the property 
requires an inspection,  

 A complaint is received about a property, 

 Proactive visit on a risk-based approach. 
 

                                                 
5 Salford Private Sector Housing Condition Report 2016 

Page 42



21 

 

The mandatory HMO licence legislation has provided a useful tool to the authority to proactively 
target, inspect and improve a number of large HMO’s across the city.  
 
 
Analysis of HMO inspection data  
 
As previously stated, there is no requirement for landlords of 3 and 4 bedroom HMO’s to inform 

the Council of their existence. Of the 36 inspections that have been completed two thirds were 

reactive and have been completed within the resources currently available. This report analyses 

data collected from all 3 and 4 person HMO inspections carried out between 1/1/2018 and 

31/12/2019  

 

Inspections 
 
Proactive inspections are routinely carried out across the private rented sector to help improve 

the quality of the housing stock and importantly to ensure that the accommodation meets a 

reasonable level of expectation.  

From the data analysed, almost a third of the inspections were carried out proactively by the 

Private Sector Housing team, often through information collected from the Selective Licensing 

schemes operating in Barton & Eccles, Langworthy, Weaste and Seedley, and Broughton. 

More commonly, the data shows that inspections were carried out following a direct complaint 
from a tenant within the HMO, using the Council’s online “Report it” webform.  
 
Several inspections also took place following third party referrals. Examples include partner 
agencies at GMP, concerned neighbours or anonymous complaints. 
 
Chart 6.4 Method of referral for inspection 
 

 
Source: Salford City Council Housing Standards data 2018 - 2019 

 

  
The inspection data covers a broad spectrum of the city, with 11 of the 20 wards captured within 
it.  

48%

28%

24%

Inspections

48% Complaints from tenants

28% Proactive

24% Third party referrals

Page 43



22 

 

Style of Let 
Determining the style of let within an HMO is an important first step, necessary to ensure the 

correct fire safety provision within the property. A “bedsit style” HMO houses several individuals 

on separate tenancies, and although occupants share facilities, they have no relationship or 

responsibility towards one another. This style of let is more transient and considered higher risk, 

and as such the fire alarm system and escape route are critically important. 

A “bedsit style” HMO also requires greater consideration to space standards and an 

understanding that certain hazards can have a greater impact on individuals than other styles of 

let. For example, a tenant living in this type of accommodation would spend most of their time in 

their bedroom, and if dampness was present they would be more exposed to its effects than a 

person who had the use of a whole house and could move into another living area or bedroom to 

avoid it.  

A “shared house” HMO usually has just one tenancy agreement, which has been issued to a 

defined group, e.g. friends, colleagues or student group. Each person has joint responsibility for 

the rent and the upkeep of the property and are not assigned to a bedroom. They are considered 

more likely to act collectively.  

 

Chart 6.5 Style of let in a 3- or 4-bedroom HMO 

 
Source: Salford City Council Housing Standards data 2018 - 2019 

 
 

 

Hazards identified 

From the data collected, 100% of the 3 and 4 person HMO’s contained one or more hazard. 
The City council consider that this is likely to give rise to problems within these properties  
 
The table below shows the different hazard categories present and the percentage of HMOs they 
were found in. 
 
 
 
 
 

72%

28%

Style of Let

72% Bedsit style HMO

 28% Shared house HMO

Page 44



23 

 

Table 6.6 Percentage of hazards found at inspections 
 

Hazard Title 
 

Percentage found 

Fire 92% 

Damp & Mould Growth  36% 

Excess Cold 32% 

Domestic Hygiene, Pests & Refuse  24% 

Falling on Stairs etc 20% 

Electrical Hazards 20% 

Un-combusted fuel gas  16% 

Entry by Intruders 12% 

Personal Hygiene, Sanitation and Drainage 12% 

Lighting 8% 

Structural Collapse & Falling Elements 8% 

Food Safety 4% 

Crowding and Space 4% 

Position & Operability of Amenities etc 4% 
Source: Salford City Council Housing Standards data 2018 - 2019 

 
 
 
 
Graph 6.7 Percentage of hazards found at inspections 

 

 

Source: Salford City Council Housing Standards data 2018 - 2019 
 

92%

36%
32%

24%
20% 20%

16% 12% 12% 8% 8% 4% 4% 4%

%
 H

M
O

's
 a

ff
e

ct
e

d

Hazard Category

Hazards in HMOs inspected

Page 45



24 

 

The hazards found in the HMOs fell into two categories, either properties containing only Category 

2 hazards or properties containing both Category 1 & Category 2 hazards. 

Chart 6.8 Percentage mix of category 1 and 2 hazards  

 

 

Source: Salford City Council Housing Standards data 2018 - 2019 
 

Problem - Fire Safety 

The most prevalent hazard found in 92% of the 3 and 4 person HMOs inspected was ‘Fire’. This 

hazard category covers threats from exposure to fire and smoke in a dwelling. 

Almost all 3 and 4 person HMOs inspected contained defects in this category. Furthermore, 100% 

of these properties had more than one issue.  

Put simply, 92% of the small HMOs inspected had numerous issues concerning fire safety rather 

than only one defect. This has an impact on the overall risk of harm to occupants. 

The table below shows the various defects identified and the percentage of HMOs affected. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

64%

36%

Type of hazard found

Category  2 only

Category  1  and Category 2

Page 46



25 

 

Table 6.9 Fire safety defects and percentage of HMO's they were found in 

 
‘Fire’ defect found 

 
% of HMOs 

affected 
 

Defects or issues concerning the fire alarm system 72% 

Fire doors damaged or missing crucial components such as cold 
smoke seals, intumescent strips, over-head door closers 
 

56% 

Fire doors required in the HMO but not present 
 

44% 

Poor condition of fire door frames, including excessive gaps between 
fire doors and frames 
 

36% 

Issues with the escape route – key operated locks present rather 
than thumb turn locks  
 

36% 

Lack of any suitable escape route from bedrooms within HMO’s. 
Escape would involve passing through a risk room (e.g. kitchen or 
living room) 
 

36% 

Storage cupboard or electrical consumer units located on the escape 
route but not suitably enclosed 
 
 

32% 

Poor compartmentation between either cellar and ground floor or 
between bedrooms 
 

24% 

Emergency lighting required but not present  20% 
 

Fire blankets required in kitchens but not present 
  

16% 

Bypassed electrical meter  
 

8% 

Miscellaneous: combustible materials /cladding escape route, no 
direct access to fire alarm panel 

8% 

Source: Salford City Council Housing Standards data 2018 - 2019 
 

One of the key findings from the data analysis relates to fire doors. Table B shows that almost 

half of the HMOs inspected required fire doors but did not have any. The other half of HMOs did 

have fire doors, but they were in disrepair, either missing vital components or damaged through 

wear and tear.  

It was found that, a third of the HMOs contained bedrooms with no adequate means of escape. 

The layout meant that escape from a bedroom would be dangerous as occupants would have to 

cross through a kitchen or living space. This is known as an “inner room” and is not permitted 

under fire safety regulations 

The data indicates an overall lack of maintenance and a failure to understand HMO fire safety 

standards. It also indicates through the high percentage of damaged doors that there is a lack of 

any regular inspection programme being undertaken by the landlords themselves.   

Page 47



26 

 

The table below breaks down into further detail the defects specifically relating to fire alarm and 

detection systems within the 3 and 4 person HMOs inspected. 

 

Table 6.10 Details of the defects to fire alarm systems 

 
Fire alarm defect 

 
% of HMO’s 

affected 
 

Stand-alone battery smoke alarms present, rather than mains wired 
interlinked system 
 

28% 

Parts of the fire alarm system missing, e.g. missing heat detector to 
the kitchen 
 

20% 

No type of alarm system present, not even battery smoke detection 
 

16% 

Miscellaneous: Dust covers left covering smoke detector heads 
 

4% 

Source: Salford City Council Housing Standards data 2018 - 2019 
 

Table C shows that 16% of the HMOs inspected had no smoke detection whatsoever. This is 

even after the introduction of legislation in 2015, which makes it a legal obligation for landlords to 

provide basic battery smoke detection before renting a property. 

In addition, over a quarter of the small HMOs only had battery smoke detection, indicating the 

general lack of awareness of or thought for fire safety legislation and guidance. 

 

Problem - Damp and Mould Growth 

The second largest hazard found during analysis relates to ‘Damp and Mould Growth’. This 

hazard was found in over a third, 36%, of the 3- and 4-bedroom HMOs inspected.  

This hazard category covers threats to health associated with dust mites and mould or fungal 

growth resulting from exposure to dampness and/or high humidity. 

As well as physical harm, this hazard considers the effects damp, staining and mould growth may 

have to mental health and social well-being. The ODPM Operating Guidance6 advises that the 

mental and social health effects should not be underestimated. Damage to decoration, staining, 

and mould growth can cause depression or anxiety. Feelings of shame and embarrassment can 

lead to social isolation. 

Most of the small HMOs suffering from dampness were found to have disrepair to roofs, guttering, 

chimneys or brickwork. These physical defects allowed water to penetrate walls and ceilings. 

These defects were most prevalent in first floor bedrooms and accounted for 53% of all the damp 

hazards found.  

The data indicates a general lack of maintenance within small HMOs allowing water to penetrate 

and damage internal plastering and decoration. The data shows that landlords are failing to 

                                                 
6 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15810/142631.p
df 

Page 48



27 

 

upkeep the external condition of their properties leading to damaged guttering and downpipes, 

poor main house roof or bay roofs. This can be as simple of removing foliage from guttering to 

prevent them overflowing.  

 

Chart 6.11 Percentage and type of damp defects 

 

Source: Salford City Council Housing Standards data 2018 - 2019 

 

 

Problem - Excess Cold 

The third largest hazard found was ‘Excess Cold’. This hazard category relates to any defect 

causing a threat to health from sub-optimal indoor temperatures. Almost a third of all small HMOs 

inspected contained a defect in this category. 

The ODPM Operating Guidance advises that there is a continuous relationship between indoor 

temperature and vulnerability to cold-related death. The colder the dwelling, the greater the risk. 

The largest proportion of defects came from properties suffering from either no whole-house 

heating whatsoever, or a lack of heating provided in shared facilities. This included kitchens and 

bathrooms.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

53%

18%

29%

Damp and Mould Growth

Penetrating  damp, e.g. Leaking
roof, raining in, chimney , guttering
or  defects to brickwork

Rising damp

Issues with ventilation in kitchens
and bathrooms

Page 49



28 

 

Chart 6.12 Percentage and type of excess cold defects 

 

Source: Salford City Council Housing Standards data 2018 - 2019 

 

Problem - Domestic Hygiene, Pests and Refuse 

This hazard category covers defects relating to: 

 poor design, layout and construction, such that the dwelling cannot be kept clean and 

hygienic 

 access and harbourage for pests 

 inadequate provision for the disposal of household waste. 

 
In general, a dwelling should be capable of being kept hygienically clean, preventing a build-up 
of dirt and free from cracks and crevices that can provide harbourage to pests7. 
 
In this hazard category, the most prevalent issue found in the small HMOs was damage and 
general disrepair in shared kitchens. This included damage to kitchen tiling, poor sealant around 
kitchen sinks, and loose and worn worktops. 
 
Again, the data indicates a general lack of maintenance or adequate inspection programme by 
landlords of small HMOs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
7  such as rats, mice, cockroaches, fleas and bed bugs 

64%

27%

9%

Excess Cold

No heating to a shared facility,
kitchen or bathroom

No heating at all

Draughts e.g. poor windows,  gaps
around doors

Page 50



29 

 

Chart 6.13 Percentage and type of domestic hygiene defects 
  

 
 

Source: Salford City Council Housing Standards data 2018 - 2019 

Problem - Falling on Stairs etc. 

This hazard category covers falls associated with stairs, steps and ramps either inside the 

property or within the curtilage of the outside space. 

The ODPM Operating Guidance states that falls on stairs account for 25% of all falls within a 

home, and that stair falls as much more likely to lead to a fatal outcome than falls on level 

surfaces. The likely of a fall doubles to stairs where no handrail is provided.  

Within small HMOs, landlords and managers have a duty to keep all staircases, steps and 

coverings in a safe condition. The analysis of the data shows that of the small HMOs found with 

this hazard, a large proportion were either missing handrails or the steps themselves were 

generally in poor repair. 

 

Chart 6.14 Percentage and type of falling on stairs defects 

 

Source: Salford City Council Housing Standards data 2018 - 2019 

70%

20%

10%

Domestic Hygiene, Pests & Refuse

Issues with shared kitchen facilities

Issues with shared bathroom facilties

Pest infestation

50%

10%

10%

30%

Falling on Stairs etc

Missing handrails

Access  issues

Missing spindles

Disrepair to steps /
staircases

Page 51



30 

 

Other Problems  

One emerging defect found in 28% of the small HMOs inspected concerns the lack of access to 

utility meters or electrical consumer units.  

Properties have been converted from family homes into small 3 or 4 person HMOs, without 

appropriate thought to redesign or re-siting of meters. Utility meters and electrical consumer units 

are often located in what would have been the ‘living room’ of a family home, located at the front 

of a terraced property.   

Due to the nature of “bedsit style” HMOs occupants usually keep their bedroom door locked, as 

they are living independently of others. During a gas emergency, access to the meter is required 

to turn it off but the siting of many gas meters posed a risk to the HMO as well as neighbouring 

properties.  

Similarly, if the electricity circuit tripped and the consumer unit was located within a locked 

bedroom, the property would be without power until the occupant of that bedroom returned home.  

 
Remedial action 
 
The Act imposes a duty on the Local Authority to take action to remove category 1 hazards.  
 
When a hazard falls within this category and presents an imminent risk to health, the Local 
Authority can close the property using an Emergency Prohibition Order.  
 
Of the HMOs inspected, 8% fell into this category and the occupants were removed for their own 
safety. The HMO was prohibited from being occupied and the landlord was served with an 
Improvement Notice detailing the relevant remedial works that were to be carried out before the 
property could be re-occupied. 
 
The Act provides Local Authorities with a discretionary power to take action where category 2 
hazards are found. In line with the Council’s Enforcement Policy, this option is taken when 
informal coercion has been unsuccessful, or where a landlord fails to engage or refuses to remove 
hazards. 
 
A further 8% of the HMOs inspected required formal action. Examples of the enforcement notices 
served include Improvement Notices or Suspended Improvement Notices. These Notices set out 
what remedial action the landlord must take to remove specific hazards and the period of time for 
compliance. 
 
Of the HMOs inspected, 84% benefited from improvements and removal of hazards, without the 
need for formal enforcement action. Officers were able to successfully engage with landlords and 
managing agents informally to encourage remedial work to take place.  
 
By introducing an additional licensing scheme, properties that are currently going unnoticed will 
be brought to the Council’s attention and will be inspected via the resources provided by an 
additional licensing scheme.  Furthermore, compliance with licence conditions over the 5 year 
period, will provide a benchmark for acceptable management standards.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



31 

 

Management regulations in respect of HMOs 
 
The Private Sector Housing team also undertakes enforcement functions under Section 234 of 
the 2004 regarding the management regulations in respect of HMOs. 
 
Section 234 of the Act 2004 places a statutory duty on the person managing the HMO to ensure 
that there are in place satisfactory management arrangements and that satisfactory standards of 
management are observed.  
 
From 6 April 2017, the Housing and Planning Act 2016 introduced Civil Penalties of up to £30,000 
as an alternative to prosecute for certain offences under the Housing Act 2004. Failing to comply 
with management regulations is such an offence. 
 
Of the small 3 and 4 person HMOs inspected during this period, nearly a quarter were found to 
have serious failings in management standards. Tenants were living in unsafe conditions, which 
could have placed them in harm.  
 
This section relates to civil penalties issued as a result of the 36 inspections undertaken on 3 and 
4 person HMOs, where the conditions and hazards were severe, and the properties were 
“managed sufficiently ineffectively to give rise to particular problem”. 
 
Examples of poor management practices within these properties, include:   
 

 A property manager failed to notice during his routine inspection of the property, that the 
stairs, which provide the fire escape route were damaged in various places and that 
sections of the carpet were loose and moved when walked upon.   

 A property manager failed to notice during his routine inspection that the self-closing 
devices to fire doors were not connected, furthermore, they also missed a broken 
electrical circuit on the landing (fire escape route)  

 A property manager failed to notice during their routine inspections the substantial 
accumulation of refuse in the rear garden 

 Failure of a landlord to take any action once Electricity Northwest had disconnected the 
electricity meter due to tampering 

 Lack of management arrangements to ensure that shared kitchens and bathrooms were 
kept clean   

 

Civil Penalties to the total value of £120,000 were issued for these serious cases.   
 
Issuing Civil Penalties demonstrates that the Local Authority are proactive in bringing properties 
up to standard and levying penalties that have an economic impact, thereby removing any 
financial benefit obtained from committing the offence.  
 
 
Overcrowding 
 

The data analysis shows that of the small HMOs inspected, 24% were overcrowded.  
 
An HMO must provide occupants with adequate space to lounge and sleep and bedrooms over 
10m2 usually provide adequate space for this.  
 
Additional dining space is also required alongside space to cook and prepare food. Many of the 
properties converted into small HMOs have bedrooms less than 10m2 and furthermore, rooms 

Page 53



32 

 

traditionally designated for recreation or living space have been converted into bedrooms to 
maximise profit. 
 
In almost a quarter of the small HMOs inspected, officers found 4 bedroomed HMOs without 
adequate provision of space.  
 
Even where a communal kitchen/dining space had been created, bedrooms were too small and 
did not allow adequate space for recreation. Existing lounge space had often become a ground 
floor bedroom.  
 
Direct intervention by the Local Authority saw the level of occupation / number of bedrooms 
reduced to satisfactory levels. 
 

Conclusion 

Overall, the data demonstrates a general lack of management within small 3 and 4 person HMOs 

across the city.  

This is either by wilful neglect from landlords, or genuine misunderstanding or lack of awareness 

of space and safety standards. 

Whilst the most serious cases were dealt with through the civil penalty process, most landlords 

engaged and made improvements to their HMOs without the need for enforcement action. Without 

the completion of the inspections these properties would be operating with the hazards and the 

poor condition found in them. The introduction of an additional HMO licensing scheme will enable 

all small 3 and 4 person HMOs to be inspected across the city. 

Although the Private Sector Housing team picked up many cases proactively, the majority (72%) 

came directly from tenants complaining about housing condition or via concerned third parties.  

An additional HMO licensing scheme would not only provide further intelligence about property 

condition, enabling further targeting of proactive inspections to drive up standards, but will 

improve the living conditions for those tenants occupying 3 and 4 person HMOs. 

The introduction of additional licensing will benefit the communities across the city who have 

experienced the negative impact of this type of HMO property being managed sufficiently 

ineffectively as to give rise, or to be likely to give rise, to one or more particular problems. 

The inspection data revealed almost all the HMOs failed to provide appropriate fire safety. Fire 

alarm systems were either lacking entirely or not kept up to standard. Fire doors were either 

missing entirely or poorly maintained. 

General wear and tear are greater in “bedsit style” HMOs given the high turnover of tenants and 

heavy use of shared facilities. This data reveals that landlords are not maintaining properties, 

either through lack of proper / regular property inspections, or because of a lack of regard to the 

effects these defects have on the tenants.  

Case Study evidence  
Included as part of our evidence are 5 case studies.  These properties were either a 3 or 4 person 
HMOs that were not subject to licensing and clearly highlight HMOs being managed sufficiently 
ineffectively as to give rise, to very poor property condition posing a significant risk to the 
occupants.   
 
The case studies are representative of conditions found in inspected properties and provide 
further evidence that there are some landlords and managing agents operating small HMO 

Page 54



33 

 

properties within Salford who are exploiting vulnerable tenants and are ignorant of the legistlation 
and regulations.  The Council provides a comprehensive HMO webpage which details what is 
expected of landlords who operate in HMOs, yet certain landlords and agents still fail to meet 
minimum Health & Safety standards that their properties should be providing to ensure the tenants 
have safe living conditions.  
 
The case studies are just a small snap shot of properties that have been notified to the Council. 
With the introduction of an additional licensing scheme, the Council will be able to ensure that 
landlords and managing agents of all 3 and 4 person HMOs across the city meet the ‘fit and 
proper’ standard as well as ensuring these properties are inspected to meet the minimum safety 
standards. This in turn will drive up the property and management standards for tenants within 
the priavte rented sector, some of whom are our our most vunerable residents and will allow the 
licensing team to take enforcement action when standards and regulations are breached. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



34 

 

Case Study 1 – Swinton North 
 
The Private Sector Housing team executed a warrant on an end-terraced property. The property 
was found to be 4 bedroom “bedsit style” HMO. This meant that each person rented a bedroom 
and did not know the others living in the house.  
 
During the inspection several defects were noted, including;  

 An inadequate fire alarm system, the smoke detectors were battery operated and only sited 
in the cellar and on the landing 

 An unsatisfactory escape route because any occupant on the first floor had to exit through 
either the higher risk kitchen or lounge area 

 No fire doors  

 No emergency lighting  

 Incorrect locks were fitted to doors 
 
The landlord admitted that he did not realise the property was an HMO as he believed if a house 
did not have five bedrooms it would not be licensable and HMO regulations would not apply.   
 
Without the inspection, the property would still be operating as a small unsafe HMO. 
 
This property would require an inspection and a licence under the additional licensing scheme. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



35 

 

Case Study 2 – Swinton South 
 
The Private Sector Housing team inspected a property in Swinton South that was found to contain 
4 bedrooms.  The fire escape route and separation were severely defective. A property should 
have adequate separation between each unit of accommodation (e.g. between a cellar and a 
bedroom located directly above it). This is to prevent the spread of fire and smoke.  
 
The construction of the property should be able to contain fire and smoke for a defined period of 
time, leaving other units of accommodation free from the effects of fire. This length of time can 
vary, but a standard HMO property should be capable of providing 30 minutes fire separation. 
 
Particular care must be taken with the walls and partitions enclosing the protected escape route, 
to ensure that the passage of smoke and fire is contained for long enough to allow the occupants 
to get out of the property to a place of safety. 
 
In particular, 

 There was a fire alarm system, but this was inadequate as the system did not extend into the 
cellar which housed combustible materials 

 The cellar ceiling was not boarded so did not provide adequate separation to the ground floor  

 Fire doors in the property were poorly fitted and were missing key components such as self-
closers, intumescent strips and cold smoke seals 

 Incorrect locks were fitted to exit doors 
 
The landlord worked with the team to bring the property up to standard. Had the property not been 
visited as part of an investigation into a potential unlicensed HMO, it would still be operating as a 
small unsafe HMO. This property would require an inspection and a licence under the additional 
licensing scheme. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Page 57



36 

 

Case Study 3 – Kersal  
 
The Private Sector Housing team executed a warrant on a mid-terraced property. The property 
was found to be 4 bedroom “bedsit style” HMO. This meant that each person rented a bedroom 
and were unrelated.  
 
During the inspection several defects were noted, including;  

 There was an inadequate fire alarm system, the smoke detectors were only sited on the 
hallway and landing 

 There was an unsatisfactory escape route because any occupant on the first floor had to exit 
through the high-risk kitchen area 

 The fire doors in the property were poorly fitted with large gaps around them as indicated in 
the photo below, and were missing key components such as self-closers, intumescent strips 
and cold smoke seals 

 There was no emergency lighting and incorrect locks were fitted to exit doors 

 There was no handrail to the staircase 

 The cleaning to common parts was unsatisfactory and conditions in the bathroom and 
common hallway and landing were unclean 

 Externally the surface of the yard was poor and covered in debris and had no lighting to assist 
in the safe escape at night-time 

 
The Managing Agent admitted that he did not realise the property was an HMO but did operate a 
business with a portfolio of properties. However, as this property fell below the criteria for 
mandatory HMO licensing, the manager did not believe that any additional fire safety measures 
were required.  
 
After a case review, a Civil Penalty of £19,500 was issued against the manager, who had put the 
safety of the tenants at serious risk of injury or death.   
 
Without the inspection, the property would still be operating as an unsafe small HMO. This 
property would require an inspection and a licence under the additional licensing scheme. 
 
In addition, a separate Civil Penalty was issued against the property owners, who had failed to 
apply for a license to rent the property. 
 

 
 

Page 58



37 

 

Case Study 4 – Ordsall  
 
The Private Sector Housing team undertook an inspection of a flat, following receipt of an 
anonymous complaint that it was cramped and lacked fire safety measures. 
 
At the inspection the flat was found to have 2 original bedrooms. In addition, the landlord had split 
the living room into two further rooms, creating two additional bedrooms. 
 
All four bedrooms were let to individuals who were unrelated. It was therefore a “bed-sit style” 
HMO. 
 
During the inspection several defects were noted, including;  

 There was a lack of any living space, this means the property lacked the required communal 
space of a living room and / or dining room 

 There was an inadequate fire alarm system, the smoke detectors were only in the hallway and 
kitchen  

 There was no form of fixed heating and 

 There was an unsatisfactory escape route as there were no fire doors  
 

The landlord had another property in a nearby block. Upon inspection this was found to be 
identical with the same defects relating to fire safety and overcrowded living conditions. 
 
The team took enforcement action, serving a proposed Improvement Notice to secure works and 
reduce occupancy back down to only two people per property. This property would require an 
inspection and a licence under the additional licensing scheme. 
 
 
Case Study 5 – Broughton 
 
The Private Sector Housing team undertook a joint visit with social services following concerns 
that a property was being operated as an HMO without heating or hot water and that a family of 
5 were living in just two bedrooms within the property. 
 
If this property was subject to additional HMO licensing, the landlord would be required to display 
a copy of the licence and have his contact details displayed within the property.  The licence would 
clearly prescribe the maximum number of occupants allowed to sleep in each bedroom, and the 
total number allowed within the house.  The landlord would clearly then know that allowing more 
people to occupy the property than the licence allows, would result in the property being 
overcrowded leading to tenants living in substandard accommodation.  
 
The landlord would be required to provide to the council, an annual gas safety certificate.  This 
annual check would have resulted in the landlord undertaking proper safety checks to ensure the 
boiler supplying heating and hot water was routinely checked and in working order.   
 
As the licence and landlord contact details would be displayed, any tenant could notify the landlord 
of any issues such as having no heating or hot water.   
 
During the inspection it was established that the boiler had been broken for up to 6 months.  
 
Two adults and their three children resided in two of the bedrooms on the first floor. The third 
bedroom had, until the previous day, been occupied by a separate male not known to the family. 
 

Page 59



38 

 

A fourth bedroom had been created in half of the ground floor living room. This was locked with a 
padlock, but once opened revealed the belongings of another adult, alleged to be the landlord’s 
cousin. 
 
The landlord was cautioned against re-letting the third and fourth bedrooms and re-instated the 
heating and hot water the following day. This property would require an inspection and a licence 
under the additional licensing scheme. 
 

 
 
In Salford, of the 3 and 4 person HMOs that were inspected, 27% were identified as having no 
heating at all, with 64%  having no heating to a shared facility (kitchen and/or bathroom) falling 
into the hazard for excess cold. These properties would require an inspection under the proposed 
additional licensing scheme.  This would assist somewhat in reducing fuel poverty within 
unlicensed HMOs. 
 
 
Fuel Poverty  
 
A household is said to be fuel poor if it has above-average energy costs, and if paying those 
costs would push it below the poverty line as far as its remaining income was concerned. 
 
“Excess cold continues to kill and injure very large numbers of people in England. In 2017/18, 
17,000 deaths were estimated to be directly linked to living in a cold home. Cold has long term 

Page 60



39 

 

effects on the health and wellbeing of both young and old. It has a major impact on our ability to 
provide health and social care, and on the wider economy”8. 
 
One in five households in Greater Manchester struggle to afford to heat their homes (information 
provided by Greater Manchester Poverty Commission). Home insulation and an energy efficient 
boiler can assist in reducing fuel bills and have a positive impact on an individual’s health.  Studies 
have shown people living in cold homes are more likely to develop health issues and respiratory 
illnesses. 
 
In England it was reported that in 2017, 1 in 10 households were fuel poor, the majority being 
within BAND D efficiency rating with 35% living in the private rented sector9. In Salford 12.2% of 
the properties in the private rented sector are in fuel poverty.10 
 
Following a recent survey, the Department of energy and climate change – fuel poverty and HMOs 
March 201611 reports that energy efficiency problems (damp and uncomfortable/unhealthily low 
temperatures) are more prevalent in HMOs than any other type of property. 
 
The energy efficiency problems in HMOs noted are old and expensive electrical heating and 
rooms being used in the roof that are not sufficiently insulated, which can be freezing in winter 
and too hot in summer. Fuel poverty is a concern for HMO residents in terms of the cold and 
associated high bills. 
 
The report acknowledges there is decent quality HMOs for young professionals and better-off 
students. However, HMOs are also the cheapest most affordable housing option for vulnerable 
groups and are often cold. The noted primary barrier to action on cold in HMOs is around the 
older properties that are hard to treat with landlords operating at the lower end of the market who 
have little money to invest in upgrades to cold prevention measures such as insulation, windows 
and heating. 
 

                                                 
8 https://www.cieh.org/media/3762/cieh-excess-cold-enforcement-guidance.pdf 
9 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/808300/Fuel_po
verty_factsheet_2019__2017_data_.pdf 
10 Salford’s Private Sector Housing Stock Condition Survey 2016 
11 Fuel Poverty and Houses in Multiple Occupation: Practitioners’ Views FINAL REPORT Produced for DECC by 
National Energy Action working with Future Climate 28th March 2016 

Page 61

http://www.gmpovertyaction.org/


40 

 

Map 6.15 The estimated percentage of households which are fuel poor in 2016. 

Map 6.16 All HMO’s in Salford showing location of areas of concentration 
 

 
Source: Salford City Council HMO data 2019 

 

Page 62



41 

 

The above maps show firstly the spread of fuel poverty across Salford, followed by a map of the 
known HMOs across Salford. The areas circled on both maps show the concentrations of fuel 
poverty correlate with the concentrations of known licensed 3 and 4 person HMOs in Salford. 
 
Community feedback – impacts of HMOs  
The impacts of 3 and 4 person HMOs are frequently raised by members of the public to the 
Council and its Councillors, and at Community Committee meetings (particularly those for 
Claremont and Weaste, and East Salford).  
 
Anecdotally Some of the issues raised include car parking problems, issues with bins and refuse, 
anti-social behaviour and noise nuisance.  
 
Examples of these complaints include: 
 
“The house next door has been since May 2016 being converted into a multiple occupancy 
house, with four self-contained bedrooms (with a bathroom each) and a communal kitchen. I 
wanted to know whether this is classed as HMO as found on the gov.uk information 
page.  Neighbours were never informed of this plans by the landlord and it is affecting our daily 
life greatly. 
We wanted to know what our rights as neighbours would be regarding this issue.” 
 
“I attach the advert below for a house at the corner of xxxxx Road which is being sold as a 
house share. It is currently a family home. How on earth can this be allowed to happen in a 
family residential area and where we are now facing double yellow lines being but down causing 
pressure on already shortage of parking” 
 
“Looking for advice about a property next to mine that is turning into a HMO. This is a terrace 
house which is identical to ours which is a 3 bed house. My concerns are that we will be 
potentially living next to 6 adults who have 6 cars with 6 lots of rubbish which is not done 
properly this must be a health hazard. This is a major concern with the lack of parking near my 
house as it is this will only decrease if this goes ahead. We have had no contact with the owner 
of the building or prior notice about this property.” 
 

“there is a large sign in the garden advising student accommodation what the residents are 
concerned as to is that previous tenants to the property have been a problem apart from the last 
tenant…. being a residential area with mainly elderly residents who are concerned over the sign 
and to how many students it will occupy once again, thank for the information  i look forward to 
any information you have  with regards to number 1” 

“My query is to whether there is a limit to how many multiple occupancy properties can be 
created in one community. I live in a built-up area where I am seeing more and more building 
works been done in newly bought houses to convert them to MO properties. This has been 
done on two houses on my street alone and it has a major impact on on-street parking, bin and 
household waste collection and the community dynamic too. I really value my area and my 
neighbours and would like to believe it will be protected from investors who are uneducated and 
uninterested in this area and its strong community values. Does the council provide this 
protection.” 

“When next door was changed to HMO, I was reassured by yourselves that there would be 
professional people living next door.  
This was a utter lie. I am sick of the constant banging of door when my husband and I are trying 
to work from home and conduct conference calls in this unprecedented situation we are in which 

Page 63



42 

 

in itself is stressful and then we have to listen to the banging of doors.  It’s unfair as we privately 
own our property and we have to deal with idiots living next door. If you were in this situation, 
you would not tolerate it either!”    
 
 
Feedback from the neighbourhood managers who facilitate such meetings and deal with the 
community’s concerns and complaints have confirmed that these issues are regularly raised at 
the committee meetings and they receive regular complaints about 3 and 4 person HMOs relating 
to bins and waste. 
 
The significant increase in the number of dwellings that are being converted to small HMOs over 
the last couple of years are of concern with complaints from residents relating to the HMOs having 
an impact on community balance.  
 
One community led project has been proposed called ‘Love your street’ as way to tackle regular 
problems associated with the increasing numbers of small HMOs, overflowing bins and fly-tipping. 
Should this project be successful in this area, it is expected to be rolled out across the city as 
“best practice” where the local community want to engage with the authority in tackling the 
negative impacts of HMOs on the neighbouring properties and communities in which they are 
located. 
 
The residents of this group feel that if they can work with their local landlords, the landlord 
licensing team, the residents and tenants on their street they can resolve and reduce the negative 
impacts they are currently experiencing. Their objectives being to educate members of the street 
with regards to refuse, anti-social behaviour and provide them with local information and make 
them feel part of the community. They believe that this will create a street community that is proud 
of their street and the inclusion and integration of new tenants is key. 
 
 
The Act stipulates that a statutory consultation process is required to support any proposal for an 
additional licensing scheme. This consultation process will gather community feedback on the 
proposals which will allow Salford’s residents, landlords and management companies to highlight 
any areas of concern they have about small 3- and 4-bedroom HMO properties. 
 
 
The table below shows the number of fly tipping & dumping of rubbish complaints received by 
the city council on a ward level basis between 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



43 

 

Table 6.17 Fly tipping/dumping numbers and percentages reported  
 
 

1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018 
Fly tipping/dumping 

Ward 
No of 

complaints 

% of 
city 
total 

Barton 224 9.15% 

Boothstown and 
Ellenbrook 24 0.98% 

Broughton 383 15.65% 

Cadishead 65 2.66% 

Claremont 86 3.51% 

Eccles 62 2.53% 

Irlam 38 1.55% 

Irwell Riverside 227 9.27% 

Kersal 154 6.29% 

Langworthy 184 7.52% 

Little Hulton 104 4.25% 

Ordsall 118 4.82% 

Pendlebury 90 3.68% 

Swinton North 86 3.51% 

Swinton South 80 3.27% 

Walkden North 141 5.76% 

Walkden South 59 2.41% 

Weaste and Seedley 178 7.27% 

Winton 114 4.66% 

Worsley 31 1.27% 

Grand Total 2448 100.00% 
Source: Salford City Council Housing refuse data 

 
 
The data from this table has been included in the map below, which also shows the suspected 
small 3 and 4 person HMOs. This data shows the correlation of the concentrations of fly tipping 
& dumping of rubbish complaints with the concentrations of suspected small 3 and 4 person 
HMOs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



44 

 

 
Map 6.18 Location of small 3 and 4 person HMOs in Salford and fly tipping/littering reports across 
Salford 
 

 
Source: Salford City Council Housing refuse data and HMO data 

 
 
By introducing an additional HMO licensing scheme, licensed landlords will be required under the 
licence conditions to educate their tenants on how to dispose of rubbish and provide tenants with 
bins and alley gate keys at the start of any tenancy. 
 
 

Part 7 Benefits of additional HMO licensing  

 
 
The Council would expect the following benefits: 

 A reduction in the negative impacts for tenants of HMO’s  

 Reduction in the negative impacts from HMOs that will benefit the whole community  

 A wider understanding from HMO landlords and agents of expected management 
standards 

 The better protection of the health, safety and welfare of tenants through improved safety 
standards within the HMO 

 Improved management and improved conditions of privately rented accommodation will 
provide quality and choice for residents 

 Licensing will require absentee or unprofessional landlords to employ a professional 
property management approach to actively manage their properties and ensure suitable 
arrangements are in place to deal with any problems that arise  

 Good private landlords would also benefit from not having to compete with poorly managed 
properties that do not meet the required standards  

Page 66



45 

 

 As with mandatory licensing, additional licensing will bring a significant number of 
properties to the Council’s attention that would otherwise have gone undetected.  

 
The requirement to be licensed  
If introduced, the proposed designation will require landlords to obtain a licence for their property, 
subject to certain exemptions.  
 
Where a landlord is not eligible, landlord licences can be refused. An example of this would be if 
the landlord was not a ‘fit and proper’ person or they had poor management arrangements in 
place. The landlord licensing team will work closely with proposed licence holders and where a 
refusal is likely landlords are informed and advised to delegate the responsibility of holding the 
licence to a more appropriate person. This secures the licensing of the property and ensures 
effective management arrangements are in place.  
 
If a landlord fails to meet their duty to licence the property, they may be subject to a prosecution 
in the Magistrates’ Court or alternatively issued with a Civil Penalty of up to £30,000. 
 
Over the last 5 years there has been 18 successful prosecutions against HMO landlords which 
consisted of 5 offences of not having a Mandatory HMO Licence and 13 breaches of the HMO 
management regulations.    
 
Since the introduction of civil penalty notices there has been 4 civil penalties issued for failing to 
have a Mandatory HMO Licence, 17 civil penalties for breaching HMO management regulations 
and 1 civil penalty issued for breaching HMO licence conditions.  The total civil penalties fines 
issued is in excess of £250,000 
 
Following any formal action, landlords remain responsible for licensing their properties should 
they still meet the licensing criteria. In many cases where prosecution has been successful 
landlords have gone on to comply with the licensing requirements and ensure that both the 
management arrangements and the property are up to the required standard.  
 
The ability to deal effectively, appropriately and robustly with landlords who do not responsibly 
manage their properties would continue to play a key role in promoting confidence in the local 
area, encouraging inward investment and increasing the area’s desirability by directly addressing 
the concerns of residents and reputable landlords that the practices of bad landlords, if 
unchallenged, would act to damage the reputation of the area, reduce demand amongst potential 
tenants and lower property values. The positive impact of the previous scheme in this regard is 
shown by the ongoing growth of the private rented sector in the area.  
 
In extreme cases, the council can apply a Management Order to a property and the landlords 
may risk losing control of their property for a period of up to five years, as the council can step in 
and take over the management.  
 
Ensuring landlords and managers are “Fit and Proper” persons  
The designation, if introduced will ensure that all 3 and 4 person HMOs across the city are 
managed by persons who have passed the ‘fit and proper’ test. In order to get a licence, landlords 
will have to show that they and their managing agents are “fit and proper” persons as well as 
providing information on how they manage their properties. When deciding whether a 
landlord/managing agent is “fit and proper” we will look at whether they have:  
a) Committed any serious criminal offences (fraud, violence, drugs or sexual offences);  
b) Discriminated illegally against anyone;  
c) Breached laws that relate to renting property.  
 

Page 67



46 

 

Landlords are informed and advised to delegate the responsibility of holding the licence to a more 
appropriate person or provided with support to improve management arrangements where 
appropriate. This secures the licensing of the property and ensures effective management 
arrangements are in place, which benefits both the tenants and neighbouring properties.  
 
This approach has also supported joint working with police and other agencies on a range of 
issues including proceeds of crime, illegal immigration, safeguarding of children and vulnerable 
adults, benefit fraud and Council Tax fraud.  
 
The ability to contribute effectively to these issues has had a positive effect on confidence in the 
local area, changing the perception of the impacts of the private rented sector amongst residents 
and supporting the promotion of community cohesion. 
 
Improving safety standards  
If a designation is made, the Council will have the power to require the landlord/agent to carry out 
the following actions in respect of each property that requires a licence in the area:   
 
a) Submit a current gas safety certificate every year;  
b) Install and maintain smoke alarms  
c) Provide portable appliance testing (PAT) certification – if appliances are supplied with the 
property. 
  
The above certificates confirm the testing of appliances and installations by registered engineers 
ensuring that they are in a satisfactory condition. These testing and inspection requirements 
reduce the risk of harm to tenants occupying the property and those living in neighbouring 
properties.  
 
The delay or failure in testing, places tenants at an increased risk of injury or harm from potentially 
unsafe appliances and installations.  
 
The assurance provided to neighbours and potential tenants regarding these fundamental safety 
issues has acted to promote private renting in the area as a positive housing choice, improve the 
perception of the sector and increase confidence in the local housing market. 
 
Any licensable HMO will be inspected as part of the application process.  This inspection will 
ensure that the HMO meets all relevant safety, amenity and space standards. 
 
Licence conditions  
 
Once a licence is issued, licence holders are legally bound by the licence conditions which ensure 
effective property management.  
 
The Landlord Licensing team will work with the Council’s environmental crime team in relation to 
tackling issues such as littering and fly tipping. Licensed landlords will be required under the 
licence conditions to educate their tenants on how to dispose of rubbish and provide tenants with 
bins and alley gate keys when they move in.  
 
The Landlord Licensing Team also has the power to revoke licences in circumstances where 
landlords have shown poor management standards or have breached the conditions of their 
licence.  
 
Ensuring compliance with the licence conditions is a key aspect in improving and maintaining the 
high standards expected within the private rented sector in the area.   

Page 68



47 

 

 
In considering the license conditions to be applied under the proposed designation the council 
has considered:  

 the experience it has gained in operating previous licensing schemes,  

 issues and concerns raised by residents and landlords under the previous schemes,  

 changes in other relevant policies such as changes to the refuse collection system 
aimed at promoting re-cycling and improving the appearance of the area. 
 
 

Improving management arrangements 
 
The proposed designation will address the issues of poor property and tenancy management in 
privately rented accommodation, which can undermine even the most radical initiatives. 
Additional HMO licensing will ensure that the increasing numbers of new HMO landlords investing 
in the city are reputable. Investment in the area is welcomed, however, potential investors must 
acknowledge that property management is more than just an income and, as part of the Licensing 
regime, support and advice will be provided to new landlords.  
 
As part the ‘fit and proper test’ referred to above, the Council will also check that the management 
arrangements in place for the property are satisfactory. Landlords who are successful in obtaining 
a licence will have to comply with the conditions of the licence. These conditions ensure that the 
property is managed effectively. Landlords, who do not comply with their licence conditions, may 
find themselves prosecuted and fined, if found guilty with the maximum fine being £5,000 or 
subject to a civil penalty. In extreme cases, the Council can apply a management order to a 
property and the landlords may risk losing control of their property for a period of up to five years, 
as the Council can step in and take over the management.  
 
Non-compliance with HMO standards will be enforced by the Council’s Standards Team utilising 
all available tools such as HHSRS notices and compliance by either issuing civil penalties under 
the Housing and Planning Act 2016 or prosecution. 
 
A civil penalty can be issued as an alternative to prosecution for each separate breach of the 
Houses in Multiple Occupation management regulations. A civil penalty can only be imposed as 
an alternative to prosecution. The maximum penalty is £30,000. The amount of penalty is to be 
determined by the local housing authority in each case. 
 
Civil penalties of up to £30,000 can be issued as an alternative to prosecution for certain specified 
offences; Extension of rent repayment orders to cover illegal eviction; breach of a banning order 
and certain other specified offences. 
 
On 6 April 2018, new measures came into force, namely:  
 

 Banning orders for the most serious offenders;  

 A database of rogue landlords and property agents against whom a banning order has 
been made, which may also include persons convicted of a banning order offence or who 
have received two or more financial penalties. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



48 

 

National Register 
The Housing and Planning Act 2016 introduced a range of measures to help local housing 
authorities tackle rogue landlords and drive up standards in the private rented sector. These 
measures include establishing and operating a database of rogue landlords and property agents. 
 
The database is a new tool for local housing authorities in England to keep track of rogue landlords 
and property agents. Database users will be able to view all entries on the database, including 
those made by other local housing authorities. The database can be searched to help keep track 
of known rogues, especially those operating across council boundaries and will help authorities 
target their enforcement activities. 
 
Banning orders 
Banning orders came into force in April 2018 under the Housing and Planning Act 2016. Local 
Authorities can seek a banning order where landlords or property agents have been convicted 
of a banning order offence. A banning order is an order by the First-tier Tribunal that bans a 
landlord from 

 Letting housing in England;  

 Engaging in English letting agency work;  

 Engaging in English property management work; or  

 Doing two or more of those things.  
Breach of a banning order is a criminal offence. 
 
The banning order offences that are relevant to housing include; 

 Unlawful eviction and harassment of occupier 

 Violence for securing entry 

 Failing to comply with an improvement notice 

 Failing to comply with a prohibition order 

 Offences in relation to licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation  

 Offences in relation to licensing of houses under Part 3 of the Act  

 Contravention of an overcrowding notice  

 Failure to comply with management regulations in respect of Houses in Multiple 
Occupation  

 False or misleading information  

 Fire safety offences  

 Gas safety offences- duties on landlords  
A banning order also prohibits a person from holding an HMO licence or a licence granted under 
a selective licensing scheme. Local authorities must revoke a licence when it has been granted 
to a person who subsequently becomes subject a banning order. 
 
 
Additional HMO Licensing will introduce a consistent level of property management services 
among all HMO landlords in the City, thus assisting prospective private tenants in making a 
positive, confident choice about their next home in Salford within a sector often branded as the 
“tenure of last resort”. Reputable landlords could be assured that if an Additional HMO Licensing 
scheme were in place, those landlords whose business practices do not meet the required 
minimum standards would be encouraged and supported to improve their management 
standards. Landlords who are not willing to work with the Council could face being refused a 
licence and ultimately having a Management Order imposed against the property.  
 
 
 
 

Page 70



49 

 

Improving Landlord Engagement  
 
Salford has operated a voluntary, citywide Landlord Accreditation scheme for over 15 years. The 
scheme is well respected and has formed the basis for similar schemes across the North West 
and beyond. Despite this and the fact that membership of the scheme is free of charge many 
private landlords in the city have failed to take advantage of the benefits offered by Accreditation. 
The take up rate for Accreditation in the proposed area is well below the average for Salford as a 
whole; only 129 landlords are accredited covering 179 properties.  
 
Private landlords who are identified through selective licensing, who may not otherwise engage 
with the council, i.e. through Landlord Accreditation, are provided with useful information such as 
changes in legislation via e-newsletters, forums and direct mailing. Important information can be 
distributed quickly and effectively to landlords and can provide an early warning system for 
landlords.  
 
The Council regularly holds a Landlord Forum which allows landlords to engage with officers. 
Landlords who attend this forum have regularly challenged the Council to deal with “rogue” 
landlords who are able to ‘undercut’ responsible landlords by offering poorly maintained and badly 
managed accommodation at reduced rental prices. Landlords who attend the forum are 
concerned that the practices of these ‘rogue’ landlords have an adverse impact upon the 
reputation of their profession.  
 
Salford’s current licensing schemes has allowed us to build strong working relationships with 
private landlords who would not necessarily have engaged with the Council unless licensing was 
in place. There are several local community groups and committees that operate in this area. For 
a long time, these groups have tried but failed to encourage private landlord participation. 
However, the landlord licensing team’s relationship with landlords has encouraged some 
landlords to have confidence to attend and become actively involved in these meetings. 
 
 

 

Part 8 Other courses of action  

 
Other courses of action available to the Council  
In accordance with section 57(4) of the Act, the council has considered whether there are any 
courses of action available to them (of whatever nature) that might provide an effective method 
of dealing with the problem or problems in question, and also has considered that making the 
designation will significantly assist them to deal with the problem or problems (whether or not they 
take any other course of action as well). 
 
After careful consideration, the council has concluded that an additional HMO licensing 
designation is the most appropriate course of action in the circumstances, and that it will 
significantly assist it in achieving its objectives. 
 
In that regard, alternative approaches to the designation of additional HMO licensing in the area 
have been fully considered by the Council, as set out below – 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



50 

 

Alternative Solutions Weaknesses Strengths 

Landlord and Tenant Liaison 
Officer 

Requires initiative from 
landlord/tenant 
Will not deal with property 
condition 
No enforcement powers 
Limited caseload for Officer 
Source of funding unclear 

One to one 
advice/support to deal 
with specific issue 

Education programme for 
private landlords 

Requires landlord voluntary 
engagement 
Source of funding unclear 
No enforcement powers available 

Improves standards 
where landlord is 
engaged with Authority 
and promotes confidence 
amongst tenants. 
Documented evidence of 
landlord’s engagement  

Private sector leasing 
scheme  

Requires landlord voluntary 
engagement and does not 
improve management standards 
of landlords who chose not to join 
the scheme. 
No enforcement powers available 

Contributes to 
homelessness prevention 
as could be used for 
allocation to those in 
housing need. 

Targeted use of Special 
Interim Management Orders  

Resource intensive 
Does not present a long-term 
solution to poor management of 
private rented properties (up to 
maximum of five years – then 
returned to original owner). 
Does not tackle poor 
management techniques. 
Reactive 
Intervention of last resort. 
Only be used on specific 
properties where detailed 
evidence supports the action. 

Removes landlord 
responsibilities and gives 
to responsible nominated 
agent. 
Improves standards for 
tenants and local 
community. 
 

Proactive inspection regime Resource intensive 
Unless funded – limited capacity 
of existing staff to undertake 
inspections 
Source of funding unclear 
Will not deal with poor 
management standards 

Improves standards for 
tenants and local 
community 

 
 
 
The Council continues to operate a successful Landlord Accreditation scheme; however, despite 
a targeted campaign to encourage landlords in this area to join the scheme, over the last five 
years take up has been very low from HMO landlords. It is a valuable tool and we will endeavour 
to promote and encourage landlords to engage with the Council, however, as there is no 
mandatory requirement for landlords to comply, we do not consider that Landlord Accreditation, 
as a standalone measure, would provide an effective method of achieving the objectives the 
designation is intended to achieve. 
 

Page 72



51 

 

The Council has been unable to identify any practical and beneficial alternative courses of action 
available to it that would achieve the same objective or objectives as the proposed scheme 
without the need for the designation to be made. In that regard, there are several barriers or 
limitations to the use of the alternative courses of action in isolation. To summarise:  

 Aside from the use of targeted management orders and a pro-active inspection regime, 
the other measures require the voluntary engagement of landlords or tenants in order to 
achieve the required objectives.  

 There is the likelihood that some of the finance required to undertake other course of action  
would need to be collected from council tax. This seems unjust when many of the problems 
are caused by the lack of effective tenancy management. Additional HMO licensing will be 
entirely self-financing, paid for by the licence applicants and not the community.  

 The use of Special Interim Management Orders and Empty Dwelling Management Orders 
on all problematic properties would be neither appropriate nor feasible, given the number 
of properties. The Council must act in a proportionate manner and a heavy-handed 
approach would undermine our efforts to work with landlords to improve standards. 
Additional HMO Licensing provides an opportunity to continue to forge partnerships with 
otherwise anonymous private landlords and provide training and support, where the use of 
these orders does not.  

 Council provides a dedicated HMO webpage directly linking landlords to all relevant 
legislation and safety standards, information is widely available, but requires 
engagement/commitment from landlords to research and act on findings.  

 None of these tools provide a long-term solution to the training of inexperienced landlords 
whose business would benefit, either because they are not fit, or because of their poor 
management arrangements.  

 The introduction of Article 4 - planning permission is now required for the change of use of 
dwelling houses to small HMOs in certain areas. Whilst this is welcomed, it will not improve 
the standards of the current private sector stock. 

 
Each of the above courses of action can help to address the problems when combined with an 
additional licensing designation but the Council considers that none of the above would provide 
an effective method of achieving the objective that the designation would be intended to achieve.  
 
Additional HMO licensing is unique in providing a clear and robust legal framework within which 
to engage private landlords and deliver an integrated approach to tackle issues in a 
comprehensive manner to address the challenges across the city and ensure any improvements 
are sustained.  
 
 

Part 9 Additional licensing and the Council’s overall approach to Housing 

 
Section 57 (2) of the Act requires a council to ensure that any exercise of the power to make an 
additional licensing designation is consistent with its overall housing strategy.  
 
Furthermore section 57 (3) of the Act requires a local authority to seek a coordinated approach in 
connection with dealing with homelessness, empty properties and anti-social behaviour both as 
regards combining additional licensing with other courses of action available to the council and 
combining licensing with measures taken by other persons. Additional licensing will support the 
package of measures already in place to bring about improvement in the private rented sector 
particularly small HMO’s and is in line with Councils housing strategy. 
 
 
 

Page 73



52 

 

Partnership working 
  
The introduction of an additional licensing scheme for small 3 and 4 person HMO’s, will work in 
partnership with the following organisations. 
 
 
Greater Manchester Police  
 
A Council’s partners play an important role in ensuring that a designation of additional licensing 
reaches its goal. This partnership approach has resulted in positive outcomes for the community 
in both our mandatory HMO and selective licensing schemes, and as evidenced within our case 
studies. A further example of the partnership approach is where Greater Manchester Police 
(‘GMP’) have experienced a number of reports regarding the behaviour of tenants which has been 
regarded as anti-social or criminal in nature, the Landlord Licensing team has facilitated meetings 
between GMP and the landlords concerned to raise awareness of the incidents and to explore 
how they have impacted negatively upon the community. Following from this action, the Landlord 
Licensing team has been able to provide support to the landlords concerned to help them deal 
with problem tenants.  
 
 
Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service  
 
The Council also works regularly with Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service (‘GMFRS’) 
and has a strong track record of partnership working, reacting to intelligence gathered from 
community visits and responding swiftly to housing related concerns following emergency call 
outs. 
 
For example, if a fire has occurred at a rented property that is subject to licensing, then the team 
will review the fire safety arrangements at the property to ensure they are compliant with the 
licensing conditions. The team will also liaise with and offer support to landlords in dealing with 
the aftermath of such events, particularly where the landlord may live some distance away.  
 
An additional licensing scheme will require all landlords to provide fire safety certificates to 
demonstrate that there is an adequate working fire alarm system in their property, as well as 
floorplans, which could flag any potential concerns about the escape route. Furthermore, each 
property will need an inspection as part of the application process.  
 
The inspection programme will ensure that all small 3 and 4 bedroomed HMOs are compliant with 
the standards specified in national fire safety guidance. Data analysis has shown a high 
percentage of small HMO’s contain fire safety defects or have no provision for fire safety 
whatsoever.  
 
Enforcement action will be taken across all HMO’s that are found lacking a suitable alarm system 
or with a poor means of escape. The Housing Act 2004 places a duty on the Council to consult 
with GMFRS prior to taking enforcement action, e.g. issuing an Improvement Notice.  
 
With an open channel of communication at GMFRS, the team can seek advice or support on all 
matters relating to fire safety. This has positive outcomes; as well as sharing intelligence it gives 
partners confidence that enforcement action is being taken where appropriate and is supported. 
The additional licensing scheme will further enhance this partnership, and ultimately drive up fire 
safety standards in the sector. 
 
 

Page 74



53 

 

UK Visas and Immigration 
 
The Council has often worked with the UK Border Agency (now UK Visas and Immigration) UK 
Border Force and Immigration Enforcement in tackling issues around illegal immigration and 
exploitation of migrant workers across the City. Examples of such issues include landlords raising 
issues relating to the immigration status of their tenants and residents complaining about licensed 
properties potentially being overcrowded. This has resulted in multi-agency visits to the properties 
and the complaints were fully investigated and appropriate actions undertaken.  
 
This action promotes confidence in the community, improves the perception of the sector and the 
area and contributes significantly to addressing issues which could otherwise act to undermine 
community cohesion.  
 
The detailed knowledge of the private rented sector in the area and engagement with landlords 
and residents that resulted from the previous scheme significantly enhanced the council’s ability 
to facilitate this work. The proposed additional licensing scheme designation will contribute 
significantly to sustaining and continuing successful joint working on these sensitive issues that 
has been beneficial to the area. 
 
Multi – Agency Intelligence Hub 
 
A multi-agency intelligence, problem solving, and enforcement hub was established by the 
Council in January 2017.  This hub brings together, in a co-located team based at Pendleton 
Police Station the following partners: 
 

 Police (through partnership teams) 

 Trading Standards 

 Licensing (including financial investigators) 

 Environmental Health (food hygiene, dog wardens, events) 

 Environmental Protection 

 Anti-Social Behaviour 

 Environmental Crime 

 Private Sector Housing (housing standards, empty property and landlord licensing) 

 Housing Advice (Homelessness) 
 
These partners have many tools and powers available to them to carry out intelligence gathering 
and problem-solving tactics which can either prevent crime and disorder or prevent crime and 
disorder from escalating. The hub enables collaborative working with partners in respect of empty 
properties, homelessness and anti-social behaviour amongst other matters.  
 
The focus for the hub is on places and premises of concern that are causing crime and disorder 
in the city. It is recognised that as well as improvements to premises and places, individuals’ 
actions causing these premises and places to be of concern would also be targeted, resulting in 
improvements in the social and economic conditions of an area.  
 
The work of the hub consists of both proactive planned and reactive operations, with the Landlord 
Licensing team playing a key role in intelligence sharing around private landlords. The additional 
HMO Licensing scheme will help to ensure that landlords fulfil their statutory duties regarding 
tenancy management; the Landlord Licensing team can offer advice and support to landlords to 
ensure that they take appropriate and effective action where they receive a complaint about their 
tenants. It is important to recognise that the private rented sector provides housing to many of 
those excluded from other sectors of the market and these can be the most vulnerable sections 

Page 75



54 

 

of society, with issues such as alcohol or drug misuse and a history of anti-social behaviour 
affecting their ability to sustain a tenancy. 
 
 
 
Salford City Council - Neighbourhood Management  
 
The Council has adopted a neighbourhood management approach to delivering services to 
customers, placing the local community at the heart of the decision making. The key to its success 
is ensuring agencies such as the Police, the Primary Care Trust, and Registered Social Landlords, 
City West Housing Trust and Salford City Council respond to local priorities in a co-ordinated 
manner. Within the area this approach has included an intensive neighbourhood management 
approach, working with residents and agencies to address issues around housing, crime and 
community safety and housing within a defined area. Engagement with private landlords via the 
proposed additional licensing scheme will ensure landlords are informed of any issues in the area.  
 
 
Salford City Council - Social Services  
 
Where the Council’s Social Services team has housing related concerns about a service user 
who lives in rented accommodation in an area subject to licensing, they will liaise with the Landlord 
Licensing team, who will investigate the matter and take the appropriate action depending on the 
circumstances of the case. For example, a complaint may refer to a property not having a current 
gas safety certificate. 
 
 
The proposed additional licensing scheme is consistent with the following agendas and strategies 
 
Council Vision – Shaping Our City 
Additional licensing contributes to the transformation of services and to the council’s great eight 
priorities and vision to create a better and fairer Salford and provide the best possibly quality of 
life for the people of the city. 
 
Housing Strategy  
The council’s Housing Strategy “Shaping Housing in Salford 2020” brings together all aspects of 
the council’s comprehensive housing role and has three strategic themes which describe the 
priorities for the council, and it partners for responding to the housing challenges in Salford:    
 
The strategic themes are:  

 Drive housing growth on the city and promote opportunity 

 Increase the number of new homes, including affordable homes 

 Make the best use of existing housing 

 Improve home sand transform places 

 Achieve and maintain the Decent Homes Standard for all social 
housing 

 Improve the quality of existing homes in the private sector 

 Deliver energy efficiency and climate change priorities 

 A partnership approach to enable people to live as independently as possible 

 Ensure housing services meet local need and respond to changes in 
population makeup 

 Support health and wellbeing through good quality homes and 
services 

Page 76



55 

 

 
The strategy sets out key areas for development and action and by imposing licensing conditions 
we can ensure that there is continued progress towards achieving Salford’s vision for housing. 
The designation of an Additional HMO licensing scheme would contribute directly to this vision by 
imposing licensing conditions that improve management standards in the private rented sector, 
ultimately improving the quality of rented homes in the area.  
 
Sustainable Community Strategy for 2009-2024  
The council’s Sustainable Community Strategy “Creating people to opportunities 2009-2024” sets 
out a clear vision and a number of challenging ambitions for Salford. One objective of this policy 
is “improving services and the quality of life” in Salford, which the additional licensing contributes 
to directly by imposing licensing conditions that improve management standards in the private 
rented sector, improving housing conditions and quality of life for private rented tenants.  
 
Local Housing Allowance & Homelessness  
A coordinated approach in connection with homelessness is required, as prescribed under 
Section 57 of the Act. In that regard, additional HMO licensing provides protection for tenants on 
assured shorthold tenancies in unlicensed properties, as a landlord is not allowed to serve a 
Section 21 notice (Notice to Quit) under the Housing Act 1988.  
 
Following changes to the local housing allowance, there is an expected increase in the number 
of people requiring HMO accommodation in order to avoid homelessness. Additional licensing 
will ensure small HMOs with shared facilities will be improved across the city to ensure minimum 
standards are met. 
 
Through the council’s homelessness prevention work, housing options and advice is available as 
well as a Rental Bond Scheme. These activities can assist a household to remain in their current 
home, where appropriate or provide options to enable a planned and timely move and help sustain 
independent living.  
 
The Rental Bond Scheme is promoted to licensed landlords and aims to provide assistance to 
people who can't afford to pay cash deposits. By granting non-cash deposits in the form of a 
written bond guarantee, we can provide people looking for a home with access to private 
accommodation in Salford with landlords whose properties meet the standards of the Landlord 
Accreditation Scheme and the tenant can have reassurance that as a licensed property, it will be 
well managed.  
 
Landlords registered on this scheme agree to operate according to our good practice Code of 
Standards. Additional Licensing will contribute to the overall aims and objectives of the Salford’s 
Homelessness Strategy 2018-2023 with a key action to improve the private sector offer. This 
action includes 

 Enhance Landlord Licensing Schemes 
 Ensure licensed landlords comply with the licence conditions imposed on them 
 Maintain and increase membership of the council’s Voluntary Landlord Accreditation 

scheme 
 Effective implementation of Licensing schemes, where appropriate 
 Robust enforcement of current Licensing schemes 

 
 
Empty properties and other private rented sector measures including Accreditation 
The council recognises the value of a healthy and well managed private rented sector in meeting 
the housing needs of existing and future residents of Salford.  
 

Page 77



56 

 

The council therefore seeks to adopt a balanced and even-handed approach to dealing with 
private landlords that offers practical support and advice to responsible landlords while making 
appropriate use of available statutory powers where that is necessary to protect the interests of 
tenants and other residents.  
 
Additional HMO licensing is one tool used to achieve this goal. The Landlord Licensing Team 
forms part of the council’s Regulatory Services which also includes teams dealing with:  

 Mandatory HMO Licensing  

 Landlord Accreditation  

 Empty Property Enforcement  

 Housing Standards – Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS)  

 Environmental Protection and Community Safety 

 Trading Standards and Licensing 
 
Delivering these functions from within one team is an example of best practice and demonstrates 
a holistic approach to providing services to the private rented sector, which is reflected in the 
excellent progress that has been made in raising standards in the city and supporting private 
landlords in operating their businesses.  
 
This team structure facilitates information sharing and co-ordination of work when dealing with 
properties where complex issues can be involved. This co-ordination reduces the chances of 
landlords becoming confused as to what is being asked of them and any duplication of effort. 
  
Landlords can obtain technical advice regarding work required to their properties, in addition to 
training and support in managing tenancies and marketing of empty properties.  
 
Salford has acknowledged that private renting is increasing and that letting and managing 
properties can be challenging. This has led to the innovative creation of Salford Property link, 
which is a not for profit ethical service that aims to help landlords of privately rented properties 
find the right tenant, manage the property on their behalf and even guarantee rent for the whole 
of the agreement.  
 
Equally, where problem properties are identified the full range of available interventions can be 
brought to bear quickly to provide a comprehensive response, increasing the probability of 
delivering a prompt and sustainable solution.  
 
Additional HMO licensing will directly address issues around the physical condition of properties, 
working as part of this approach allows the licensing team to continue to call on additional 
resources, expertise and statutory powers where such issues are identified in properties as part 
of their work.  
 
 
Anti-Social Behaviour  
Tackling anti-social behaviour (ASB) is now synonymous with effective neighbourhood and 
tenancy management and the creation of sustainable communities. It is essential that private 
landlords take their responsibilities seriously and work with local agencies to ensure that 
communities do not suffer from persistent anti-social behaviour from private tenants.  
 
Effective information sharing and good standards of tenancy management are of key importance 
in supporting communities and preventing any spiral of decline.   
 

Page 78



57 

 

The Salford Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnership is made up of public and private agencies. 
Our Community Safety Unit, which includes the ASB Intervention and Action team, are tasked 
with tackling anti-social behaviour by responding to complaints perpetrated within the private 
rented sector. This involves working with agencies such as the police, witness outreach and 
Developing Initiatives Supporting Communities (DISC formerly Assfam) to develop case 
intervention strategies where problems are identified.  
 
Over crowding 
Occupancy will be managed in all licensed HMOs to reduce the risk of overcrowding. 
 
Recycling & rubbish 
Implementing additional licensing will require landlords, managing agents & tenants to adhere to 
waste & recycling conditions. This will contribute to Salford’s vision of working towards zero waste 
it will also tackle the numerous complaints we receive from the local communities about waste, 
recycling & fly tipping. 
 
Energy Efficiency & Fuel Poverty 
Additional licencing will improve energy efficiency and contribute towards the corporate vision of 
low carbon communities by ensuring, where needed, energy ratings are improved. Furthermore, 
it will support the Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards for landlords to bring their homes up to 
a Band E standard. 
 
P 

Part 10 Proposed Licence Conditions  

 
As explained in the consultation document an additional HMO licence would be granted with a 
set of conditions that must be adhered to. Failing to adhere to any licence condition is a criminal 
offence and may result in either prosecution and a fine, or a civil penalty, if found guilty. However, 
from the 6 April 2017, under the Housing and Planning Act 2016 a Council can impose a Civil 
Penalty of up to £30,000 as an alternative to a prosecution for this offence.   
 
There are proposed licence conditions. These conditions ensure the property is managed 
correctly, complaints of anti-social behaviour are dealt with appropriately and in a timely manner, 
gas and portable appliance test certificates are supplied to the Licensing team and smoke alarms 
are kept in working order, amongst other things.  
  
The proposed conditions have been drawn up from experience of other schemes and in 
consultation with internal and external partners to deal with issues which are of real concern in 
the community. We actively invite your comments as to whether these proposed conditions best 
reflect the issues in the proposed area.  
 
The proposed additional HMO licence conditions can be found in Annex 1 of this report.  
 

Part 11 Proposed Fee’s  

 
The Council has the power to charge landlords a fee for processing their application for an 
additional HMO licence. The proposed fee considers all costs incurred by the Council in carrying 
out its licensing functions. The Act also allows Councils to consider costs incurred by them in 
carrying out their functions in relation to Interim and Final Management Orders (so far as they are 
not recoverable under that part of the Act). 
 

Page 79



58 

 

The proposed licensing fees are based upon best practice and experience from existing licensing 
schemes.  The proposed fee will cover the costs of administrating monitoring and enforcing the 
additional HMO licensing scheme to ensure the scheme is self-financing, should it be 
implemented.  
 
The Council proposes to charge a basic fee of £1085 for a licence. We want a licensing fee 
structure that rewards landlords who comply in a timely manner and we are considering suitable 
options for landlords with numerous properties. We recognise the current economic climate for 
landlords, and we are therefore willing to consider, and request your views on longer payment 
terms enabling landlords to pay the fee over a longer period. 
 
Proposed Fees  
 
We welcome your comments on the proposed fee structure: 
 

Date application received Proposed fee  

HMO application £1085 (1st application) 
£1052(subsequent 
applications) 

 
 
 

Part 12 How is the consultation being carried out? 

 
Before making an additional HMO licensing designation the Council must take reasonable steps 
to consult persons who are likely to be affected by the designation and consider any 
representations made during the consultation and not withdrawn. 
 
This consultation is being carried out over a 10 - week period and will be widely publicised using 
various channels of communication. Everyone who responds to this consultation will have their 
view acknowledged and responded too. All comments received will be fully considered.  
 
Once the consultation has been completed the results will be published and made available to 
the local community. This feedback will be in the form of a summary of the responses received 
during the stakeholder consultation and will explain how the responses have been acted on or 
not, with full reasons. Following this, a report will be produced based on the findings and will be 
presented to the Lead Member for Housing and Neighbourhoods.  
 
The method in which this will take place will take into account current COVID-19 legislation and 
guidance to ensure that it is conducted in a safe manner.  
 
 
Persons to be consulted  
 
The Council is required to take reasonable steps to consult with persons likely to be affected by 
the designation 56(3). The council consider that this group includes residents, tenants, landlords, 
their managing agents and other members of the community who live or operate businesses or 
provide services within the city. Everyone who responds to this consultation will have their view 
fully considered.  
 
 
 

Page 80



59 

 

Salford has a comprehensive engagement and consultation process with partners, stakeholders 
and includes 

 Private landlords  

 Managing agents (where appropriate)  

 Accredited private landlords  

 Private tenants  

 Local communities  

 Tenant and resident associations  

 Landlord associations  

 Citizens Advice Bureau  

 Registered providers of social housing  

 Local community committees 

 Locally elected members  

 Local businesses  

 Greater Manchester Police  

 Other Salford City Council teams including Social Services, Homelessness and 

 Housing Advice  
 
Methods of consultation  
 

 Salford City Council website: included at a later date  

 We will write to all accredited landlords, all licensed landlords and their managing agents, 
and landlord, tenant and resident associations who operate in the City 

 The consultation will be promoted on social media, such as Facebook and Twitter  

 We will supply a press release to local media.  

 An online survey questionnaire will be available to landlords, residents and businesses 
who operate within the City. (those who are unable to do this will be able to contact the 
team for their views to be collected)   

 Members of Landlord Licensing team will be attending virtual community meetings, for 
example - community committees in line with COVID-19 legislation and guidance.  

 Articles about the proposals will be published in local community newsletters.  
 
 
How do I respond to the consultation?  
 
For your comments to be considered, you must provide them to us by 5Th January 2021  
 
The questionnaire is an online survey and can be accessed using the attached weblink. If you are 
unable to complete the online questionnaire please contact the Licensing Team who will provide 
the survey in an alternative format.  
 
Everyone who responds to this consultation will have their view acknowledged and fully 
responded to. All responses received will be fully considered. If you would like any further 
information or wish to talk to us generally about the Additional licensing proposals, please contact:  
 

Email: landlord.licensing@salford.gov.uk 
Web: www.salford.gov.uk/INSERT 

 
 

We look forward to receiving your comments and views 
 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

1 
 

Contents Page 
  

Results of the questionnaire 2 
Letter from NRLA  23 
Letters and emails from landlords, agents, residents & community  25 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

2 
 

Question 1  

Please tell us your full postcode, this will help understand if 
there are different views from residents in different areas. 

Percentage Number 

BS26 0.58% 1 

M21 0.58% 1 

M25 1.16% 2 

M27 11.05% 19 

M28 5.81% 10 

M3 4.07% 7 

M30 9.88% 17 

M33 0.58% 1 

M35 0.58% 1 

M38 2.91% 5 

M44 0.58% 1 

M5 12.21% 21 

M6 38.95% 67 

M7 4.65% 8 

M9 0.58% 1 

NP7 0.58% 1 

SK14 1.16% 2 

WA13 0.58% 1 

WA4 0.58% 1 

Blank  2.91% 5 

TOTAL   172 
*Numbers reflect the respondents who answered this particular question 

Question 2 

Are you responding to this consultation as: 
 

Percentage Number 

A resident living in a property that could be affected by the 
Additional Licensing proposal 

 
14.6% 

 
23 

A resident living in a property in Salford that would not be affected 
by the proposal 

 
47.8% 

 
75 

 
A resident living outside Salford 

 
1.3% 

 
2 

A landlord or letting agent with properties that could be affected 
by the Additional Licensing proposal 

 
19.8% 

 
31 

A landlord or letting agent with properties in Salford that would not 
be affected by this proposal 

 
15.9% 

 
25 

 
A landlord or letting agent with properties outside Salford 

 
0.6% 

 
1 

 
Total 

 
100% 

 
157 

*Numbers reflect the respondents who answered this particular question 

 

 

Page 84



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

3 
 

Question 3 

Having read the information in the consultation document, to 
what extent do you agree that there has been an increase in 

the private rented properties in Salford? 
 

Percentage Number 

 
Strongly Agree 
 

 
56.4% 

 
96 

 
Agree 
 

 
21.2% 

 
36 

 
Neither Agree nor Disagree 
 

 
9.5% 

 
16 

 
Disagree 
 

 
3.5% 

 
6 

 
Strongly Disagree 
 

 
4.7% 

 
8 

 
Don’t Know 
 

 
4.7% 

 
8 

 
Total 

 
100% 

 
170 

       *Numbers reflect the respondents who answered this particular question 

 

Question 4 

To what extent do you or would you agree that there has 
been an increase in the number of small 3 / 4 person HMO’s 

in Salford? 
 

Percentage Number 

 
Strongly Agree 
 

 
48% 

 

 
81 

 
Agree 
 

 
27% 

 
46 

 
Neither Agree nor Disagree 
 

 
11% 

 
19 

 
Disagree 
 

 
4% 

 
7 

 
Strongly Disagree 
 

 
3% 

 
5 

 
Don’t Know 
 

 
7%  

 
12 

 
Total 

 
100% 

 
170 

       *Numbers reflect the respondents who answered this particular question 

 

 

 

Page 85



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

4 
 

Question 5 

Having read the information in the consultation document, to 
what extent do you support or oppose Additional HMO 

Licensing? 
 

Percentage Number 

 
Strongly Support 
 

 
56.4% 

 
96 

 
Tend to Support 
 

 
9.4% 

 
16 

 
Neither Support nor Oppose 
 

 
2.2% 

 
4 

 
Tend to Oppose 
 

 
4.5% 

 
8 

 
Strongly Oppose 
 

 
26.4% 

 
45 

 
Don’t Know 
 

 
1.1% 

 
2 

 
Total 

 
100% 

 
170 

       *Numbers reflect the respondents who answered this particular question 

Question 6 

To what extent do you agree or disagree that there is an 
issue with the management of houses in multiple occupation 

that are occupied by 3 or 4 persons from 2 or more 
households? 

 

Percentage Number 

 
Strongly Agree 
 

 
51.8% 

 
88 

 
Agree 
 

 
15.9% 

 
27 

 
Neither Agree nor Disagree 
 

 
7.0% 

 
12 

 
Disagree 
 

 
10.0% 

 
17 

 
Strongly Disagree 
 

 
12.9% 

 
22 

 
Don’t Know 
 

 
2.4% 

 
4 

 
Total 

 
100% 

 
170 

       *Numbers reflect the respondents who answered this particular question 

 

 

 

 

Page 86



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

5 
 

Question 7 

 
The scheme should apply to the whole of Salford 

 

Percentage Number 

 
Strongly Agree 
 

 
60.0% 

 
102 

 
Agree 
 

 
7.0% 

 
12 

 
Neither Agree nor Disagree 
 

 
0.6% 

 
1 

 
Disagree 
 

 
5.4% 

 
9 

 
Strongly Disagree 
 

 
24.1% 

 
41 

 
Don’t Know 
 

 
2.9% 

 
5 

 
Total 

 
100% 

 
170 

       *Numbers reflect the respondents who answered this particular question 

 

Question 8 

 
The scheme should only apply to certain areas of Salford 

 

Percentage Number 

 
Strongly Agree 
 

 
5.4% 

 
9 

 
Agree 
 

 
11.4% 

 
19 

 
Neither Agree nor Disagree 
 

 
12.0% 

 
20 

 
Disagree 
 

 
15.1% 

 
25 

 
Strongly Disagree 
 

 
51.2% 

 
85 

 
Don’t Know 
 

 
4.9% 

 
8 

 
Total 

 
100% 

 
166 

       *Numbers reflect the respondents who answered this particular question 

 

 

 

 

Page 87



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

6 
 

Question 9 

If so, which areas 
 

Percentage Number 

Barton 16.0% 10 

Boothstown/Ellenbrook 1.7% 1 

Broughton 13.0% 8 

Cadishead 0.0% 0 

Claremont 9.8% 6 

Eccles 13.0% 8 

Irlam 1.7% 1 

Irwell Riverside 0.0% 0 

Kersal 1.7% 1 

Langworthy 8.2% 5 

Little Hulton 6.6% 4 

Ordsall 5.0% 3 

Pendlebury 5.0% 3 

Swinton North 3.4% 2 

Swinton South 0.0% 0 

Walkden North 0.0% 0 

Walkden South 0.0% 0 

Weaste/Seedley 8.2% 5 

Winton 1.7% 1 

Worsley 5.0% 3 

Total 100% 61 

            *Numbers reflect the respondents who answered this particular question 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 88



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

7 
 

Question 10 

 
Thinking about 3 and 4 person HMO’s which of the following do you feel applies? 
 

 
 
 
 

 
STRONGLY 

AGREE 

 
TEND 

TO 
AGREE 

 
NEITHER 
AGREE 

OR 
DISAGREE 

 

 
TEND TO 

DISAGREE 

 
STRONGLY 
DISAGREE 

 
DON’T 
KNOW 

 
TOTAL 

 
The 
properties 
are poorly 
managed 
 

 
33% 

 
(56) 

 
26% 

 
(45) 

 
12% 

 
(21) 

 
8% 

 
(13) 

 
15% 

 
(25) 

 
6% 

 
(10) 

 
100% 

 
(170) 

 
The 
properties 
are in poor 
condition 
 

 
27% 

 
(46) 

 
 

 
30% 

 
(51) 

 
15% 

 
(26) 

 
11% 

 
(18) 

 
12% 

 
(20) 

 
5% 

 
(9) 

 
100% 

 
(170) 

 
The 
properties 
are not 
routinely 
maintained 
 

 
36% 

 
(62) 

 
25% 

 
(42) 

 
12% 

 
(20) 

 
9% 

 
(16) 

 
13% 

 
(23) 

 
5% 

 
(8) 

 
100% 

 
(171) 

 
Tenants for 
the 
properties 
are not 
vetted 
 

 
33% 

 
(56) 

 

 
19% 

 
(33) 

 
13% 

 
(23) 

 
10% 

 
(17) 

 
16% 

 
(27) 

 
9% 

 
(15) 

 
100% 

 
(171) 

 
The 
properties 
have waste 
management 
issues 
 

 
47% 

 
(80) 

 
22% 

 
(37) 

 
7% 

 
(12) 

 
7% 

 
(12) 

 
12% 

 
(20) 

 
5% 

 
(9) 

 

 
100% 

 
(170) 

    *Numbers (in brackets) reflect the respondents who answered this particular question  

 

 

 

Page 89



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

8 
 

Question 11 

 
What impact do you think this proposal would have on you 

and/or your business/organisation? 
 

Percentage Number 

 
Positive Impact 
 

 
54% 

 
91 

 
Mixed Positive and Negative Impact 
 

 
10% 

 
16 

 
Negative Impact 
 

 
25% 

 
43 

 
No Impact 
 

 
6% 

 
10 

 
Don’t Know 
 

 
5% 

 
9 

 
Total 

 
100% 

 
169 

       *Numbers reflect the respondents who answered this particular question 

 

Question 12 

 
Is the base fee of £1,085 per property appropriate? 

 

Percentage Number 

 
Too High 
 

 
40% 

 
68 

 
About Right 
 

 
31% 

 
53 

 
Too Low 
 

 
24% 

 
40 

 
Don’t Know 
 

 
5% 

 
8 

 
Total 

 
100% 

 
169 

       *Numbers reflect the respondents who answered this particular question 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

9 
 

Question 13 

 
To what extent do you agree or disagree that reduced fees should be offered too? 
 
 
 
 
 

 
STRONGLY 

AGREE 

 
TEND TO 
AGREE 

 
NEITHER 

AGREE OR 
DISAGREE 

 

 
TEND TO 

DISAGREE 

 
STRONGLY 
DISAGREE 

 
DON’T 
KNOW 

 
TOTAL 

 
Landlords 
who sign 
up before 
the 
scheme's 
launch 
date 

 
 

23% 
 

(38) 
 
 

 
 

24% 
 

(40) 

 
 

13% 
 

(22) 

 
 

10% 
 

(16) 

 
 

22% 
 

(37) 

 
 

8% 
 

(13) 

 
 

100% 
 

(166) 

 
Landlords 
who are 
already 
members 
of an 
accredited 
landlord 
scheme 
 

 
 
 

27% 
 

(45) 
 
 

 
 
 

31% 
 

(52) 

 
 
 

10% 
 

(17) 

 
 
 

7% 
 

(11) 

 
 
 

17% 
 

(28) 

 
 
 

8% 
 

(13) 

 
 
 

100% 
 

(166) 

 
Landlords 
who sign 
up before 
the 
scheme's 
launch 
date AND 
are 
members 
of an 
accredited 
landlord 
scheme 
 

 
 
 
 

32% 
 
 

(53) 
 

 
 
 
 

29% 
 
 

(48) 

 
 
 
 

10% 
 
 

(17) 

 
 
 
 

6% 
 
 

(9) 

 
 
 
 

16% 
 
 

(26) 
 

 
 
 
 

7% 
 
 

(11) 

 
 
 
 

100% 
 
 

(164) 

    *Numbers (in brackets) reflect the respondents who answered this particular question 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

10 
 

Question 14 

 
To what extent do you support or oppose licence conditions to regulate the following? 
 

 
 
 
 

 
STRONGLY 
SUPPORT 

 
TEND TO 
SUPPORT 

 
NEITHER 
SUPPORT  

OR 
OPPOSE 

 

 
TEND TO 
OPPOSE 

 
STRONGLY 

OPPOSE 

 
DON’T 
KNOW 

 
TOTAL 

 
Tenancy 
Management 
 
 

 
63% 

 
(107) 

 

 
10% 

 
(17) 

 
6% 

 
(10) 

 
4% 

 
(6) 

 
14% 

 
(24) 

 
3% 

 
(5) 

 
100% 

 
(169) 

 
Property  
Management 
 
 

 
65% 

 
(112) 

 
11% 

 
(18) 

 

 
6% 

 
(10) 

 
2% 

 
(3) 

 
13% 

 
(22) 

 
3% 

 
(5) 

 
100% 

 
(170) 

 
Anti-social 
Behaviour 
 
 

 
70% 

 
(118) 

 
9% 

 
(15) 

 
4% 

 
(6) 

 
2% 

 
(4) 

 
12% 

 
(20) 

 

 
3% 

 
(5) 

 
100% 

 
(168) 

    *Numbers (in brackets) reflect the respondents who answered this particular question 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 92



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

11 
 

Question 14 - Comments 

Do you have any specific comments about licence conditions, or any suggestions for 
alternative or additional conditions? 
 

Property management is important - regularly see IMHOs where tenants do not follow recycling 
of waste and overfill bins. 
 

Make sure the fire doors don't bang shut causing loud noises 
 

Parking must be addressed, waste and size of bins increased to stop fly tipping, vetting to stop 
drug dealers and users or criminal history in family areas, over 21 in certain family areas, no 
prison licence persons or housing for people with extensive criminal history  
 

Too many HMOs.  Shortage of small family homes. 
 

% you of the fee put toward initiatives / projects identified by local tenants / residents / landlords 
e.g community gardens / traffic management. 
  

The fee should be charged pro rata when a new license is purchased on time but part way 
through the 5 year period. 
 

I feel there must be a better way or that good landlords should be rewarded and not penalised.  
 

Energy performance certificates should be rated at E or better.  Minimum room square footage 
sizes. Mandatory living rooms.  
 

How are you going to systematically control the problems caused in Salford by those residents 
in private accommodation or in single family lets. You are currently considering discriminating 
against those who choose to live in shared accommodation. I think this could be interpreted as a 
simple revenue generation scheme. 
 

COUNCIL DOING OUR LIFE DIFFICULT WITH ORDER  STOP REQUEST LANDLORD 
LICENSING CERTIFICATE PAT CERTIFICATE. I am frequently getting email council non-stop 
ordering do this do that ,this certificate, that certificate  l am suffering all your request tried me 
..non-stop ordering. Property under my responsibility why council belongs to my property council 
do human life difficult  With their order..   
Why do need to Landlord LICENSING l am not drive property why l need certificate . Council 
making money with this cause  I AM SUFFERING BECAUSE OF COUNCIL REQUEST AND  
COUNCIL CHARGE ..STOP  council. Please stop this things ..    Kind regards    TATAR     
 

I do not agree with this scheme 
 

Don't you trust landlords and companies to look after their own properties and tenants? 
 

Page 93



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

12 
 

You say this isn't about profit, so why bring it in? You won't stop the rogues by introducing 
licencing. This will do nothing more than add a cost to responsible landlords. The rogues won't 
suddenly start to comply. They will simply adapt & find ways to remain invisible. You will end up 
persecuting the responsible for minor breaches, whilst the truly deplorable will continue to 
invisibly exploit the less fortunate.  
 

Much will depend on how and how often, after being licenced, landlords and properties are 
checked and action taken against landlords who don't comply. 
 

Particular concern to ensure that tenancy management includes issues around waste 
management/ recycling/ tipping and keeping gardens free of dumped material 

Landlords already do this, and having extra time consuming and costly license is not a good 
thing for anyone - especially the tenants! 
 

just focus on all rentals - don't single out HMOs where landlords sign up on a voluntary basis 
 

You cannot control any anti-social behaviour within the defined parameters already. Why would 
anything different happen. I repeat landlords have not benefitted from any licensed areas. You 
have NO justification for doing this. We are not paying to support other areas of overspend in 
your council nor just to keep you all in a job. It's if no benefit whatsoever. 
 

The landlords should be contactable by the neighbours to express noise and other anti-social 
behaviour. 
 

Try to clean the council tenant in some areas like in Nadine Street, M6 5WG the first few 
properties in the beginning of the road full of council tenants which causing a lot of trouble and 
always gangs standing around the corner selling drugs and fixing vehicles on the road in 
addition to every few weeks emergency service need to be called for different issues. 
 

You give no support when tenants display anti-social behaviour in existing licenced HMO 
properties so this will not address this issue.    
 

How do you regulate tenancy management? If it would for example require landlords to carry out 
credit checks, this is totally unreasonable and in poor areas pointless anyway as most tenants 
would fail credit checks. 
 

There are also parking issues in some cases 
 

Anti-social behaviour, poor sanitation and poverty is already high in Salford and believe HMOs    
have a direct link to these issues within the community. Salford already has problems and 
increasing HMOs will increase this issue. 
 

I have concerns regarding controlling tenancy, ie. occupants, after a licence has been issued.  A 
new licence must be issued for each change of tenancy designation, not individual tenants. 

THE TERMS SHOULD REQUIRE THAT FULL INSURACE COVER IS IN PLACE BY THE 
LANDLORDS 
 

Page 94



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

13 
 

Where anti-social behaviour is concerned I'm not sure what powers the council has, but if a 
tenant has to be evicted at cost to the landlord they may be more concerned about the 
behaviour of their tenants.   I'm sure many landlords are good, so it is important to  
help those who are good, as far as the council's powers permit but penalise those who are bad.  
 

Particularly am issue for terraced houses where noise is disruptive for adjoining houses.   Waste 
management advice to be adhered to. Not to just refurbish a property and leave the old bath, 
fridges, matresses, etc at the back in the alleys and tenants to abide by the rules  
too as rubbish is put in an incorrect colour bin and then they take bins from other residents.     
Parking can be an issue where 4 additional cars are on the street for a family home of two cars 
max. 
 

This should all be covered under existing rules, the legislation should cover all rented properties. 
 

One HMO per street   I have 5 HMO properties in my street.  
 

Anti-social behaviour is not only related to the quality of where someone lives, but the quality of 
their environment. Much of Salford is cut up by big, congested, dangerous roads and sections of 
depressing and poorly maintained industrial estate. Anti-social behaviour cannot be purely 
regulated through improving housing conditions, though it may well help, the broader 
environment must also be taken into consideration. 
 

Some agents operate smaller HMO without even conforming to the HMO Regs because they fall 
under the radar, aren’t advertised, no boards outside but are all over spare room etc. It’s 
seriously wrong.  
 

protecting neighbours  
 

I am aware that this could hinder those on UC etc getting tenancies I’m not sure of the solution 
to that.  
 

The waste from none licensed properties in my opinion is causing lots of problems locally. The 
areas are becoming dirty and full of rubbish with rats running about. 
  

As I said all owners or agents should check properties. 
  

I think this is completely unnecessary as a general policy. If there are specific problems in 
specific properties address those; there is no requirement to tar everyone with the same brush. 

We are going back a hundred years with HMO, it should be banned altogether, wealthy 
landlords who don't live in Salford making money off the backs of poor people and making an 
overcrowded city worse than it is now. 
 

Ensure sufficient bins, give neighbours a way of contacting landlords if there is a problem 
 

Un-trained landlords should have to prove they have undergone at least on-line training modules 
on the basics of HMO management, plus Fire Safety, before being granted an Additional 
Licence. These are run by NRLA. 
 

Page 95



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

14 
 

Capping of rent charged per room as landlords are charging too much for a room.  
 

Waste disposal is a huge issue so there should be some kind of additional fee to provide and 
collect additional bins every week. 
 

I would like to see these landlords paying business rates as they are basically running a 
business. It is unfair to all of the residents in other houses in our area that these landlords are 
paying the same council tax and charging up to £2000 a month in rent. This is outrageous, apart 
from pricing our local young people out of the housing market. 
 

It is very challenging for a landlord to control anti-social behaviour of tenants, it effectively 
makes them responsible for the actions of another person. Re references for tenants where are 
tenants with bad references expected to live, the law does not allow someone to be continually 
held accountable for past actions but the licence scheme may mean tenants who have 
previously behaved badly or received a malicious bad reference from a landlord are prevented 
from living near friend’s family and support networks. In extreme cases uprooting children and 
hence moving and worsening a problem rather than addressing the cause.  
 

Landlords and letting agents should be held jointly responsible for maintaining properties inside 
and out. 
 

The industry is already over regulated. 
 

Licensing paid for by landlords, the real cost of which is never revealed by the council, does not 
address these points. 
 

Fines should be applied to individual properties or landlords that are not committed to 
maintaining their properties. Rather than a blanket licence fee for those that do take care of their 
properties and ensure tenants are thoroughly checked before signing an agreement. Go after 
those that don't rather than burdening the good landlords looking after their properties with more 
red tape which takes money away that could be used for maintaining the houses and area.  
 

More should be done to identify small and large HMO properties managed by owners working 
'under the radar' - and therefore avoiding any current or future licensing proposals. A 
requirement for residents to provide details of their occupancy (rented or owner occupied) in 
their electoral role registration would go some way to assist Salford's licensing team in 
identifying the criminal landlords. The outcome of increased enforcement would no doubt result 
in more compliance - and enable the council to rebut the suggestion that the licensing schemes 
are simply used by the council as a 'cash cow'. 
 

property management is already regulated what would your additional regulations involve 
 

The fee proposed is extremely high and I don’t understand how the figure is calculated. I think 
the council should break down the figure so landlords understand what they are actually paying 
for.  
 

Page 96



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

15 
 

Your questions are not tailored to object to these proposals....you ask to specify which area 
should be included....yet I oppose this. You should not asked closed questions in a survey...it is 
not well constructed and does not offer fair opinion. Check this with your  
legal team.  

 

Question 15 – Comments 

Do you have any further comments about the proposal to introduce Additional HMO 
Licensing? Please include any suggestions for alternative ways of dealing with 
problems in small 3 and 4 person HMO's, or any ideas for improving the scheme 
 

I fully support the Council's plans. 
 

This is a massive issue in Little Hulton with family homes turned into hmo’s without any 
monitoring or accountability 
 

Council should be the landlords. Offer short term tenancies that increase in length to 
reward responsible tenant behaviour in keeping with surrounding area and properties  
 

There are too many HMOs. Ridiculous to propose HMOs in mid-terraces because of bad 
impact on the existing residents; overcrowding and noise; parking etc. 
 

Increased costs for landlords are not good. 
 

We welcome the proposals. 
 

In my experience the licensing scheme in Salford is very very poorly managed and is bad 
value for money. I’m all for such a scheme but would like to see an improvement in 
management, accountability and most importantly a direct impact on the community. I 
love to see some of the money I pay as a fee go toward community managed projects -  
something local residents identified and put in place and improve the community in which 
they live. When I lived in a selective licensing area it was the Housing Association 
properties which had the biggest (negative impact/increased in) ASB and they should be 
subject to the same condition abs have direct engagement with all residents.  
 

Landlords who are complained about should be investigated and fined if they are not up 
to scratch.   
 

I don't see how there is a correlation between fly tipping and location of 3/4 bed HMOs as 
inferred by the report. Yes there are 3/4 bed HMOs in the same locations as reports of fly 
tipping but there are more reports of fly tipping outside of the identified 3/4 bed HMOs.    I 
think that the report is unfairly balanced and mentions no case studies of well run  
3/4 person HMOs. Perhaps the council could engage more with licensed HMO landlords 
to ask for their views on solutions and to visit their HMOs that fall in this category. The 
proposed fee is very high and this should be justified with a breakdown of the cost to 
administer the scheme. In conclusion, I believe that additional HMO licensing punishes 
compliant landlords who provide high quality, affordable, rental accommodation, and that 
bad landlords who fly under the radar will continue to do so. 
 

Page 97



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

16 
 

COUNCIL DOING OUR LIFE DIFFICULT WITH ORDER  STOP REQUEST LANDLORD 
LICENSING CERTIFICATE PAT CERTIFICATE     
I am frequently getting email council non stop ordering do this do that ,this certificate, that 
certificate  l am suffering all your request tried me ..non stop ordering. Property under my 
responsibility why council belongs to my property council  
do human life difficult  With their order..  Why do need to Landlord LICENSING l am not 
drive property  l DONT  need certificate . Council making money with this cause  I AM 
SUFFERING BECAUSE OF COUNCIL REQUEST AND  COUNCIL  
CHARGE ..STOP  council Please stop this things ..     
   
 

Provide more purpose built affordable social housing.   
 

Deal with them INDIVIDUALLY. Spend your time and money on the few people who need 
your support not on the vast majority of landlords who see their properties as an 
investment and so therefore invest in them.  
 

Instead of licensing, bring in a good landlord register. Sure, charge us a small fee to be on 
it, but make the scheme desirable to be part of. Forcing this on people just isn't a good 
idea. The best schemes are those we want to be a part of, not ones that treat us like 
children. And let's be honest, government hasn't shown us that you understand our 
market. Strip thus down to component parts. Good landlords make good profits, so that's 
our encouragement. Bad landlords either go away or go underground to exploit the 
vulnerable.licensing does nothing to address that problem.  
 

It’ll potentially criminalise small ad-hoc let’s to live-in tenants not intended to be covered 
by the scheme or discriminate against alternative lifestyles. 
 

I look forward to seeing more improvements to improve Salford and the lives of Salford 
residents. Thank you. 
 

The issue we have is that HMOs are popping up as badly-renovated houses done at 
minimal cost, which means badly insulated and prone to mould/condensation and a 
higher carbon footprint. The way that these houses are finished off is testament to this 
(e.g. yard walls, paving in alley, external guttering etc). It's clear that landlords are in this 
to make as much money as possible, with as little interaction/responsibility of the tenants. 
As of today, we have two HMOs in this street where the tenants still don't put their rubbish 
out on bin days, and the landlords don't take responsibility. We residents have to then 
chase these landlords, who might or might not act, and then repeat the process a few 
months down the line. So really, we need the Council to take this situation in hand - it's 
out of control, and we need much more stringent enforcement on proper initial building 
renovation standards as well as ongoing responsibilities to community/tenants. So it's 
great that this licensing proposition is in progress!    Thanks. 
 

Terrible idea for all - including the council who will make money on the scheme - but then 
have to deal with extra tenants being evicted through court with nowhere to go, as not 
worthwhile for landlord to have house as an HMO anymore! 
 

Page 98



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

17 
 

The only people who would be against this are landlords who do not care about their 
tenants. It is a good scheme and I hope it is implemented as soon as possible. 
 

It is ridiculously overpriced and now student won't have as many accommodation options. 
 

Where is your evidence that any problems exist ?   
 
 

Stop allowing the creation of more HMOs in Salford. You are only adding to the problems. 
 

The licence fee could be raised for a landlord who fails to meet standards and be lower 
for a landlord who does their best to provide good quality accommodation for tenants. All 
HMOs should be monitored and new ones prevented from being created if this would 
cause too many in a small area. Too many family homes are being wiped out by HMOs  
leaving poor families unable to afford renting affordable houses and therefore being 
forced to move away or into unsuitable housing. We need to think about how we can 
create community housing that supports the Salford residents, not the property 
developers wanting to boost their pensions. 
 
 

Please make sure that there are sufficient resources provided to Salford CC to carry out 
the necessary checks in a timely way. The housing teams need to be properly funded. 
 

I think this is a fantastic idea. We have had 3 small HMO's appear on our street very 
recently, 2 next door to each other. As we are a terraced street this has caused concerns 
about people and parking, as it is already a crowded street, and now there is the potential 
for 16 more people/vehicles. It has also upset some people as our street has always been 
a family street, and people now are questioning whether to stay on the street or leave, 
which would be a shame. We also worry about more houses on the street being 
converted into HMO's. It has become. Big worry for everyone. I think streets should be 
looked at individually before deciding if a landlord can convert them into HMO's, or if they 
should be kept as family homes.  
 

Nothing more than what’s mentioned in the previous questions. 
 

It is needed, many of these houses are too small to be anything other than a family home. 
HMO's tend to impact the price of houses in the area and the general condition of the 
area. 
 

Whilst I think that poor management etc should be dealt with I don t feel that licencing per 
se is the best way to approach the issues outlined.  I have paid a fee for my licence and 
fail to see what you’ve done.  No one had inspected my property to check and no one has 
spoken to my tenant.  And has it occurred to the team that the really rogue landlords  
probably won’t register with your scheme. 
 

Page 99



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

18 
 

I have spent tens of thousands upgrading and renovating my Salford rental properties to 
provide safe, clean and good quality rental accommodation. The fees, licensing and 
regulations are already very costly and further licensing in my opinion is not required. It 
will merely increase rents even further as landlords looks to cover the ever increasing 
costs. The area my properties are in are already selectively licensed and as such have 
had considerable investment to make them of a satisfactory standard. Further licensing is 
not required and a further unfair charge that will, without question, increase rent for 
tenants.  
 

The evidence given for the proposal is weak in the extreme, the cynic would say it’s just 
another money making scheme for the council. The results from the previous mandatory 
licensing in Seedley and Weaste - something like 20 landlords charged for poor upkeep - 
did in no way in my view justify the creation of a further mandatory scheme in that area. 
 

This will impact small businesses and also landlords with properties in the Salford area. 
Cost of mandatory HMO is very high.  
 

1. most of these properties are not fit for purpose to be a HMO   
2. they incur further parking problems and litter management   
3. alley gate keys are already a problem, the Licencing scheme is already failing on this 
point with houses rented privately, the litter problem is not improving at all   
4, Local people who bought properties in this area bought them because they were family 
orientated areas, not single adults.   
5. I feel that these HMOs shouldn't be allowed they are taking advantage of people, 
charging up to £600+ per month for a single room, when in  better circumstances a 
person could buy the house for that price if the deposits was not at 20%   
6. there is no consideration for the next door neighbours of these HMOs , as these adults 
live a different time scale to a normal family who have kids. The council should not be 
allowing these HMOs as they are condoning this despicable lifestyle for the less fortunate 
 

The proposal of fees affects all landlords regardless whether good or bad. I agree that 
bad landlords need to be fined, however not all landlords should get tarnished with this 
brush. My suggestion is charge a fine/fee to a landlord that has bad management of 3-4 
bed HMOs. This fee can be way more for the individual landlord to act as a deterrent. If 
you charge fees to everyone, the landlords will have to increase rent to pass on this 
charge to tenants as the margins are already squeezed. Good landlords should not have 
to "bare the burden" of bad landlords. The option of taking control over a bad landlord's 
property would also be a good thing from my point of view as the landlord would have to 
pay a big fine, have no income from the property so would have to sell and get out of the 
landlord business. This is the fairest option I can think of as a landlord as I appreciate you 
will have some costs to implement this, however you will be punishing those that have 
been doing nothing wrong.  
 

Something needs to be done. Many students live in such properties. Refuse is a huge 
problem. They leave rubbish out, don't comply with recycling, often cause loud noise, 
have friends stay, leave properties empty for days or weeks during holidays from college 
or university. Very anti social. 
 

Page 100



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

19 
 

Perhaps the issue of car parking should be included or addressed somehow.    Could 
each HMO have an annual inspection to ensure all the terms were being met? Rather 
than waiting for complaints to force landlords into taking action.  
 

If the scheme is too expensive and/or involves a lot of red tape, properties could be 
withdrawn by landlords reducing the number available. This will cause problems then on 
other areas too. 
 

I strong oppose to HMOs in Salford but wonder if the council actually care about the 
community.  Focus needs to be put on making the community better by reducing crime, 
anti-social behaviour and reducing poverty rather than increasing these issue by allowing 
more HMOs. 
 

There needs to be a clear and accessible process for existing residents to flag up 
concerns regarding property and tenants behaviour/management, with a quick response. 
 

I think all social housing should be under council control. Once the private sector are 
involved profits take control. 
 

Check parking  
 

i FEEL THAT THE SCHEME SHOULD BE CITY WIDE TO ENSURE THERE IS 
CONSISTANCY. 

I think I've commented enough! 
 

Expand the scheme to all rental properties, not just HMOs.  There are issues with single 
occupancy rental properties too. 
 

A cap on the number of people in a home.  
 

Three persons is too low. Should be four and above.  
 

How about no more HMOs?! Revisit existing HMO properties and review them. If the 
HMO property is causing problems for neighbours who own their own property, then the 
HMO should revert back to house. 
  

Any and all fees will be passed on to the people forced to share a home, and not the 
landlords. So it's yet another tax on not being privileged enough to own your own home.     
Fuck everything about this.   
 

Salford is a student transit area and they must be given support for decent 
accommodation during their studies. 
 

I think extra licensing will only benefit those living in the HMO and the neighbours of the 
HMOs. 
  

I think all landlords should be licensed, as even people in one bedroom flats or smaller 
homes can have these same issues as described for HMOs.  

Page 101



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

20 
 

 

Mandatory information for tenants (written by local authority) in tenant speech to be 
displayed mandatory on notice boards.. To say “THE HMO OFFICERS CONTACT 
DETAILS” etc as most rogue landlords don’t even have a notice board, never mind 
advertise the fact the tenants can go to the council. I always advise if landlords do not 
carry out repairs.  
  

Needs to look at waste management. Areas around these houses are very scruffy with 
lots of litter. 
 

People and property 100a% need to be vetted one of my friends is homeless with 3 
children due to a dodgy landlord. Please change things.  
  

Having lived in a shared house with 4 others, with terrible landlord and an unsafe building 
near Salford University, we were burgled. Thousands of pounds of equipment was stolen 
(things we needed for our course). It wasn't covered by our home insurance as the 
window they got through was broken. A window we'd been asking to be fixed for over a 
year with nothing being done.  
 

They need to meet basic standards. I lived in one of these HMO’s and after almost 9 
months of living there, I found out that it didn’t meet fire regulations, the communal area 
was too small and there should have been less bedrooms. The places make too much 
money. For a 3 bedroom property that would be rented to one family for a monthly fee, it 
could be rented to single people for around 3-4 times that amount!  
 
 

This needs to be addressed more and more HMO's are being used as premises for 
Offenders released from prison. They are extremely high in rent and landlords are really 
exciting some of these vulnerable people. There is no management so in some cases 
nearby residents are at risk.   
    

Fantastic idea should be licensed & regulated. The amount of profit made by these 
landlords is obscene. They prevent people buying affordable housing by paying cash to 
sellers for a quick sale. 
 

HMO Licencing is important in some circumstances - but the council needs to take care 
that the scheme isn't just viewed as a money maker - it needs to be seen with genuine 
reasons - although I see these working in the industry not all landlords will.  
 

I think you should consider extending hte areas for of the larger HMO scheme to so they 
all cover the same areas (city wide) and there's no room for confusion. 
 

Perhaps a reduction in license fees if the property is managed correctly with no issues 
reported to the council by the public. 
 

Management of the bins and waste should be done everything 6 months or each year. 

Page 102



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

21 
 

 

As commented earlier if you wish landlords to continue renting any further costs will lead 
to landlords selling and less availability of housing. 
 

The homes must be fit these people are paying an inflated, bloated, obscene amount of 
money for one room. Disgusting. 
  

I don’t feel it should be restricted to 3 or 4 person HMO and reduced fees for Responsible  
accredited landlords who check properties annually should be treated fairly. 
  

Problems are created in smaller properties (particularly where reception rooms are 
converted to a bedroom) because there is not the waste management or parking facilities 
to deal with this. 
 

We currently live next door to a 4 bed HMO. We’ve had nothing but anti social behaviour, 
reports to police, overgrown garden, rats in the garden and rubbish not being put in the 
correct bin. I strongly, strongly agree with the additional HMO licensing. More needs to be 
done. Landlords need to be held responsible for not running a property correctly. 
 

The scheme is just a blatant tax to dissuade landlords from renting through the official 
channels. Responsible landlords who aren't causing any problems will pay, while the 
rogue landlords will just avoid it and get away with it. You are throwing a net with holes in 
it and relying on the decency of the fish to jump in. I am a good landlord with a well  
maintained property who is careful with who i select as tenants, yet I'm being hit with a 
licensing fee because there are others who don't do this. The licensing scheme seems to 
let slip that it's only problem is with tenants who apparently can't put things in the right 
bins, so you've decided a 1000 pound license fee will solve this, how?  
   

I completely oppose this; focus on specific problem properties/landlords. National policy 
should be sufficient.  
 

I understand the need for more housing and accommodation in our community’s  however 
I would not like to see in my opinion the minority good landlords being penalised due to 
bad landlords and maybe a reward system but not sure what? Star rating? 
 

HMO is not for Salford people it is being used to bring people and immigrants into the 
area  
 

Change of use from conversion to HMO should require impact assessment of increase in 
number of cars per dwelling on local residents. Going from 1-2 cars per dwelling >3 is not 
sustainable for terraced streets with on-road parking, HMOs need to be limited in these 
situations.  
 

That Landlords found NOT to be fit to manage a property must undergo level awareness 
training, similar to a banned motorist, being re-tested or a speeding motorist  undertaking 
a speed awareness course. Certification to be provided from a recognised training 
provider such as NRLA or a similar 'accredited' training provider. 
 

Page 103



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

22 
 

More affordable housing options are needed so that individuals have an alternative to 
HMO housing.  
 

To be honest, I think there are too many HMO’s. I still live with my parents at the age of 
25, although I have worked since being 18 and completed a university course receiving a 
BA Hons degree, work full time, I cannot afford to move out. The cheapest options are 
HMO’s but the cost is still a lot for what you get. The properties are not looked after and I  
personally don’t see the positives of moving out of my parent’s house to move in with 
strangers and to pay ridiculous prices, when I can stay at home with family in a clean, 
looked after property. I think there should be a limit on how many HMO’s are available, 
giving people more option to choose between a property that is not shared. But, I do 
agree that there needs to be serious changes to HMO’s as the properties seem to be in 
bad condition and it is outrageous that they can charge so much for what they provide.  
 

Restrictions on the number of HMOs in any area of Salford because of the detrimental 
effect on the community.  
 

Charge landlord (not resident) for cleaning and rubbish removal when required. Ensure its 
landlords responsibility to check homes, vet residents and keep local area clean as 
HMO’s create more waste. Stop Salford council issuing so many HMO licensing as this is 
now appalling in certain areas stopping people getting onto the property ladder.  
 

Landlords paying a lot of fees including Council applications & Council Tax etc. should 
have your support. If there is something to be repaired/fixed Landlords should always get 
warning first NOT fines. 
 

Strongly feel that these proposals will prevent a negative impact on the housing market 
and the lives of people in areas with an abundance of HMOs. It will prevent areas from 
declining   

Fast track complaints hearings (noise/waste etc)  
 

I wish that we could turn the clock back about 10 years when we had lovely communities 
and we knew our neighbours. It is totally out of order that Salford Council has allowed this 
huge HMO problem to occur. We now have lots of transient people in our area and have 
no clue who they are.....this is a big problem. We have gone back to the 50's with all of  
these ROOM TO RENT placards on houses, it's disgraceful!!!  
 

Implementation of such schemes tends to deter landlord from letting out to sharers and 
creating a HMO thus reducing the amount of affordable accommodation for those on a 
lower income in area. Also I think consideration should be given for landlords who use a 
reputable letting agent to manage their property and appropriate discounts applied for  
these circumstances as they are ensuring a similar if not higher level of compliance 
compared to landlords who are a member of a landlords organisation. 
 

Stop smaller properties being licenced as HMO to increase the number of properties 
available to families and limit numbers of HMO in total.  
 

Page 104



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

23 
 

I am strongly in support of this scheme as too many HMO's are being mismanaged. This 
scheme, if properly managed, will help both living conditions for HMO tenants and the 
living environment for neighbouring residents. 
 

Beware of choking off supply of rooms in an attempt to improve conditions for tenants. 
This is already a likely consequence of the 6.5m2 rule for single rooms. All 1930s semis 
will lose a room through this rule, so there are now houses with empty rooms. 
Overregulating small HMOs could have the same impact. 
 

Limit the number of HMO’s per street.  
 

The licence will only be effective if the conditions are truly enforced, so that a good level 
of housing is maintained. Those with a good, or "no complaints" record should be 
rewarded with discounts or refunds, as a good standard is what a good landlord should be 
aiming for in any case. A license is not an insurance policy! 
 

The single biggest problem today with HMO's is the Council's appalling approach to 
refuse collection. Deal with that and you will improve the lives of tenants and owner 
occupiers alike. Landlords should be accountable and the majority already are by way of 
their own governing bodies. The council should concentrate on building affordable 
housing and improving their own housing stock which in my experience is a disgrace. 
 

This should only be introduced in areas where this is a problem - Eccles, Salford etc. In 
other areas, there can be a need for this type of housing and high license fees are not the 
way to top up the council’s budget deficit. 
 

This scheme will ensure the standard for small HMOs meets the level that tenants 
deserve. I run 2 high standard, professional HMOs and feel strongly that rental properties 
should be managed and run to a high standard - unlicenced properties cause an issue to 
those of us who act professionally.  
 

Individual fines for landlords or properties not being looked after. Restrict international 
purchasers who dont care about the area and are just letting for profit with no care about 
who they rent to or how the houses are taken care of. 
  

I'd hope this would reduce the number of these being introduced in single areas. In 
Barton, they are booming over the last year.  
 

I have yet to see evidence that there is a real issue to begin with regarding 3 and 4 
person HMO properties that current letting regulations don’t already address, so this is 
nothing more than another way to fill the councils coffers due to central government cuts. 
 

Page 105



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

24 
 

My strong opinion especially in Salford is that the small hmo’s actually aren’t the ones that 
need attention. These properties are generally well maintained and managed, especially 
in comparison to privately rented family homes that are left in a very poor state of repair 
and rented most often to people who bring drugs and noise into the area and litter.  
It isn’t the students that are leaving large rubbish items in the streets. Salford need to 
address its waste removal, this isn’t adequate and would be a better focus for the council 
if they really want to improve the area. 3 and 4 bed hmo’s aren’t the hmo’s that are noisy 
and messy.  
 

Please provide evidence that there is a problem which needs to be addressed.   Without 
this there should be no proposal for change.   What is your benchmark that any other 
money making schemes have been successful. ..if indeed there was a need in the first 
instance.  We are not here to keep Salford staff employed. 
 

We have several 3-4 bed HMOs in Salford and we manage them extremely well. The only 
issue - which I agree is an issue - is the waste services provided by the council. They are 
simply not good enough. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Consultation feedback from emails and letters. 

Page 106



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

25 
 

 

Page 107



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

26 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 108



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

27 
 

 

 

“I own property in Salford in the M6 area. I am writing in response to the proposed “Additional HMO licensing 

Scheme”.  

I am wishing to express my strong disagreement with this proposal. Salford does have a lot of small HMO’s, however 

if you walk down the street these are actually the properties that look refurbished and cared for and a lot are often 

under proper property management. There are several houses on the street that are in a very bad state of repair and 

these are all single lets to families. The street itself, that is Milnthorpe Street M6 and surrounding ones, I must stress 

are a mess and I agree without a doubt something needs to be done about this. But what I wish to get across is that 

mess isn’t created by the small HMO’s. The street has endless anti-social behaviour, noise pollution and drug use and 

dealing. Kids can be seen riding bikes around the street dealing the drugs. I made several complaints about the 

neighbour opposite me that used to take and deal drugs and have a huge speaker outside the front door blasting out 

music from morning until night. The neighbours around the corner put their sofas out on the street and drink from 

the early morning. There have been other stories of houses growing marijuana and these are definitely not the HMO 

properties. These are single family lets that clearly aren’t well maintained or managed by the landlords/property 

managers.   

The street also suffers from fly tipping, littering and dog mess. No student HMO’s have dogs and they certainly don’t 

fly tip sofas, mattresses and other large items. The one thing they are guilty of is overflowing rubbish. This is 

something that has been addressed with the council by myself and another landlord, as the rubbish is collected 

every 3 weeks and there simply aren’t enough bins provided. However, the council told us that this isn’t something 

that can be changed. I am not sure why this can’t be addressed as this would solve a lot of the problem.  

I am not really sure why an additional HMO license is required as all rented properties in Salford must have a 

selective license. What will this license propose to do that the selective one doesn’t? How has it been determined 

that it is only the HMO’s that are the problem and the only way to tackle this is applying yet another license onto 

these? How is the cost of over £1000 derived? It seems extremely high especially as these landlords have already 

paid over £600 for a selective license; will landlords in effect have 2 licenses running on their property?  

I thought the purpose of the selective license was the ensure properties were a good standard and managed 

properly. In my experience I am not sure how this license does this. We are required to submit our yearly 

certificates, which is an amazing tool, however nothing else is mandatory. I would argue that a house that has its 

yearly mandatory certificates isn’t necessarily a house that is in a good state of repair that is well managed. Instead 

of yet another license, costing landlords that have already paid hundreds over £1000, wouldn’t it be worth 

implementing more strategies within the selective licensing to actually make that efficient, thus covering ALL 

properties in Salford not just HMO’S?  

I am not against licensing and creating standards, what I am against is ANOTHER license implementation before the 

trial scheme for the Selective Licensing has even finished that seems to vindicate HMO landlords. I feel it is 

automatically presumed that they are badly managing sub-standard accommodation. I can assure you this isn’t true. 

If Salford City Council are that concerned with the amount of small HMO’s then why are they still granting planning 

permission to convert from family homes under article 4; something I know to be true as my fellow landlord has just 

Page 109



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

28 
 

obtained permission. If the council are worried about this type of property causing problems in the city then 

wouldn’t stopping anymore conversions be one way to curb this? I’m not saying I agree with curbing it, but if the 

council are really worried about this type of accommodation this would seem the sensible thing to do.   

I know others in my position, including Mistoria, are in strong disagreement with this proposal. It doesn’t make 

sense when Selective Licensing is in play, as that should be doing the job that you are now saying the additional 

HMO licensing will do.   

I hope you take my thoughts seriously, good landlords should be welcomed, not pushed out due to tightening of 

regulatory licensing on top of regulatory licensing; this just doesn’t seem to make sense.   

With the current climate everyone is tense about losing livelihoods and landlords are no different. We are often not 

the money machines people assume we are; we are just ordinary people making a living out of something we do put 

a lot of energy, time and money into. It feels often as if people don’t see this. The concept of this additional licensing 

will put many landlords under even more stress and pressure and I urge you to consider reflecting on the selective 

licensing scheme before you enforce yet another one.   

Yours sincerely “ 

 

“I welcome these proposals as they confirm my suspicions they are not as safe as they should be, not well manged in 

respect of waste and the fit an proper person running the properties. 

Over the years I have made many complaints along these lines. 

I welcomed the change in planning, so that all HMO’s need planning permission. 

There is a loss of family homes in Barton and where HMO’s have been established other people have sold up and 

left. These properties are snapped up within days (massive demand) usually by HMO providers. 

We have seen Gleaves road decimated along with sections of Barton lane.  

The ASB, parking and waste issues follow shortly there after. 

I am currently trying to overturn a HMO on Tetlow grove, where planning permissions have been ignored time and 

time again, them followed by retrospective plans. We have many small flats available with an RSL so there is no 

screaming need in this area of Barton for more HMO’s. 

I hope this feedback can be added to the consultation” 

 

“I do not have an HMO in Salford and so it will not affect me but I do think that a Landlord should  

Be able to register once only for all the properties owned 

Kind Regards 

Yours sincerely” 

 

Page 110



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

29 
 

“stop trying to just grab money. 

make it for free and we'll all agree 

why cause tenants rent to go up” 

“Hi, 

This will not affect me at this time but as an SCC accredited Landlord I feel a duty to add comment in 

support of professional (complaint) landlords and in a bid to support improving the region's rental 

opportunities for tenants. 

Have SCC looked into a simpler more efficient single licensing model for managing all private rentals? 

For example, a scheme requiring all landlords to be registered/approved (through an online portal) and 

notify SCC Landlord team of properties under management and their status? 

Having gone through the numerous Selective Licensing applications and numerous LA consultations I see 

little value in multiple unaligned schemes. These will likely result in public funds being spent inefficiently 

on the administration of the scheme and provide minimal benefit. 

Furthermore, those providing poor quality housing are likely to continue doing so, without a license. This is 

likely to continue until rouge landlords are caught and closed down. The risk of being caught and resulting 

fines are low when compared to the great financial reward they can achieve by not being compliant. 

Regards,” 

 

“how can you have a consulatation when you are bias to yourselves 

its a conflict of interest. 

the council wants to grab more money.  so simple make a consultation and then who decides the 

outcome.  guess.  the council.  its immoral.  and a conflict of interest. obviously its a money making scheme.  just like 

speed cameras. 

if you would give the fees fr the application and fines from speed cameras to charity then fine. but othrwise its just 

going to your pockets.” 

 

“Dear Sir/Madam 

Further to your emails regarding additional HMO licensing, we would like to say that, as with the current 

Landlord Licensing Scheme, this appears to be just a money making exercise whereby decent and law 

abiding landlords, such as ourselves, will be heavily penalised for having to apply.   We feel you aim 

everything at MO properties and we remember, when completing the last questionnaire, the majority of 

the questions were not applicable to private, non-business, landlords.  We understand the need to stop 

rogue landlords but are not convinced they will bother applying and therefore caring landlords like us 

suffer. 

We look after our single property and tenant and thankfully, at the moment, would not come under these 

new proposals.  None of your report findings are applicable to us and therefore there should be exclusions 

from your plans for landlords like us. 

Page 111



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

30 
 

Yours faithfully” 

 

“I've been looking through the consultation and there is a lot to digest.  I support the need for licensing and 

see this as a way to improve the quality of housing in the city. 

 

Presumably, legislation has changed on this as when I previously enquired about it I was informed that we 

couldn't licence premises with less than 5 beds and could only apply licensing to defined areas.  Maybe I 

have misunderstood something? 

I am shocked by the proposed fees, that seems awfully high.  The more spent on licenses the less there will 

be to invest in properties.  Alternatively, this will just be passed on to tenants.  Neither would be 

welcome.  I think it would be helpful to have details as to how this charge was arrived at. 

Many thanks,” 

 

“I am so pleased to hear about this additional licensing scheme, I just hope it goes through. 

Kind regards” 

 

“I would certainly approve of  a scheme that is able to monitor these premises .I feel people who are put in this 

situation will need a great deal of support legally and socially. Regards” 

 

Page 112



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

31 
 

 

 

Page 113



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

32 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 114



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

33 
 

 

Page 115



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

34 
 

 

Page 116



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

35 
 Page 117



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

36 
 

 

Page 118



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

37 
 

 

Page 119



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

38 
 Page 120



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

39 
 

 

Page 121



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

40 
 Page 122



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

41 
 

 

Page 123



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

42 
 Page 124



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

43 
 Page 125



Annex 2  
 

Additional Licensing Consultation Survey Results  

44 
 

 

Page 126



 

«ref_no»   «decision_date» 

Proposed Additional  HMO Licence Conditions  
 
In these conditions, “house” is meant to refer to the building or part of a building, which is 
licensed as a House in Multiple Occupation under Part 2 of the Housing Act 2004. 
 
“Authority” is meant to refer to the local housing authority, namely Salford City Council 
 
Housing Act 2004 Prescribed Conditions 

 
1. If gas is supplied to the house, the licence holder shall produce to Salford City 

Council, upon expiry of the previous gas certificate, a valid gas safety certificate 
obtained in respect of the house within the last 12 months 
 

2. The licence holder must keep electrical appliances and furniture made available  
by him in the house in a safe condition; and 
            
i) Must supply the authority, on demand, with a declaration by him as to the safety 

of such appliances and furniture 
 

2a The licence holder must ensure that every electrical installation in the house is in 
proper working order and safe for continued use; and  

 
ii) to supply the authority, on demand, with a declaration by him as to the safety of 

such installations; 
 

3. The licence holder must: 
 

i) Ensure that a smoke alarm is installed on each storey of the house on which 
there is a room used wholly or partly as living accommodation; and 
 

ii) Keep each such alarm in proper working order; and 
 

iii) Supply the authority, on demand, with a declaration by him as to the condition 
and positioning of such alarms. 

 
4. The licence holder must provide each occupier of the house with a written 

statement of the conditions of the terms on which they occupy the house. The 
licence holder shall provide a copy of the said terms to the authority on demand. 

 
4a. The licence holder must: 
 

i) Ensure that a carbon monoxide alarm is installed in any room in the house 
which is used wholly or partly as living accommodation and contains a solid 
fuel burning combustion appliance; 

 
ii) Keep each such alarm in proper working order; and 
 
iii) Supply the authority, on demand, with a declaration by him as to the condition 

and positioning of such alarms. 
 

Page 127



 

«ref_no»   «decision_date» 

 
Conditions relating to Property 
  

 
5. The Licence Holder must produce to the authority annually for their inspection, a 

Fire Detection & Alarm System Certificate (in accordance with BS5839) obtained 
in respect of the house within the last 12 months. 

 
6. The Licence Holder must produce to the authority a periodic electrical survey 

inspection report for the whole of the electrical installations within the house in 
accordance with current IEE wiring regulations. Such a report should be provided 
by a suitably trained, experienced and competent person i.e. a NICEIC or ECA 
member. This must be supplied to the landlord licensing team within the first twelve 
months of the licence period. 

 
(i)  The licence holder must ensure, throughout the period of the licence, that the 

premises are covered by a valid periodic electrical survey inspection report.  
Where a report expires during the term of the licence, an up-to-date report 
must be provided to the landlord licensing team within 28 days of the expiry 
date.    

 
(ii) Should any remedial works be recommended on the periodic electrical survey 

report, the Licence Holder must ensure that such works are completed no later 
than 12 months following the date of the report and must inform the licensing 
team upon completion of such works. 

 
7. If accommodation within the house is provided on a furnished basis and includes 

electrical appliances, the Licence Holder must produce to the authority for their 
inspection a portable appliance test (PAT) certificate within the first twelve months 
of the licence period, and yearly after. 

  
8. The Licence Holder will ensure that any furniture supplied in relation to a tenancy 

or licence is in safe and good condition and maintained or replaced as far as it is 
the Licence Holder’s responsibility throughout the tenancy [under the terms and 
conditions of the licence or tenancy].  

 
9. The licence holder must ensure that the house is compliant with Salford City 

Council’s approved standards for Houses in Multiple Occupation, which are 
attached. 

 
10. Where any works are to be carried to the house, the licence holder must ensure 

the appropriate consent from Building Control at Salford City Council is obtained 
prior to works commencing. 

 
Management Of the Licensed Property 
 
11. The Licence Holder must provide the occupiers of the house and the occupiers of 

any adjoining properties, with details of the following: 
 

 Name of the licence holder or managing agent, 

 A contact address, daytime telephone number  

 An emergency contact telephone number.  
Page 128



 

«ref_no»   «decision_date» 

 
This information must be supplied within 28 days of receipt of the licence document 
and should be clearly displayed in a prominent position within the house. An 
emergency contact telephone number for the licence holder and/or management 
agency shall also be available and notified to the authority. 

 
12. The Licence Holder will provide each occupant of the house with copies of user 

manuals, where available, for any installations or equipment provided as part of 
the agreement for the occupation of the house. 

  
13. The licence holder shall display at all times it is in force a copy of the licence 

certificate and licence conditions in a prominent position inside the house where 
all occupiers will be able to view the said documents. 

 
14. The licence holder shall ensure that occupants of the house receive written 

confirmation detailing arrangements in place to deal with repair issues and 
emergencies should they arise.  

 
15. If the let on a furnished basis, the Licence Holder will arrange to undertake a 

detailed inventory to be agreed with each occupant upon commencement of their 
occupation of the house and kept on file by the licence holder at their business 
address. (Draft Inventory forms are available from Salford City Council - 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/housing/information-for-landlords/landlord-
licensing/how-will-licensing-work/salfords-approach-to-landlord-licensing/ ). 

 
16. The Licence Holder will not discriminate against prospective occupiers of the 

house on the grounds of race, disability, gender, religion or sexual orientation. 
 
17. The Licence Holder must act lawfully and reasonably in requiring any advanced 

payments from occupiers; in handling rents; in returning deposits; and in making 
deductions from deposits. The Licence Holder will provide any 
occupier/prospective occupier with the following information: 

 

     The amount of rent payable; 

     The details of any deposit required; 

     Details of what the deposit covers and arrangements for return; 

     The frequency of such payments; 

     The details of any utilities or other charges included in the rent; 

     The responsibility for payment of Council Tax; 

     The responsibility for payment of utilities and arranging provision of such. 
 
18. The Licence Holder and/or his manager must ensure that the property is inspected 

at regular intervals, of at least once every 12 months, to ensure that the conditions 
of the tenancy agreement are being adhered too. Should the Licence Holder 
receive a complaint about the property or tenancy, the Licence Holder and/or his 
manager must ensure that the property is inspected to investigate such complaint. 
For example, if a complaint was made with regards to the accumulation of rubbish 
in the garden of the property, or in the event that payments of two months’ rent are 
missed, a visit must be made to the property to ensure that the property is secure, 
tidy and has not been abandoned. 

 
 

Page 129

https://www.salford.gov.uk/housing/information-for-landlords/landlord-licensing/how-will-licensing-work/salfords-approach-to-landlord-licensing/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/housing/information-for-landlords/landlord-licensing/how-will-licensing-work/salfords-approach-to-landlord-licensing/


 

«ref_no»   «decision_date» 

 
19. The Licence Holder and his managing agent must inform the licensing team of the 

authority within ten working days of any changes in their circumstances as follows; 
 

a. Details of any unspent1 convictions not previously disclosed to the Local 
Authority, that may be relevant to the licence holder and/or the property 
manager and their fit and proper person status and In particular any such 
conviction in respect of any offence involving fraud or dishonesty, or violence 
or drugs or any offence listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offences Act 2003. 

b. Details of any finding by a court or tribunal against the licence holder and /or 
the manager that he/she has practiced unlawful discrimination on grounds of 
sex, colour, race, ethnic or national origin or disability in, or in connection with, 
the carrying on of any business 

c. Details of any contravention on the part of the licence holder or manager of 
any provision of any enactment relating to housing, public health, 
environmental health or landlord and tenant law which led to civil or criminal 
proceedings resulting in a judgment or finding being made against him/her 

d. Information about any property the licence holder or manager owns or 
manages or has owned or managed which has been the subject of: 

 A control order under section 379 of the Housing Act 1985 in the five 
years preceding the date of the application; or 

 Any appropriate enforcement action described in section 5(2) of the Act 
e. Information about any property the proposed licence holder or manager owns 

or manages or has owned or managed for which a local housing authority has 
refused to grant a licence under Part 2 or 3 of the Act, or has revoked a 
licence in consequence of the licence holder breaching the conditions of 
his/her licence 

f. Information about any property the proposed licence holder or manager owns 
or manages or has owned or managed that has been the subject of an interim 
or final management order under the Housing Act 2004; 

g. Change in managing agent or the instruction of a managing agent; 
h. Change of address to Licence Holder or Landlord 
i. The undertaking of any substantial works to the property including conversions 

and modernisations; 
 
 
20. The Licence Holder must complete and return any correspondence from the 

Housing Crime Reduction Team regarding the closure of rear alleyways using 
gating in the vicinity of the house. Such correspondence must be returned as 
requested in the correspondence supplied.  

 
21. Where there are alley-gates installed to the rear of the licensed property, the 

Licence Holder must:  
  

 Take responsibility for holding a key for any alley-gates which are in place or 
which are installed;  

                                            
1 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 enables some criminal convictions to become 'spent', or ignored, 
after a 'rehabilitation period'. A rehabilitation period is a set length of time from the date of conviction. After 
this period, with certain exceptions, an ex-offender is not normally obliged to mention the conviction when 
applying for a job or obtaining insurance, or when involved in criminal or civil proceedings. 
 

Page 130



 

«ref_no»   «decision_date» 

 and at the time of letting, provide all new tenants with details of Salford City 
Council’s, Housing Crime Reduction Team (0161 604 7719) along with 
instructions on how to obtain a key. 

 Ensure that all new tenants are advised of the need to keep the alley gates 
locked.  

 
22. The licence holder must ensure that any persons involved with the management 

of the house are to the best of their knowledge “fit and proper persons” for the 
purposes of the Act. 

 
23. The Licence Holder is required to demand references from persons who wish to 

occupy the house and shall supply evidence of these to the Local Authority on 
demand. 

 
 

Security  
 
24. Where window locks are fitted, the Licence Holder will ensure that keys are 

provided to the relevant occupant. 
 
25. Where a burglar alarm is fitted to the house, the Licence Holder will inform the 

occupant in writing as to how the code may be changed and in what circumstances 
they are allowed to do so.  

 
26.  Where previous occupants have not surrendered keys, the licence holder will 

arrange for a lock change to be undertaken, prior to new occupants moving in. 
 
Anti Social Behaviour  
 
27. The Licence Holder must take all reasonable and all practicable steps for preventing 

and dealing effectively with anti social behaviour. The Licence Holder and/or his 
manager are required to undertake an incremental process of investigation of any 
complaints, which have been made either directly to them, or via the Local Authority, 
regarding their occupiers. For the purposes of these conditions, anti-social behaviour 
is taken to comprise behaviour by the occupants of the house and/or their visitors, 
which causes a nuisance or annoyance to other occupants of the house, to lawful 
visitors to the house or to persons residing in or lawfully visiting the locality of the 
house. 

 
28. The Licence Holder will ensure that the occupants of the house are aware of the 

services available to them and how they can report nuisance and anti social 
behaviour to the authority.  

 
29. The Licence Holder and/or their nominated agent must have the facilities to receive 

and respond to initial complaints about their occupiers’ behaviour. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 131



 

«ref_no»   «decision_date» 

 
 
 
Occupation 

 
30. The licence holder must ensure that only bedrooms are to be used to sleep in. No 

persons shall sleep within any common areas including shared lounges. 
 

Room Use Maximum 
number of 
occupants  

Kitchen Kitchen n/a 

Lounge Lounge n/a 

Bedroom 1 (ground floor 
rear) 

Sleeping accommodation 1 adult 

Bedroom 2 ( 1st floor front) Sleeping accommodation 2 adult  

 
31. The number of persons residing at the house shall not exceed the maximum 

number stated on the licence.  
 
32. The use and level of occupancy of each unit of accommodation shall not be 

changed without the prior written approval of the authority. 
 
33. The minimum sleeping room sizes are: 

 6.51m2 for one person over 10 years of age 

 10.22m2 for two persons over 10 years of age 

 4.64m2 for one child under the age of 10 years 

 

34. Any room less than 4.64m2 may not be used as sleeping accommodation. 

35. The Licence Holder must notify Salford City Council of any room in the HMO with 

a floor area of less than 4.64m2.  

 
Environmental Management/Amenity of the Neighbourhood 

 
36. The licence holder shall ensure that the exterior of the house is maintained in a 

reasonable decorative order and in reasonable repair. 
 
37. The licence holder must ensure that all outbuildings, yards, forecourts and gardens 

surrounding the house are maintained, in repair and kept in a clean, tidy and safe 
condition and free from infestations. 

  
38. The licence holder shall ensure that suitable and adequate provision for refuse 

storage and collection is made at the house and that the Council’s arrangements 
for refuse collection including recycling are adhered to. This shall include the 
provision of closable bins of suitable capacity as specified by the Council. 
Arrangements shall be made immediately for the proper collection and disposal of 
any rubbish additional to that within the bins and such rubbish shall be stored within 
the curtilage of the property at the rear if feasible. The licence holder shall ensure 

Page 132



 

«ref_no»   «decision_date» 

that all refuse containers are returned within the curtilage of the property on the 
same day that they are emptied by the Council. 

 

39. The Licence Holder shall provide tenants with information regarding waste and 
recycling services including collection dates and how to present their waste for 
collection, including the requirement to return the refuse containers to the 
property on the same day they are emptied by the council. This information can 
be found on the Councils website https://www.salford.gov.uk/bins-and-
recycling/bin-collection-days/.  Where a notice is served against the property, the 
landlord shall ensure a copy is provided to each tenant at the start of their 
tenancy agreement. 

 
40. The Licence Holder shall ensure that a full set of bins is available for new tenants 

before they move in:- 
 

i) black bin: general waste 
ii) blue bin: pulpable waste(i.e. paper & cardboard) 
iii) brown bin: co-mingle waste(i.e. tin cans, glass & plastic bottles) 
iv) pink lidded bin or kerbside caddy: bio waste(i.e. food & garden waste) 

 
41. The Licence Holder shall ensure all bins are empty before new tenants moves in. 
 
42. The Licence Holder shall ensure all items cleared from properties before new 

tenants moves in are disposed of properly. 
 
43. The Licence Holder shall inform tenants of how to dispose of ‘bulky waste’ 

including details  the Councils service, which can be found here 
https://www.salford.gov.uk/bins-and-recycling/get-rid-of-a-large-unwanted-item-
bulky-waste/ . 

 
44. The Licence Holder shall inform their tenants that Salford City Council currently 

has a charge of £26.20 to provide new domestic waste bins; however, recycling 
bins are provided free of charge; however, recycling bins are provided free of 
charge.  It would be advisable that a refundable deposit is taken by the Licence 
Holder to ensure that a replacement can be provided if lost or stolen by the 
tenant. 

 
 
 

 

End of standard conditions 

 
 

Extra Conditions 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                                                                                 

Page 133

https://www.salford.gov.uk/bins-and-recycling/bin-collection-days/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/bins-and-recycling/bin-collection-days/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/bins-and-recycling/get-rid-of-a-large-unwanted-item-bulky-waste/
https://www.salford.gov.uk/bins-and-recycling/get-rid-of-a-large-unwanted-item-bulky-waste/


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

Community Impact Assessment (CIA) 

Title of proposal: Introduction of an additional HMO licensing scheme for three and 
four-person small HMO’s in Salford. 

Service Group/ Team: Landlord Licensing – Regulatory Services. 

Date of assessment: January 2021 

Lead CIA Officer: Anne Arcus 

Officers in Assessment Team: Sarah Hughes, Rob Fletcher, Gemma Chilton, 
Darcy Ollerhead, Maurice Leigh, and Karina Daniels. 

Review date: 12 months after designation 

The findings of your CIA MUST be included within the report for decision and 
this document attached as evidence of your consideration of potential impact 
on communities. 

Summary of Community Impact Assessment 

A community impact assessment has been completed on proposals to designate 
additional HMO licensing for three and four-person small HMO’s.  
 
The Housing Act 2004 gives Councils the power to introduce additional licensing 
schemes for privately rented properties in an area or part of an area.  The purpose of 
such schemes is to improve standards of property management in the private rented 
sector.  If a landlord rents a three or four-person small HMO property in Salford they 
will need to obtain an additional licence from the Council. 
 
Additional HMO licensing will ensure all private landlords affected by the scheme are 
fit and proper persons and that the property has satisfactory management 
arrangements in place.  The licence will be issued with several licence conditions to 
ensure the property is managed correctly and meets the minimum property 
conditions, failure to comply with the licence conditions is a criminal offence and the 
landlord can be fined.   
 
An Additional HMO licensing scheme would not only provide further intelligence 
about property condition, enabling further targeting of proactive inspections to drive 
up standards, but will improve the living conditions for those tenants occupying 3 and 
4 person HMOs. The introduction of additional licensing will benefit the communities 
across the city who have experienced the negative impact of this type of HMO 
property being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or to be likely to give 
rise, to one or more particular problems. 
 

Page 135



2 
 

Salford has not operated an additional HMO licensing scheme before but has been 
running selective licensing and mandatory HMO licensing schemes for several 
years. Salford City Council feels the area would benefit from a further HMO scheme 
and proposes to introduce an additional HMO Licensing Scheme across Salford for a 
period of five years. 
 
The formal consultation found no disproportionate impact on anyone in respect of 
their protected characteristics. 

Page 136



3 
 

1. The proposal 

This section should outline details of the proposal. This could include (where 
applicable) 

The Housing Act 2004 gives Councils the power to introduce additional licensing 
schemes for privately rented properties in selected areas, where the area has been 
identified as meeting one of several criteria, as laid out in the Housing Act 2004. 

This proposal is based on the evidence that Salford meets the criteria, “that a 
significant proportion of three and four person HMOs across the city are being 
managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or to be likely to give rise, to one or 
more particular problems either for those occupying the HMOs or for members of the 
public” as defined in the Housing Act 2004. 

The purpose of such schemes is to improve standards of property management in 
the private rented sector.  If a landlord rents a three or four-person small HMO 
property in Salford they will need to obtain a licence from the Council.  

The application process consists of a three-part online application, with parts one and 
two ensuring the licence holder and property manager pass the “fit and proper” test 
and that there are satisfactory management arrangements in place. 

Landlords will have to show that they and their managing agents are “fit and proper” 
persons as well as providing information on how they manage their properties. This 
includes the submission of a recent DBS.  

When deciding whether a landlord/managing agent is “fit and proper” we will look at 
whether they have:  

a) Committed any serious criminal offences (fraud, violence, drugs, or sexual 
offences).  

b) Discriminated illegally against anyone.  

c) Breached laws that relate to renting property.   

Part three of the application process, the property section, requires the landlord to 
provide full details regarding the property as well as the provision of safety 
certificates such as fire alarm test certificate, gas safety certificate, electrical 
installation condition report and the fire risk assessment. This is to confirm the testing 
of appliances and installations have been completed by registered engineers 
ensuring that they are in a satisfactory condition. Other documents required include 
copies of the tenancy agreements, floor plans of the property and emergency lighting 
certificate (where appropriate). 

An application will only be deemed valid once all this information is provided and the 
Application fee has been received.  

Following this the grant fee will become due and the licence will be granted once a 
satisfactory inspection has been completed. 

 

Page 137



4 
 

It is a criminal offence for the landlord to not have a licence, should they need one. 
However, as an alternative to prosecution, the Council could issue a Civil Penalty.  

The licence will be issued with several licence conditions to ensure the property is 
managed correctly, failure to comply with the licence conditions is a criminal offence 
and the landlord can be fined.   

The scheme will have a positive impact on all residents. 

 

 

 

Page 138



5 
 

2. Evidence and research 

What equality information (qualitative and quantitative), research or other intelligence 
have you used to develop this proposal? 

This can include; equality monitoring information, census data, customer satisfaction 
surveys and feedback, inspection reports, desktop research (local, regional and 
national), professional journals, feedback from individuals and groups. Details of 
information considered when assessing the impact should be published (whilst 
ensuring individual confidentiality). 

Information source: (Consultation survey feedback) 

Most respondents wished to see their area cleaned up and maintained and for landlords to 
be responsible for their properties and their tenants with specific regard to rubbish dumping, 
noise, and parking. 

Information source: (Consultation survey feedback) 

81% of residents agreed with the proposals, 35% of landlords and managing agents 
agreed. 

Information source: (Consultation survey feedback) 

Generally, the majority of landlords and managing agents disagreed with every statement 
regarding small three  and four person HMO’s being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to 
give rise, or to be likely to give rise, to one or more particular problems, either for those 
occupying the HMOs or for members of the public. This was despite there being clear 
statistical factual evidence that Salford meets the criteria. 

Page 139



6 
 

3. Engagement / Consultation 

When considering your proposal, you should be engaging with individuals and groups covering the following protected characteristics 
(You can use evidence from existing consultations if this evidence is relevant to your proposal): 

 Age 

 Disability  

 Gender 

 Gender reassignment 

 Marriage and Civil Partnership 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

 Race 

 Religion and belief 

 Sexual orientation 

We also advise you to consult people on a low income, carers, ex-offenders, refugees and people seeking asylum, gypsies 
and travellers, where appropriate. 

You should detail below your engagement activities (Please note; you must ensure individual confidentiality) 

Date(s) of engagement: 13 October 2020 

Elected Members 

Main issues identified: general support for the scheme 

Date(s) of engagement: 13 October and 19 November 2020 

Neighbourhood managers and local community groups.  

Main issues identified: general support for the scheme 

P
age 140



7 
 

Date(s) of engagement:13 October 2020 

Landlords and managing agents  

Main issues identified: Generally, the majority of landlords and managing agents disagreed with every statement regarding small 
three  and four person HMO’s being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or to be likely to give rise, to one or more 
particular problems, either for those occupying the HMOs or for members of the public. This was despite there being clear statistical 
factual evidence that Salford meets the criteria. 

Date(s) of engagement:13 October 2020 

NRLA  

Main issues identified: Some objections raised were extending length of consultation period due to COVID-19, the licence fee being 
compliant with case law and the financial impact of the fee on landlords. 

Date(s) of engagement:13 October 2020 

Public accessing our website 

Main issues identified: Most respondents wished to see the proposed area cleaned up and maintained and for landlords to be 
responsible for their properties and their tenants with specific regard to rubbish dumping, noise, and parking. 

Generally, the majority of landlords and managing agents disagreed with every statement regarding small three  and four person 
HMO’s being managed sufficiently ineffectively as to give rise, or to be likely to give rise, to one or more particular problems, either 
for those occupying the HMOs or for members of the public. This was despite there being clear statistical factual evidence that 
Salford meets the criteria. 

Date(s) of engagement:16 November 2020 

 

All households in Salford - advert in Life IN Salford 

P
age 141



8 
 

 

Main issues identified: Most residents who completed the online survey or provided feedback via email or letter were in support of 
the scheme. 

 

Date(s) of engagement:13 October 2020 

 

Salford University and Student Union – directed to our website 

 

Main issues identified: Students have been directed to the webpage and online survey.

P
age 142



9 
 

4. Assessing the impact 

From your evidence gathering, you will have identified potential disproportionate negative impacts. Please provide details and 
your actions to overcome these below. We would also like to know if there will be any positive impacts that your proposals will 
make to improve equalities: 

 Potential impact: If the proposal could result in some groups (including customers and/or staff) being disadvantaged or treated 
unfairly 

 Mitigations and actions: Where there is a potential for disadvantage or unfair treatment, what are your plans to eliminate, 
reduce, mitigate or justify it? Could making these changes have a negative effect on any other group(s)? Explain why and 
what you will do about this. You should include details of who will be responsible for the actions and target dates for 
completion:  

 Promoting Equality: Could the proposal result in an opportunity to promote equality or inclusion? Explain how. 

Please note: these details will form the basis of your action plan. 

Protected characteristic or other group: Age 

Potential impact: possible initial negative impact, long-term positive impact expected 

Mitigations and actions: Additional HMO licensing proposals could impact on this group negatively in the short term due to the 
possibility that some landlords may seek to return poorly non-compliant converted houses currently used as bedsit type 
accommodation back into single family homes in order to avoid licensing requirements. This may result in consequential short-
term shortages of HMO accommodation and increased potential for evictions. This is however only expected to be the case for 
poorly managed properties in the worst condition. In the long term this will result in properties being improved to meet the 
minimum standards. Should any residents be displaced because of this process will have access to housing advice albeit it 
may not be possible for the Council to make a direct offer of alternative accommodation in all cases 

 

The impact on landlords is not expected to be disproportionate due to age 

P
age 143



10 
 

Responsible officer: n/a 

Target date: n/a 

Promoting equality:  

  

P
age 144



11 
 

Protected characteristic or other group: Disability 

Potential impact: Negative - Access to service and communication issues 

Mitigations and actions: Potential impact for landlords or tenants. 

To ensure that access to the service is delivered in accessible venues.  Information provided in a suitable format as per the 
needs of the service user.  Invitations letters to make an application which are sent to service users provide details on how to 
request info in accessible formats. Information on the webpages meets accessibility requirements  

Responsible officer: Anne Arcus 

Target date: ongoing  

Promoting equality:  

Protected characteristic or other group: Gender  

Potential impact: No differential impact 

Mitigations and actions: No differential impact has been identified in respect of landlords who may be affected by these 
proposals as it applies equally to all landlords operating on the designated area irrespective of sex/gender. 

No impact due to their sex / gender is expected for tenants. 

Responsible officer:  

Target date:  

Promoting equality: 

Protected characteristic or other group: Gender reassignment 

Potential impact: No differential impact to landlords and positive for tenants 

P
age 145



12 
 

Mitigations and actions: No differential impact has been identified in respect of landlords who may be affected by these 
proposals as it applies equally to all landlords operating in Salford. 

 

These proposals require private landlords to investigate and take appropriate action against anti-social behaviour of their 
tenants, thus reducing anti-social behaviour in the area. This may benefit tenants and other local people who suffer from hate 
crime and incidents 

Responsible officer:  

Target date: 

Promoting equality: 

Protected characteristic or other group: Marriage and Civil Partnership 

Potential impact: No differential impact for landlords or tenants 
  

Mitigations and actions: No differential impact has been identified in respect of landlords who may be affected by these 
proposals as it applies equally to all landlords operating in Salford. 

Responsible officer:  

Target date: 

Promoting equality: 

Protected characteristic or other group: Pregnancy and maternity 

Potential impact: No differential impact for landlords or tenants 
 

P
age 146



13 
 

Mitigations and actions: No differential impact has been identified in respect of landlords who may be affected by these 
proposals as it applies equally to all landlords operating in Salford. 

Responsible officer: 

Target date: 

Promoting equality: 

Protected characteristic or other group: Race 

Potential impact: Negative impacts for landlords or tenants and positive impact for tenants 

Mitigations and actions: Barrier to service users not able to access information in the service user first language and 
communication issues - To ensure that access to service is delivered in accessible formats.  Leaflets and correspondence 
carry the language panel.  Use of Language Line where necessary. 

 

Concentration of migrant households in the area.  May be vulnerable as they may be new arrivals in the country and may be 
more likely to be affected by poor housing/management conditions.  Overcrowding disproportionately affects migrants.  These 
proposals will ensure better quality accommodation and landlord management and more protection from eviction through 
licence conditions. Improved route for issuing guidance to landlords. 

Responsible officer: Anne Arcus 

Target date: ongoing  

Promoting equality: 

Protected characteristic or other group: Religion and belief 

Potential impact: Positive 

P
age 147



14 
 

Mitigations and actions: These proposals require private landlords to investigate and take appropriate action against anti-social 
behaviour of their tenants, thus reducing anti-social behaviour in the area. This may benefit tenants and other local people who 
suffer from hate crime and incidents. 

Responsible officer: 

Target date: 

Promoting equality: 

Protected characteristic or other group: Sexual orientation 

Potential impact: Positive 

Mitigations and actions: These proposals require private landlords to investigate and take appropriate action against anti-social 
behaviour of their tenants, thus reducing anti-social behaviour in the area. This may benefit people who suffer from 
homophobic crime and incidents. 

 

There is no information relating to sexual orientation of landlords.   

Responsible officer: 

Target date: 

Promoting equality: 

Protected characteristic or other group: Other groups - Low Income 

Potential impact: Negative and positive 
 

Mitigations and actions: Impact for tenants 

P
age 148



15 
 

Vulnerable residents and those on low incomes have found that access to good quality housing appropriate to their needs has 
been restricted by a lack of affordability and large numbers find themselves living in the worst PRS properties or shared 
accommodation. Changes to the national welfare system has had a negative impact on the provision of quality housing options 
due to displacement of benefit dependent households into cheaper accommodation because of the Local Housing Allowance 
rent caps. Some landlords may decide to increase rents or leave the cheaper private rented market altogether if landlord 
licensing is introduced in the area and this could negatively impact tenants due to an increase in evictions and homelessness.  

Worst case scenario - a first additional HMO licence application for the five year term, for a four bedroom property would cost 
the landlord an additional £4.17 per week. If split between four tenants equates to approximately £1.04 each per week. 

On the positive side, a significant protection that would be provided for assured shorthold tenants is that a s.21 Notice to evict 
tenants cannot be used by the landlord where a property is subject to licensing, but has not been licensed, and the Courts will 
therefore refuse to issue Possession Orders on that basis. The life chances of residents are closely linked to the quality of their 
neighbourhoods and their housing accommodation. Licensing seeks to address some of these issues by driving up the quality 
of the PRS and will improve housing conditions and security of tenure, particularly for the poorest tenants, over the longer 
term. 

Responsible officer: Anne Arcus 

Target date: ongoing 

Promoting equality: 

P
age 149



16 
 

5. Assessing the impact on community cohesion  

Community cohesion is what must happen in all communities to enable different groups of people to get on well together. A 
key contributor to community cohesion is integration which is what must happen to enable new residents and existing residents 
to adjust to one another. 

An integrated and cohesive community is based on three foundations: 

 People from different backgrounds having similar life opportunities. 

 

 People knowing their rights and responsibilities. 

 

 People trusting one another and trusting local institutions to act fairly. 

 

And three ways of living together: 

 A shared future vision and sense of belonging. 

 A focus on what new and existing communities have in common, alongside a recognition of the value of diversity. 

 Strong and positive relationships between people from different backgrounds. 

Detail below if the proposals is likely to impact on community cohesion, including if there is likely to be a positive impact: The 
scheme will have a positive impact for residents in the proposed area. 

 

The purpose of such schemes is to improve standards of property management in the private rented sector.  If a landlord rents 
a three or four-person small HMO property in Salford they will need to obtain a licence from the Council.  

P
age 150



17 
 

 

The application process consists of a 3-part online application, with parts 1 and 2 ensuring the licence holder and property 
manager pass the “fit and proper” test and that there are satisfactory management arrangements in place. 

 

Landlords will have to show that they and their managing agents are “fit and proper” persons as well as providing information 
on how they manage their properties. This includes the submission of a recent DBS.  

 

When deciding whether a landlord/managing agent is “fit and proper” we will look at whether they have:  

a) Committed any serious criminal offences (fraud, violence, drugs, or sexual offences).  

b) Discriminated illegally against anyone.  

c) Breached laws that relate to renting property.  

   

Part 3 of the application process, the property section, requires the landlord to provide full details regarding the property as 
well as the provision of safety certificates such as fire alarm test certificate, gas safety certificate, Electrical Installation 
Condition report and the fire risk assessment. This is to confirm the testing of appliances and installations have been 

P
age 151



18 
 

completed by registered engineers ensuring that they are in a satisfactory condition. Other documents required include copies 
of the tenancy agreements and floor plans of the property 

 

An example of how additional HMO licensing can promote a cohesive community is through the licence conditions imposed.  
One licence condition requires landlords to ensure that their tenants understand the rules for disposing of rubbish correctly, i.e. 
knowing what day they need to put out their bins and what rubbish can go in the bins.  Condition 17 specifically requires the 
licence holder to ensure that all information and documents that are provided by the landlord to their tenants are in a 
language/form that they can understand. This ensures people from different backgrounds/cultures understand the correct rules 
for disposing of rubbish and promotes a cohesive community. 

 

Should residents have an issue or wish to complain about a licensed property, they can contact the licensing team who will 
investigate the complaint and take appropriate action where necessary. 

 

The additional HMO licensing scheme provides reassurance to resident’s that private rented properties are being well 
managed and relevant safety checks being conducted yearly. It also increases the ability to reach landlords with guidance and 
new information 

 

P
age 152



19 
 

6. Monitoring 

You should ensure that any actions within your CIA are monitored and reviewed regularly within Pentana. You should review 
progress on your action plan annually. 

7. Review 

Your CIA should be reviewed after the proposals have been implemented to review actual impact. You should record an 
appropriate review date below.  

Review date: 12 months after designation 

8. Sign off  

When you have completed your CIA, it must be signed off by a senior manager within your service group (Assistant Director or 
above).  

Name:  

Signature 

Date: 

When your CIA has been signed off and after the decision has been made, send it to Equalities&Cohesion Team in Policy and 
Strategy for publishing on the council’s website.  

P
age 153

mailto:Equalities&CohesionTeam@salford.gov.uk
http://www.salford.gov.uk/impact-assess.htm


T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Review of the private rented sector specifically 3 and 4-person small houses in multiple occupation in Salford
	ANNEX 1.Consultation.doc
	ANNEX 2.Consultationfeedback.doc
	ANNEX 3.Licenceconditions
	ANNEX 4.CIA


